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CORPORATE PROFILE
AL

China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company” or
"Modern Dairy” together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is
the leading dairy farming operator and fresh raw milk producer
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Modern Dairy
operates 33 dairy farming companies in the PRC with dairy
cows over 350,000 heads and annualised milk yield of over
2 million tons. The Group is a global leading dairy farming
operator and raw milk producer in terms of herd size. The
Company initiated the production model of “Zero distance
Integration of Forage Grass Planting, Cows Breeding and Milk
Processing within Two Hours”, which is the first in the PRC that
applies integrated production model with SGS certification.
Modern Dairy’s products have been awarded the Gold Prize
of Monde Selection which is generally regarded as the “Nobel
Prize” in the food industry, for the past eight consecutive years.
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“Farming diligently for the purity,
genvuineness, freshness and vitality of fresh milk”
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HIGHLIGHTS
=

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

BZ12A31MBLEE

2021 2020 Change
20214 20204F 2%
(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) (BR4EBIZIBASN » FrE S XELL
millions unless otherwise stated) @ AR®(AR%)EETIIR)
FINANCIAL DATA BB EE
Revenue A 7,078 6,020 +17.6%
Gross profit EF 2,549 2,458 +3.7%
Earnings before tax B B Al & A 1,035 784 +32.0%
Cash EBITDANet IH £ EBITDAM® 2,434 2,265 +7.5%
Cash EBITDA Margin (%) IR 5 EBITDARE & (%) 34.4% 37.6% -3.2ppt
Profit attributable to owners of R EVEEE A B @ A
the Company 1,019 770 +32.3%
KEY PERFORMANCE DATA FEXEER
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) ZEAGRZF| (A RE D) 14.43 12.07 +19.6%
Annualised milk yield in total FREDE(EME)
(ten thousand tons) 161 149 8.1%
Herd size (heads) ERIRE(EE) 353,793 247,371 +43.0%

Note: Cash EBITDA is defined as earnings before finance costs and
tax having added back: i) depreciation for property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets charged to profit or loss; ii) other
gains and losses, net; iii) impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net of reversal; and iv) loss arising from changes in fair
value less costs to sell of dairy cows.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of final dividend of
RMBO0.026 per ordinary share (2020: RMB0.02).

HIGHLIGHTS:

Robust Growth in Results: During the year, the total revenue
of the Group reached RMB7,078 million, representing a year-on-
year ("yoy") increase of 17.6%. Cash EBITDA recorded RMB2,434
million, representing a yoy increase of 7.5%. The profit attributable
to owners of the Company reached RMB1,019 million, representing
a yoy increase of 32.3%;
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Smooth Completion of Acquisition: During the year, the
Group has successfully completed several acquisitions, including
Zhongyuan Muye and Fuyuan International, both of which have
become subsidiaries of the Company, and their financial results
were also consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.
Zhongyuan Muye and Fuyuan International have contributed
approximately 80,000 heads of dairy cows in total to the Group
along with the completion of acquisition, further strengthening the
leading position of Modern Dairy in the dairy farming industry in the
PRC, and at the same time improving the Group's competitiveness
in raw milk quality and pricing;

Significant Increase in Herd Size: As of 31 December 2021, the
Group had invested and established 33 dairy farming companies
in the PRC, and the number of dairy cows reached 354,000 heads,
representing an increase of 106,000 heads over the corresponding
period and a significant yoy increase of 43.0%;

Debut Issuance Pioneer Amongst Peers: During the year, the
Company was assigned the "BBB” investment grade rating by
Standard & Poor’s, becoming the first dairy farming company in
the world having been assigned such a credit rating of investment
grade. Subsequently, the Company successfully issued bonds of
US$500 million (coupon of 2.125%, due in 2026) for the first time,
which has caught the attention of the capital market. This fully
affirms the recognition received by the Company for China’s large-
scale farming model from international credit rating agencies.
Such issuance and grading established a positive image for the
industry in the international capital market, enlightening peers in
the industry to the further development of financing channels in the
international capital market;

Won Gold Awards for Eight Consecutive Years: During the
year, the Group's pure milk was awarded the Gold Prize of Monde
Selection for the eighth consecutive year, symbolizing that our
high quality raw milk and business philosophy have been widely
recognized and favored by the industry and consumers; and

The First be Certified Worldwide: In 2021, the Group launched
the “Quality Milk Project” and published the evaluation results,
becoming the first dairy farming operator in the world that has
obtained the "Quality Milk Project” certification.

HIGHLIGHTS
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HIGHLIGHTS
TS

Production Volume ('0,000 tons) Unit Yield per Milkable (tons/head/year)
RIBE R () RRALFEE (W E)
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2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Raw Milk Sales (million) Gross Profit of Raw Milk Sales (million)
FIpHER (T RIfAEEFIE (maT)
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CAGR: CAGR:
5,514 8,020 b 2,102 ° >
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2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021
Raw Milk Average Selling Price (RMB/kg) Herd size (head)
FIPHEEEARR 2F) PR (=)

FHEEHER 3,
CAGR:
4.41 353,793
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233,618 247,371
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Heifers & Calves Milkable cows
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
KERBEENTAEM

WELL-PACKAGED PREMIUM PURE MILK
BREMAL
The pure milk is awarded the Gold Award

S i = == SKIMMED MILK at Monde Selection for eight consecutive

HETE R =B BB 41

i ] . years, produced by self-owned farms with
Zero fat, light with nutrient value. Zero

high-quality milk sources.

Ibac.tosek; ealz t<>]cak>|§ork1.hGett|ng;t nutn‘uor;,l BRSBTS - A A SR
eing healthy, feeling the sweetness, an £ 5B STEE A 85 A Al ] o
stay fresh.
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HOLSTEIN 30-MINUTE-BEFORE-SLEEP MILK

far H 8 R 51 BE BT 307 4 43

To have a glass of milk before going to bed and to fall
asleep easily. Helpful to calm down, relieve stress and
improve sleep quality by adding GABA nutrition which is
needed by human body.

BERT— MY - ERRFRL - A ARAFEGABA - BB LI5H
BN TEIEHE - BRE S - RITERES -

HOLSTEIN PURE MILK

fe7 57 38 2 51) 4 2F 13

Selecting good quality Holstein cows and
containing 3.2 g of high-quality milk protein

per 100 ml for everyday nutrition with a rich and
favorable taste.

FEEEHACENIR - 100272320 B8
R #REERE X KWEERE HREE-

HOLSTEIN DNA MILK

e 2738 22 S DNA 43

A2 genotype dairy cows, screened by DNA detection,
contains rare A2 8 casein which is naturally compatible with
the human body and facilitates nutrient absorption. The
supply is limited due to its scarcity.

DNARAIE EEEAEREINF - S ALWHA28HER -
BARMAR  BPREERK  BEHLD  REHE -
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
B K& “**”T?uu

HIGH CALCIUM MILK cracer
= 85 4F 13
High in calcium from good dairy farms. Modern Dairy High
Calcium Milk contains 125 mg of calcium per 100 ml. Vitamin
D is added to facilitate calcium absorption. The milk is
nutritious, pure and rich in taste. It has won the Gold Award
of Monde Selection for two consecutive years.

=ISRE KRS - BRRESSNEI1002H 2512525 -

FRIIMAMAERD @ (SR - £BEE  HEER
BEMFREEREmnENERGSE - 8
A
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GOLD PURE MILK

TRAL

It is produced by self-owned farms with high-quality milk
sources. It has won the Gold Award of Monde Selection

for three consecutive years and is a partner of China’s
aerospace industry as well. Gold medal winner, quality of
aerospace.

BERBS  BEPR  EE-FREUREmRETERS
R TEMAEESERH MRARE  82E -

i REFRIGERATED PURE MILK
IKFEE AR

It takes merely 2 hours from the farms to

nl‘lﬂllu 'mlm

W the processing line to maintain the fresh
taste and nutrition. Good cows make

_ good milk with good taste.

i. Y TTR & BRI AN T2/ N - (RIFHT

“ OREEE - FHFHFOS -

PURE MILK

#&1E: 250mL

HOLSTEIN HIGH CALCIUM MILK

A HTE R 5 S 85 41

Selecting good quality Holstein cows and containing 125 mg of calcium
per 100 ml. Vitamin D is added to facilitate calcium absorption. The milk is
nutritious, pure and rich in taste.

FUEEERATER - B100ZEA R 12527 &5 - SHEERDRETRK -
LEHYE  MERR-
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
RERKE

Modern Dairy Brand BAHRER R

e Atthe 2021 Net Ease ® New Energy Dairy Industry Summit, o 2021 F{FeFe 2R BITEES - BN
Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. won the “Most Growing MEEEARARER FEKAKKS
New Brand of the Year” for consecutive years, and Mr. Sun iRl ITEREER T AR &E
Yugang, the Acting Chief Executive Officer, won the “Best BRF]:
Trader”;

Premium Products BEEM

e Modern Dairy released the evaluation results of the “Quality o  IRARMEBHEEILIERTEXR KA
Milk Project”, becoming the first company in China that NERERREDMUHTERE )R EEBR
passed the “Quality Milk Project” for both its pasteurized milk RIBEILITRIBUARE -
and UHT milk.

AN REL TR PN RO RS
. BV REL TR IR

“EC-S5% PEARKURERFRAR 9
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
BEIR M IR AR

e The"Premium Pure Milk” product of Modern Dairy won the o BRBEEEMAFNEB N\ FRBEREM
Gold Award at the Monde Selection for eight consecutive METERGS R EnnZBHEEER
years, and its product quality has been recognized Al °
internationally again.

&I SEh Wi
WAL E S
KB HRARRETEARER"

AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD AWARD
L L4 r r r r r

GOLD GOLD GOLD GOLD GOLD GOLD GOLD GOLD =T [
g4

i

A

—

Quality Financing BERE

e Modern Dairy was assigned the "BBB” investment grade o  RAHMEEZLEBBBIEE LA + KA
rating by Standard & Poor's, becoming the first dairy farming BEXESHERERFRARERNIATEE
company in the world to be assigned an international credit B -

rating of “investment grade”.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021



ACTING CEO'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. and its subsidiaries, | am pleased to present the
annual results of Modern Dairy for the year ended 31 December
2021 to the shareholders.

MEMORIAL AND GRATITUDE

The year 2021 was a landmark year.

For our country, the year 2021 was of great significance. We
experienced the historical intersection of the “Two Centenary
Goals” and witnessed the good start of China's “14th Five-Year
Plan”.

Looking back at 2021, it was of great significance to our industry.
We started a new journey for the development of the dairy industry
in the “14th Five-Year Plan” and clarified the new directions to
modernization for the domestic dairy farming industry.

HITRBBES

SUN Yugang,
BER
Acting Chief Executive Officer

it 7T 48 Ep
¥ fjg?ﬁ/k

BRI SAIRR

AAEBRRBPERRRELRER A G EEN B
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= o
e

HCHERBERT
IRBAEM20215F - RABEREERN—F -
E§2021%  RERME * BHIEA o BIHA

BRETIME-—BFIEMERELRE  RE
BRI+ERINRFRAR °

BEE—m WITEME * BEERA - RA—#E
B TITORANEBEROFARE - PARETHE
PEFERRACPRRFTER
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ACTING CEO’S STATEMENT
RITREMES

Looking back at 2021, it had far-reaching significance for dairy
farming. We officially launched the Group’s “Five-Year Lead Plan”
and drew a brand-new development blueprint.

THE EXCELLENT PERFORMANCE FACILITATED
THE NEW DEVELOPMENT MOMENTUM

During the year, we recorded a substantial increase in operating
results. The Group is a global leading dairy farming operator
and raw milk producer in terms of herd size. Confronted with the
normalization of global COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic
Outbreak”) and pressures of cost surge, Modern Dairy withstood
the test, performed well, and achieved an all-round and high-
quality leap forward in performance.

Our core business continued to grow stronger. Modern Dairy
has successively completed the acquisition of Zhongyuan Muye
Company Limited (“Zhongyuan Muye"”) and Inner Mongolia
Fuyuan International Industrial (Group) Co. Ltd. (“Fuyuan
International”), launched the Horinger Ranch of China Dairy
Industrial Park strategic cooperation project in an innovative
financial leasing way and successfully deployed its first large-
scale ranch in Xinjiang. Leveraging on the world’s first model
of "integration of forage planting, cow breeding and milk
processing”, the Group has developed into a global leading
dairy farming enterprise, high-quality raw milk supplier and milk
processing manufacturer. During the Reporting Year, the Group's
total sales volume of raw milk achieved a historic breakthrough
and reached 1.59 million tons, taking a solid and powerful first
step to realize the strategic goal of “doubling herd size and milk
production” and winning praise for the high-quality development
of China’s dairy industry.

Our performance in the capital market was resilient. We were
assigned the “BBB” investment grade rating by Standard & Poor’s,
becoming the first dairy farming company in the world to be
assigned an international credit rating of “investment grade”, and
successfully issued corporate bonds of US$500 million and reduced
the finance costs effectively.

1 2 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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ENHANCING CORE COMPETITIVENESS WITH
GREEN AND LOW-CARBON DEVELOPMENT

In 2021, Modern Dairy not only focused on strengthening its core
business, but were more attentive to quality and safety, green
development and environmental protection, striving to establish
a model and benchmark for China’s dairy industry and achieve all-
round development.

Over the past 16 years, Modern Dairy has been focusing on product
quality and adhering to the quality concept of “quality is the
lifeblood of corporate development”, which is our very beginning
aspiration that will remain unchanged for the next 5, 50, or even
100 years.

Our raw milk indicators remained at a high level and were much
stricter than EU standards. Our “Premium Pure Milk” product won
the Gold Award for the eighth time, becoming the first Chinese
company to win the Gold Award at the Monde Selection for eight
consecutive years. We successfully released the evaluation results
of the “Quality Milk Project” this year and became the first farming
group in the world that has been certified by the “Quality Milk
Project”. We took care of every detail with ingenuity and ensured
the quality of every drop of milk from the source, so as to facilitate
the high-quality development of China’s dairy industry and
promote health among people around the world.

We officially launched the dual-carbon (carbon peak and carbon
neutrality) project, which fully opened up the Group's pathway to
carbon reduction and green development. This is a manifestation
of Modern Dairy’s courage to take on the responsibilities as a
leading enterprise, and it also demonstrates its determination and
responsibility to solve the three major crises, namely quality safety,
environmental safety and epidemic prevention safety. We stuck
to the green concept and practiced low-carbon environmental
protection with all our hearts to foster a splendid farming industry.

ACTING CEO’S STATEMENT
RITHREBES
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ACTING CEO’S STATEMENT
RITREMES

ACTIVATING ENDOGENOUS DRIVING
FORCES WITH DIGITAL AND INTELLIGENT
INNOVATIONS

In 2021, we were more attentive to the well-being of dairy cows
and focused on digital, intelligent and science-based cow
raising. According to the principle of “cow-oriented”, we refined
professional management systems and standardized operation
procedures for every procedure and detail of dairy farming to
ensure the standardization, scientization and refinement of feeding
as well as the healthy growth of each dairy cow. In 2021, we fully
launched the Skylark laboratory information management system,
relying on information-based and smart systems to ensure quality in
all aspects of production. We vigorously promoted benchmarking
to effectively reduce costs and improve efficiency. We built smart
farms with digital and smart innovations, strived to be the industry
pioneer with a forward-looking vision and enhanced our core
competitiveness by keeping pace with the times.

STIMULATING VITALITY OF EMPLOYEES WITH
HAPPINESS PROGRAM

In 2021, we officially launched the “Happiness Program” and
introduced a number of measures related to our employees’
interests, so that our employees could feel happier and truly
become the beneficiaries of corporate profits.

BB R BN ERE D

20215 - HPIEMBENAEAN - EIXIHFE
FBEERT  MEERSF - BAIAFRA] - &
HINFRENE —EEN - 5 EAH - RAM
AT BEMEEGEMRENIRIERIE - IR
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FERERE - 2021F -  Zf2E L& TEEE
BREEMEERS - KEEMEL  BSLER
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EELE  ERHBRERRAROETS
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The payroll of our employees increased. We have established a
comprehensive remuneration incentive policy and started annual
salary adjustment. Our employees enjoyed an average salary rise
of up to 10%, which was much higher than the average level in
the market. We have comprehensively deepened and reformed
the compensation and performance incentive system to make
it competitive, sustainable, fair and flexible enough to reward
competent employees and realize their potential.

The benefits of our employees expanded. We have fully
implemented the happiness and care programs for employees
and established a multi-dimensional, multi-channel, inclusive
and moderately differentiated welfare and care system with
the characteristics of the dairy farming industry. The number of
vacation types available to our employees increased to 20 and
they were also entitled to 25 welfare programs in four categories,
which further improved our employees’ sense of happiness and
belonging.

The development prospects of our employees became brighter.
We implemented the organizational hierarchy and position-ranking
system, introduced the LOVE+ talent evaluation model and created
a fair and just selection mechanism, so that our employees could
have more and more room for career improvement with bright
prospects.

SETTING SAIL FOR NEW EXPEDITION AND
CREATING BETTER FUTURE

The dairy farming industry should take advantage of the current
favorable situation to achieve rapid growth. The year 2022 will
be a critical year for Modern Dairy to steadily advance the “Five-
Year Lead Plan”. Our strategy will be more specific with a more
solid foundation, more rounded management measures and richer
corporate culture. We will witness the rapid growth of the Group
and share the joy of success.

With the strong strategic supply support of Mengniu Group and
New Hope, the correct leadership of the board of directors, we will
build a “dual strategy” model in 2022:

ACTING CEO’S STATEMENT
RITREARES
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ACTING CEO’S STATEMENT
MITRABE S

From the perspective of the industrial chain, by relying on dairy
farming and on the basis of strengthening its core business,
Modern Dairy will enter the feed sector, develop the beef cattle
business, establish a trading platform, cultivate breeding business
and integrate land, forage and resources, so that it can further
improve the layout of the whole industry chain and enhance its
comprehensive business capabilities, developing itself into an
integrated dairy farming group operating through the entire
industry chain and striving towards the goal of “becoming the
largest dairy farming group in the world with the most complete
industry chain and the strongest business capability”.

From an industry perspective, we will take "building a first-class

noon

elite team”, “setting up a first-class safety and quality system”,
"building a f|rst—c|ass whole-industry-chain model” and “achieving
first-class operations” as the starting point to comprehensively
enhance our profitability and build Modern Dairy into a first-class
dairy farming group. Meanwhile, we will fully implement the cost-
oriented strategy, striving to reduce our costs to the lowest level in

the industry within three years.

We must be brave enough to shoulder the responsibility and
devote unremitting efforts to make progress. | believe that, under
the new development paradigm with “domestic circulation as the
mainstay and domestic and international circulations reinforcing
each other”, by virtue of the concerted efforts and hard work of all
the employees of the Company, Modern Dairy will surely become
a global industry-leading dairy farming group led by digital and
intelligent innovations, covering the whole ecological industry
chain in the next five years with healthy, safe and high-quality dairy
cows and milk as well as strong cultural genes. We will continue to
take advantage of market cycles, enhance the efficiency of internal
growth and create another peak in production, so as to create
greater value for our employees, shareholders and the industry with
better performance.

Sun Yugang
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Limited (“Modern Dairy” or the “Company”) is pleased
to present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Reporting Year").

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2021, China’s economy continued to recover steadily in the
face of complex and volatile domestic and foreign environments.
Production demand continued to pick up along with the generally
stable employment rate and price level, and the domestic economy
was generally expected to be stable and improving. In 2021,
China’s GDP reached approximately RMB114.4 trillion, representing
a yoy increase of 8.1%, and its economic growth is top-ranked
among the top among the world’s major economies. China’s per
capita GDP exceeded RMBB80,000, outperforming the world’s per
capita GDP.

China's dairy farming industry continued to develop healthily.
The level of quality and safety of raw milk kept on rising, and the
operators of dairy industry saw a larger scale of development.
China’s dairy industry has made a good start in the first year of
the “14th Five-Year Plan”. China’s dairy industry sustained a rapid
growth, with milk production reaching 36.83 million tons in 2021,
representing a yoy increase of 7.1%. In 2021, China's dairy imports
reached 3.947 million tons, representing a yoy increase of 18.5%. In
2021, the average market price of raw fresh milk was approximately
RMB4.29/kg, representing a yoy increase of 13.4%.

In terms of the international environment, due to the increase
in operating costs and the impact of climate change, the milk
production in New Zealand and the European Union exhibited a
decreasing trend. The auction price of foreign whole milk powder
continued to rise. In 2021, the price of whole milk powder increased
by 29.2% yoy. China's imported milk powder reached 12.75 million
tons in 2021, representing a yoy increase of 30.2% yoy.

The development of the dairy industry was promising despite
facing a complex and severe situation. Opportunities and
challenges coexisted. A series of policies issued by the state did
support and scale up the development of the dairy industry as a
whole and the enterprises involved, thereby creating more and
greater development opportunities and room for dairy enterprises.
At the beginning of the year, “Continuing to implement the
Dairy Industry Revitalization Action” was mentioned in Central
Document No. 1 as the main content of accelerating agricultural
modernization. Milk sources and the construction of large-scale
farms were still the focus of the industry, and many companies have
launched a number of mergers and acquisitions to compete for
high-quality milk sources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE Lo

To further improve the quality of supply, the kick-off meeting for
the modernization evaluation of dairy enterprises and the promotion
meeting for the grading and evaluation of modern dairy farms
were held in Hebei Province, PRC. The modernization level of dairy
enterprises can be divided into three grades, namely 3A, 2A and A.
The modernization evaluation of dairy enterprises has a direct and
important impact on the dairy market, and is of great significance
in promoting the modernization of China’s dairy industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Reporting Year, the Group was mainly engaged in
the dairy farming (producing and selling quality raw milk to dairy
operators). It also commenced the business of sales of feeds along
with the acquisition of Fuyuan International and developed its self-
branded liquid milk products through associates jointly established
with China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ("Mengniu”, together
with its subsidiaries, refer to as “Mengniu Group”). The Group
is committed to pooling resources and focusing on the upstream
dairy farming business, and in response to customers’ demand for
high-quality raw milk, providing raw milk for diversified and high-
end high-quality products.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group operated 33 dairy farming
companies in the PRC with dairy cows of 353,793 heads and
annualised milk yield of over 2 million tons. The Group is a global
leading dairy farming operator and raw milk producer in terms of
herd size. The Group's pure milk was awarded the Gold Prize of
Monde Selection for the eighth consecutive year, symbolizing that
our premium quality branded milk was widely recognized by all
sectors of the society.

In terms of mergers and acquisitions, during the Reporting Year,
the Company has completed several acquisitions including the
one of Zhongyuan Muye and Fuyuan International, launched the
Horinger Ranch of China Dairy Industrial Park strategic cooperation
project in an innovative financial leasing way and successfully
deployed its first large-scale ranch in Xinjiang, which opened a new
chapter for the Group's business.

1 8 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

Year 2021 is the debut of the Group’s “Five-Year Lead Plan”.
With effective cost control and sound management, coupled with
dynamic and appropriate herd expansion strategies, the Group
has achieved a significant increase in major operating indicators
during the Reporting Year. The average selling price (“ASP") of raw
milk stood at RMB4.41/kg (2020: RMB4.13/kg), representing a yoy
growth of 6.8%. The annual milk yield (“AMY") per milkable cow
amounted to 11.3 tons (2020: 11.1 tons), representing a yoy growth
of 1.8%. The total milk production for the Reporting Year hit 1.61
million tons (2020: 1.49 million tons), representing a yoy growth of
8.1%.

The Group continued to moderate the impact arising from the
increase in feed costs through measures such as improving the
health of dairy cows, optimizing the structure of feed formula,
enhancing the absorbance and conversion rate of dairy cows, and
leveraging on a consolidated procurement platform. During the
Reporting Year, unit cost (excluding depreciation of property, plant
and equipment) of milk ("UCM") of the Group was RMB2.67/kg
(2020: RMB2.29/kg), representing a yoy increase of RMBO0.38/kg,
mainly due to the increase of feed costs. The direct feed cost per
kilogram of milk was RMB2.11/kg (2020: RMB1.77/kg), representing
a yoy increase of RMB0.34/kg.

The Group has been dedicated to the fulfillment of the objectives
of "increase output, reduce cost and upgrade quality”, and
implemented various measures to enhance and streamline the
procurement process so as to reduce purchasing costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E W LT

DAIRY FARMS

Leveraging on the world’s first model of “integration of forage
planting, cow breeding and milk processing”, Modern Dairy is
currently a leading dairy farming operator and raw milk producer
in the PRC in terms of herd size and volume of annual production.
With farms spreading across the nation, we are endowed with
unique geographical advantages. Most of our dairy farms are
located at regions with fine climate and ample feed supply, and
are adjacent to processing plants of dairy products to ensure that
procedures from the milking to processing could be completed in
the shortest time and the nutritional value and freshness could be
maintained at the highest level.

The Group continues to renovate the cowshed equipment and
improve the ventilation system; adjust the feed formula and
increase the frequency of feeding; enhance the dryness level of
the bedding materials and improve the bedding comfortability
by applying drying technologies; and increase the frequency of
sink cleaning to ensure healthy drinking water. By doing so, the
Group could continuously improve and enhance comfortability for
milkable cows so as to raise milk production.

Each farm is equipped with modern cowshed equipment, logistics
systems, environmental protection facilities, 24-7 monitoring
systems, and with veterinarians stationed in farms to make sure
that each cow inhabits in a comfortable environment and produces
high-quality and healthy raw milk.

HIBYUS

Bengbu Farm
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart & Efficient Dairy Farm

The Company is committed to building efficient and smart dairy
farms and strengthening the core competitiveness of the dairy
industry in the new era. By strengthening the smart management
technology, we improve the farm production management system,
integrate technology into the efficient management of the farm,
empower the new ecosystem of the dairy industry with efficient
digital operation, thereby realizing the intelligent transformation
of the farm. During the year, we have comprehensively unified the
ranch management platform: "YIMU Cloud”. As the “smart brain”
of the ranch, "YIMU Cloud”
of cows, technical system monitoring and other management

integrates the daily management

functions, comprehensively simplifying the process of data analysis
and traceability, realizing the integration, analysis and prediction
of ranch data and instilling solutions into the first-line production
process, and assists the first-line implementation, improves the
working efficiency of the ranch, and realizes the highly information-
based collaborative operation of the ranch.

Xinjiang Changji Project

On 15 September 2021, Changji Municipal People’s Government,
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd., Modern Farming
(Group) Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company) and Changji
Agricultural Investment Development and Operation Co., Ltd.
entered into a strategic cooperation agreement to officially launch
Modern Dairy Strategic Cooperation Project of the standardized
demonstration dairy farm of 5,000 dairy cows in Changji, Xinjiang,
marking the successful deployment of the first large-scale
breeding dairy farm in Xinjiang by Modern Dairy. Modern Dairy has
accelerated the implementation of such project with its innovative
leasing operation model, mature and advanced experience in
the farm operation and management accumulated over the years
as well as standardized construction, automated production and
digitalized and intelligent management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E W LT

Herd Size

As at 31 December 2021, the Group operated 33 farm companies
with 353,793 dairy cows (2020: 247,371 heads), representing an
increase of 43.0% yoy in mainland China. The increase in herd size
is in line with the Group's overall herd expansion strategies. The
proportion of milkable cows to the total number of dairy cows
decreased by 3.0 ppt to 52.1% in 2021 (2020: 55.1%) yoy, mainly due
to the increase in the number of the Group's heifers and calves,
resulting in the decrease of the proportion of milkable cows.

NG

Calves

Milk Yield

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded AMY of 11.3 tons
per milkable cow (2020: 11.1 tons), representing a yoy increase of
1.8%. The total annual milk production of the Group grew 8.1%
yoy to 1.61 million tons (2020: 1.49 million tons). The increase in
milk yield was attributable to effective herd management, genetic
improvement over generations, and an increase in the number
of cows reaching peak stage of lactation. Milk yield is affected
by a number of factors, including the frequency of lactation,
breed, comfort level, genetics and feed mix. The Company has
continuously been conducting research on each factor, inviting
foreign and domestic cow experts to regularly station and give
guidance at the farms, and, through interactive sharing amongst

industry experts and staff training, improving milk yield and cow
health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Quality of Raw Milk

Modern Dairy ensured the quality management and control
were scientifically controllable and adhered to the principle of
high starting point, high positioning and high standard, keeping
consumers to be informed with quantitative data of milk. We
produced our own dairy products using our own raw milk. Every
procedure in the production of raw milk, ranging from milking,
refrigeration to transportation, was completed with monitoring
measures, the quality of raw milk was therefore guaranteed in
accordance to the most stringent standard in the world.

BAREEEE
Standard of the Number of Somatic Cell

No. of soma/1 ml

RABKE =7t

600,000
500,000
400,000
300,000
200,000

100,000

0 ||

BR%E ®WE HE
Modern European China

Dairy Union

The standard of the number of somatic cell per 1 milliliter (ml) of
raw milk is no more than 600 thousand cells according to the PRC
relevant guidelines, 400 thousand cells per 1 ml in the European
Union, and less than 150 thousand cells per 1 ml in Modern Dairy.
The standard of Modern Dairy is stringent than that of the PRC and
European Union.

With respect to the number of microorganism, the standard of the
European Union is no more than 100 thousand colony-forming
unit (cfu) per 1 ml of raw milk, and that of the PRC is no more than
2 million cfu per 1 ml, and that of Modern Dairy is less than 10
thousand cfu per 1 ml of raw milk.
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MANA@E\MENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEF WA

OPERATION STRATEGIES

Raise Unit Output and Raw Milk Quality by Scientific
Breeding and Feeding Techniques Improvement

We keep improving our operation efficiency and average AMY. At
present, our average AMY per milkable cow is among the highest
of all dairy companies in the mainland China. We believe that
both the unit production and quality of raw milk of our milkable
cows will continue to rise as we keep improving the genetic
mix of herd across generations, and increase the proportion of
milkable cows to total herd size. In addition, we are committed to
continuous research so as to alleviate the heat damage to UHT
milk, and further reduce the content of furosine in milk, subject to
the qualification attainment on various indicators such as micro-
organisms in the products.

Enhance Feed Nutrients and Optimize the Feed Mix

We will continue to collaborate with local farmers and agricultural
research institutions in pursuing research and planting high
quality feed suitable for our dairy cows. Moreover, according to
the locations of our farms, we collaborate with local farmers of
particular regions to jointly build customized and efficient feed
supply chains with the objective to reduce transportation cost
of feed and to ensure the quality, nutrition content and a stable
supply of feed.

Dual Prevention Measures to Alleviate Cold/Heat Stress

In the past few years, the Group has continuously increased its
investment in heat stress alleviation facilities, from the initial
addition of high-power fans and sprinkler facilities in the southern
ranches to the current addition of fans and the addition of sprinkler
facilities in key areas in the northern ranches, greatly improving the
health of the cattle and brought a continuous increase in yields.

With the accumulation of experience and data analysis, we found
that the extremely cold climate also has obvious stress on dairy
cows. Especially in recent years, the frequent occurrence of
blizzards and extremely cold weather in the north has had a great
impact on the health and yield of dairy cows. In 2021, the Group
increased the management and control of cold stress measures
and related investment. The northern ranches have realized the
coverage of heating water tanks for the entire herd, and increased
investment in facilities such as windproof and thermal insulation,
which further ensures the health of cattle and the stability of milk
production.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Quality Management

The overall execution of the quality management of Modern Dairy
is based on the principle of “Four Don'ts”: don't cooperate with
unqualified client, don't stock unqualified raw feed materials, don't
feed with unqualified inventory of raw feed materials, and don't
release raw milk from farms that fail inspection.

For the quality control of raw feed materials, the Group ensures
the source control by inspecting suppliers on-site and establishing
a database of suppliers; ensures feed arrival control by having
a stricter standard of testing than that of the national standard;
ensures the process control by sampling the inventory of raw
feed materials and controlling indicators on daily basis; ensures
that the feed in cows’ mouth are of the right mix consistent with
the relevant formula by conducting real-time sampling during
the production process with reference to formula data at close
to infrared calibration. For the process control, Modern Dairy
establishes a process-oriented quality management system,
establishes CCP point on key production stages, and sets process
food safety indicators for monitoring, and timely rectifies and tracks
the potential risks discovered. For the delivery quality control, there
are various quality inspections to comprehensively control the
quality of raw milk. For the whole chain quality tracking system, the
quality information platform is traced by quick response code, to
achieve the traceability of whole chain quality information from the
raw feed materials arrival and delivery for feeding, milking on the
milking parlor to raw milk delivery.

The safe and high-quality milk of Modern Dairy is ensured by
source control, process monitoring and terminal control.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE Lo

Herd Management

Modern Dairy adopts the means of lean management in managing
herd, values scientific breeding and precise formula. With the
innovation of a comprehensive herd management system, the
Group overcomes the “information isolation” of farms, establishes
an efficient information collection system and improves the system
integration of cows from individual, breeding, feeding, health to
milk-producing module. All barns of farms are covered by wireless
communication system through which the information of herd
can be inquired and updated anytime and anywhere through the
handset equipment and APP; by using the low frequency scanners
which show timely and accurate reminders of cow breeding
process to raise the conception rate of cows, simplify and improve
cow breeding process; with pedometers and yield sensors (ie.
low frequency ear tags), which record and analyze milk yield of
cows automatically, to identify and alert diseases among cows in
advance. The comprehensive utilization of advanced data analysis
systems enables us to achieve scientific decision-making, improve
the level of production management, and achieve sustainable
consolidated profitability. Adhering to the principle of "high
standard, high positioning and high starting point”, the Group
achieves the objective of “increase unit production output, reduce
operation cost, optimize herd structure” in herd breeding.

Environmental Protection and Epidemic Prevention
Committed to the mission of “creating the world’'s most advanced
farms, producing the highest quality milk, and achieving
harmonious development of people and nature”, the Group
actively fulfills its social responsibilities. The Group continuously
improves in various aspects such as product quality, dairy cow
disease control and environmentally friendly production to
maximize social benefits.

The Company’s various milk quality indicators are better than
the EU standards. Food safety indicators are set in the raw milk
production process, and the whole process is strictly monitored
to ensure that the raw milk quality meets the standards. Since
Mengniu increased its stake in the Company, the Group and
Mengniu have enhanced cooperation in product testing, unified
inspection standards and processes, improved testing efficiency
and product quality. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations for epidemic prevention management, conducts
health rating management for dairy cows, cautiously controls the
environment of farms, refines the management of farms, provides
epidemic prevention and protection for dairy cows, and establishes
quarantine and health check plans for cows, to ensure the health of
cows.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Based on resource recycling, the Group has built a green recycling
industrial chain of “forage planting — cow breeding — fertilizer
treatment — biogas power generation — fertilizer back to the field".
Each farm is equipped with large-scale biogas power generation
facilities and comprehensive utilization facilities for biogas fertilizer,
which absorbs, digests and indiscriminately treats the manure. For
sustainable development, the Group will continue to implement
high-standard environmental protection policies and implements
rigorous epidemic prevention measures in our farms.

During the Reporting Year, the Company’s management adjusted
operation strategies in time and allocated resources flexibly when
facing external uncertainties. Through increasing AMY, reducing
operating costs, improving efficiency and conducting appropriate
herd expansion, we were able to enhance the quality of our raw
milk. The Group will continue to adhere to the fundamental
principles of safe and quality production, provide each of its dairy
cows with the best living environment, utilize the most natural
scientific breeding methods and feeding techniques to allow our
dairy cows to produce the highest quality pasture milk, and give
back to consumers.

Carbon Dioxide Peaking & Neutrality Project

In order to proactively respond to our country’s goal of “Carbon
Peaking by 2030 and Carbon Neutrality by 2060, the Company,
together with the internationally renowned Boston Consulting
Group, officially launched the dual-carbon project and fully paved
the Group's road to carbon reduction and green development on
10 December 2021. At present, the Company has achieved the first
stage of the carbon reduction strategy: the carbon emission data
stock-taking. After analysis conducted by professional institutions,
the carbon emission intensity of Modern Dairy is far lower than
the industry average level compared with other domestic dairy
operators covered in the representative domestic carbon footprint
database, and playing a leading role in the industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE Lo

ASSOCIATE FACTORIES

Benefiting from the reform in marketing models, the branded milk
business through the operation of downstream associate factories
with Mengniu continued to record profits. Leveraging on Mengniu's
mature market strategy and channel advantages, the “Modern
Farming” branded milk developed the full line of products
with the positioning that "healthy cows produce quality milk”.
The Pandemic Outbreak has prompted consumers’ willingness
in choosing more secured and better-quality milk. Relying on
Mengniu’s successful marketing strategy, rebranding of “Modern
Farming” and adoption of differentiated marketing strategies, it
focuses on the blue ocean market in domestic third- and fourth-tier
cities. The associate factories are expected to keep contributing to
the Group's financial performance.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL

MANDATE

On 20 January 2021, the Company and the placing managers
entered into the placing agreement, in relation to the placing of
650,000,000 new ordinary shares to be issued by the Company.

The placing was completed on 27 January 2021, that the Company
issued an aggregate of 650,000,000 new shares under general
mandate to certain independent third parties at the placing price
of HK$2.40 per share and the net proceeds from the placing
amounted to approximately HK$1,552 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,295 million). The Company intends to apply
the net proceeds from the placing on infrastructure development
and herd expansion, potential mergers and acquisitions and
general working capital. As of 31 December 2021, approximately
RMB1,100 million has been used for infrastructure and herd
expansion, approximately RMB195 million has been used for
general working capital. As of 31 December 2021, all of the net
proceeds from the placing were fully utilized.

The closing price is HK$2.73 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the last trading day prior to the signing of the placing
agreement. The net price per placing share was HK$2.39. The
Directors consider that the placing was an opportunity to raise
capital for the business development of the Group and to expand
the Shareholder’s base.

For details for the placing, please refer to the Company's
announcements dated 20 January 2021 and 27 January 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ISSUANCE OF BONDS DUE 2026

The Company has successfully issued US$500 million, 2.125%
bonds due 2026 (the “Bonds”) with a credit rating of “BBB”, being
an investment grade assigned by Standard & Poor's, by way of
debt issues to professional investors. The listing of, and dealing in,
the Bonds were effective from 15 July 2021.

The offer price of the Bonds was 99.717% of the principal amount.
The Bonds bear interest with effect from 14 July 2021 (inclusive),
payable semi-annually in arrears. The proceeds from the issue of
the Bonds have been used for refinancing and general corporate
purposes.

Acquisition of Zhongyuan Muye

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 April
2021, on 8 April 2021, Modern Farming (Group), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (as purchaser) entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (“Zhongyuan Acquisition Agreement”)
with Asia Dairy Fab Ltd. (FEREHREERHERAE]) (as
seller) to acquire the entire equity interests in Zhongyuan Muye.
Pursuant to the Zhongyuan Acquisition Agreement, the seller has
conditionally agreed to sell and the purchaser has conditionally
agreed to acquire 100% equity interests in Zhongyuan Muye at
a consideration of no more than RMB815.2 million. Pursuant to
a supplemental agreement entered into between the parties on
20 July 2021, the consideration was adjusted downwards to no
more than RMB723.0 million after taking into account the amount
of certain unsettled liabilities of Zhongyuan Muye incurred prior
to 31 December 2020. The acquisition of Zhongyuan Muye was
completed in July 2021, and Zhongyuan Muye has become a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial results
has been consolidated into the financial statements of the Group
for the Reporting Year.

The business activities of Zhongyuan Muye, being cow breeding,
farms operation and milk production, are in line with the Group's
overall strategy. The acquisition will create substantive synergies for
the Group in terms of farm operation, management and financial
strength. Following the acquisition of Zhongyuan Muye, the
Group's herd size will be increased, which could further enhance
the Group's competitiveness in terms of quality and pricing of raw
milk. In the long run, the Group is committed to building a smart,
eco-friendly, finely-branded and all-rounded ecological farm.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E W LT

Acquisition of Fuyuan International

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 22 March
2021 and the circular of the Company dated 14 May 2021 (the
“Fuyuan Acquisition Circular”), on 22 March 2021, the Company
(as purchaser) entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Fuyuan Acquisition Agreement”) with, among others, certain
sellers (the “Sellers”) and Fuyuan International to acquire the
entire equity interests in Fuyuan International at a consideration of
RMB3.48 billion. All conditions precedent as set out in the Fuyuan
Acquisition Agreement have been fulfilled and the completion of
the acquisition took place on 29 November 2021. Approximately
56.65% of the consideration has been settled in cash, and the
remaining 43.35% of which has been settled by the allotment and
issue of 807,096,101 shares of the Company at the issue price of
HK$2.24 per share to a holding company controlled by Mengniu.
Fuyuan International has become a non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and its financial results has been consolidated into
the financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Year.

Following the acquisition of Fuyuan International, the Group's herd
size has increased significantly, which could further strengthen the
Group's position in the dairy farming industry in China and enhance
the Group's competitiveness in terms of quality and pricing of the
raw milk.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Revenue

Business Analysis

The following table sets forth the details of the consolidated
revenue for the years:
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2021 2020
20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Raw milk R 7,005,012 6,020,247
Feeds ok 73,458 -
Consolidated revenue XL ON 7,078,470 6,020,247
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Report Year, the Group's revenue increased by 17.6%
yoy to RMB7,078.5 million (2020: RMB6,020.3 million). The increase
was mainly due to the increase in sales volume of raw milk and
increase in ASP of raw milk, as well as the revenue generated from
sales of feeds along with the acquisition of Fuyuan International.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk for the years indicated:

EIEE T8 R DT

NAERFE - AEBOUALE ARKET,078.5
BA&7T(2020F : AR¥6,02035&7T) © R
F17.6% c WAREEZHRRDIHEWEINKE
BHNFHEE LR RASKESREREFNE
U ALE A -

TFREFFREE QRO ERA - &S
BT EE R

2021 2020
20214 20204
Sales Sales Sales Sales
revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HEWA HEE Fi9EE SHEBA HEE FHERE
RMB'000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
AR¥T R W OARBT /B ARETT wE AR,/ M
Raw milk R 7,005,012 1,586,857 4,414 6,020,247 1,456,962 4,132

The Group's total revenue of the sales of raw milk increased by
16.4% yoy to RMB7,005.0 million during the Reporting Year (2020:
RMB6,020.2 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase in
ASP of raw milk and increase in sales volume of raw milk.

ASP of raw milk grew by 6.8% yoy to RMB4.41/kg during the
Reporting Year (2020: RMB4.13/kg).

Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 8.9% yoy to
approximately 1.59 million tons during the Reporting Year (2020:
1.46 million tons), mainly due to the rise in AMY per milkable
cow and the contribution of sales volume of raw milk from newly
acquired farms.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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COST OF SALES SHERAK

The Group's cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of dairy ANEEEEKANETEBIFEIFEHEK A EHEE
farming and feeds sales. The following table sets forth the &KA « TREIIAEEERNITIEENHEE
breakdown of the cost of sales of our products for the years  BXZNBAZAR :

indicated:

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETF T
Dairy farming business FLEEEER 4,470,101 3,561,559
Feeds sales business fRHEE ET% 58,894 -
Total cost of sales ERTHEEKA 4,528,995 3,561,559

Dairy Farming Business A4 BEXY

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of TR AL EFL 4 EHEK AR ¢
the dairy farming business for the years indicated:

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T Aok AREFIT Btk
Dairy Farming Business A EBEEL

Direct materials BEEMR 3,453,182 77.2% 2,664,608 74.8%
Labor cost BT R 304,030 6.8% 266,325 7.5%
Utilities UNSES$- 5 123,525 2.8% 111,689 3.1%

Depreciation of property, M - BERERETE
plant and equipment 231,078 5.2% 227,366 6.4%
Other costs of farms BHIZEMEY 358,286 8.0% 291,571 8.2%
Total &t 4,470,101 100.0% 3,561,559 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly forage) cost of
the dairy farming business amounted to RMB3,453.2 million (2020:
RMB2,664.6 million), representing a yoy growth of 29.6%, mainly
due to the increase of feed prices and the increase in the number
of lactating cows.

The feed prices had significantly increased, globally and
domestically as a result of the Pandemic Outbreak and the recovery
of the domestic farming industry, etc. The Group implemented
various measures to enhance and streamline the procurement
process so as to reduce purchasing costs. The Company has
lowered operating costs through improving the formula, adjusting
the feed mix, enhancing the health of cows, raising unit production,
broadening sources of income and reducing expenditure. During
the Reporting Year, the Group successfully kept UCM at RMB2.67/
kg (2020: RMB2.29/kg), representing a yoy increase of RMB0.38/
kg. Out of which, the feed cost per kg of raw milk amounted to
RMB2.11/kg (2020: RMB1.77/kg), representing a yoy increase of
RMBO.34/kg.

Gross Profit and Profitability
The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and
gross profit margin of our business for the years indicated:

EIEE T8 R DT

RAERTE  AFBEESNEEME(EES
FIERN AN B A RS 453.2 A ET(20204F : A
R#2,664.6B&7T) * R K29.6% B ZH
REEHER B ERRABOBRFLARIBE R -
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2021 2020
20215 20205

Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
E7 ERER EF EFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARWTF T ARBTTT
Dairy farming business HEBEER 2,534,911 36.2% 2,458,688 40.8%
Feeds sales business ERELHE 14,564 19.8% - -
Total = 2,549,475 36.0% 2,458,688 40.8%

The Company'’s financial performance is highly correlated with
market prices and costs of raw milk and also affected by the milk
yield of each milkable cow. In general, when milk prices increase,
the Company'’s profitability will increase correspondingly under
normal operation condition. When milk yield improves, the UCM
will correspondingly decrease relatively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE Lo

During the Reporting Year, gross profit of the Group’s dairy farming
business amounted to RMB2,534.9 million (2020: RMB2,458.7
million), representing an increase of 3.1% yoy, which was mainly
due to the increase in price and sales volume of raw milk. Gross
profit margin of the Group's dairy farming business stood at 36.2%
(2020: 40.8%), representing a drop of 4.6 ppt yoy.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Dairy Cows

As at 31 December 2021, the biological assets of the Group were
valued at RMB9,404.9 million (31 December 2020: RMB7,101.2
million) by an independent qualified professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
representing an increase of 32.4% yoy, mainly due to the increase
of herd size.

Losses arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows less costs
to sell dairy cows were RMB956.0 million as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: RMB1,031.3 million), representing a decrease of
7.3% yoy, mainly due to the increase in number of reserved heifers,
and the increase in the market price of beef and calves.

Gains Arising on Initial Recognition of Raw Milk at Fair
Value Less Costs to Sell at the Point of Harvest

During the Reporting Year, the gains arising on initial recognition
of raw milk at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest
amounted to RMB2,378.4 million (2020: RMB2,277.4 million),
representing an increase of 4.4% yoy, mainly due to the increase in
sales volume of raw milk and its market price.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") required that
raw milk harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs to
sell, and the difference between the fair value less costs to sell and
the actual costs incurred was charged to profit or loss.

Other Income

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to
RMB123.8million (2020: RMB86.7 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants and interest income, of which interest income
accounted for RMB46.1 million (2020: RMB18.3 million), while the
government grants amounted to RMBé4.1 million (2020: RMB&40.0
million). Government grants mainly consisted of subsidies for
agricultural projects such as “Grain to Fodder”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E & Mo

Operating Expenses RERx
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AREFTT
Selling and distribution costs THE Ko IR AR 183,732 194,440
Administrative expenses TR 379,065 374,155
Total operating expenses R e 562,797 568,595

The total operating expenses was RMB562.8 million during the
Reporting Year (2020: RMB568.6 million), approximately the same
as the last year.

Selling and distribution costs

RAERFE - KLAXBERARES628EE
70(2020 : AR#568.6B&T) * FILLIAE °

HER D EMAAR
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Transportation costs and others BB RHEM 179,090 191,112
Business tax and surcharge R KM 4,642 3,328
Total selling and distribution costs HE R DK AL 183,732 194,440

Selling and distribution costs mainly consisted of
transportation costs for sales of raw milk and feeds. During
the Reporting Year, selling and distribution costs stood as
RMB183.7 million (2020: RMB194.4 million), representing
a decrease of 5.5% yoy, mainly due to the decrease in
transportation costs.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included remuneration of
management staff (including equity-based share award
expenses) and depreciation charges of office building,
staff quarters and facilities. During the Reporting Year,
administrative expenses amounted to RMB379.1 million (2020:
RMB374.2 million), approximately the same as the last year.
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HE RN HRAERBERAHE RS
HENERER - NAERFE - HEED
H AR B ARE183.7BET(20205F : AR
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THEX
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E W LT

Other Gains and Losses, Net

During the Reporting Year, net gains arising from other gains and
losses amounted to RMB51.1 million (2020: net losses of RMB142.5
million) mainly consisting of net amount of foreign exchange (gains)/
losses, impairment provision for fixed assets and impairment loss
on goodwill. The breakdown of other gains and losses is as follows:

RRE 2 - E b Y eh K B 18 P EE A O M et %
BRAARESIIBEET(20205F - BEFEARE
14258 87T) - TEBEINE (W) BIRFE -
B BEREERE FBREBES - EilsE
KEEBRARINT

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFT
Other gains and losses: Hip 5 &% B518
Net foreign exchange (gains)/loss HNE (Wzs), BB FEE (84,287) (158,173)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEWE - BE K& &R EE 9,659 13,110
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBE QA RM RS = (72,280)
Impairment loss on goodwill EE R (EEE = 48,809
Fair value gain on other financial assets HthemEE AL EBEWE (1,821) (1,012)
Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial PTEERITENAFE
instruments (Wez),/ B8
Foreign currency forward contracts SNERBRA 4 1,999 (26,381)
Foreign currency option contracts HNE HARE & 4 90,884 53,413
Capped and floored cross currency swap HIEHERX X B (67,537) -
25,346 27,032
(51,103) (142,514)

Other Expenses

During the Reporting Year, other expenses amounted to RMB8.7
million (2020: RMB16.5 million), representing a decrease of 47.3%
yoy mainly due to the impact of one-off significant donation
expenses during the Pandemic Outbreak in 2020.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Year, finance costs amounted to RMB198.1
million (2020: RMB318.6 million), representing a decrease of 37.8%
yoy. Among the finance costs, borrowing costs amounted to
RMB247.0 million (2020: RMB277.2 million), representing a decrease
of 10.9% yoy mainly due to the decrease of the financing interest
rate and effective control of borrowings scale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The Group's cash EBITDA amounted to RMB2,434.3 million during
the Reporting Year (2020: RMB2,264.9 million), representing a yoy
growth of 7.5%. The cash EBITDA margin was 34.4% (2020: 37.6%),
with a decrease by 3.2 ppt.

Taking into account the above factors, profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB1,018.8 million during the
Reporting Year (2020: RMB770.0 million), grew by 32.3% yoy.

During the Reporting Year, basic earnings per Share of the
Company (the “Share”) was RMB14.43 cents (2020: RMB12.07 cents
per Share). Diluted earnings per Share was RMB14.39 cents (2020:
RMB12.04 cents per Share).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2021, the net gearing ratio, which was
calculated on the basis of the amount of total interest-bearing
borrowings less cash and deposit assets as a percentage of the
total equity, was 56.1% (31 December 2020: 53.4%) with a yoy
increase of 2.7 ppt.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s available and unutilized
credit facilities were approximately RMB5,618.0 million (31
December 2020: RMB4,597.9 million). Having considered (i) forecast
cash flow from operating activities of continuing operation; (i)
existing financial resources and gearing level of the Group, the
Directors believe that the Group's financial resources are sufficient
to meet its debt repayment, day-to-day operations, contracted
capital expenditures as at 31 December 2021.

EIEE T8 R DT

RARERAEERR

RAERFE - NEEMNIFESEBITDARAREKE
2,434 3870 (2020%F : ARM2,2649H&7T)
E 1 R7.5% ° 3RS EBITDAR|E X 34.4% (2020
F 1 37.6%) BRI 2EE DB -

Eet R EiAER - RAERTE - AQRHAE
AFE(RS R B ARE1,018.8BE T(20204F : AR
#7700687T) © R E32.3% °

RAERFE - SRARFTRO (R EAE
MABANRE14.435 (2020 : EIRAR12.07
n) o FREERF A AREK14.395 (20204 ¢
EARE12.045) »

RBES  URERRERLR

R2021F12 4318 - FEBLLER(RE BERBEE
BESREREEEGNAEzR N EEFE) A
56.1% (2020512 A318 : 53.4%) » RLLIEAN2.7(H
R

R2021F12A318 » AEEMAIEA LK AEAE
EREREHARKS,618.08 &L (2020512 A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
= IE J= n—JL li] & Tﬁ

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS BEER
As at 31 December 2021, the total interest-bearing borrowings 72021 12H31H + REBHE BEHRBERA
of the Group was RMB8,494.7 million (2020: RMB5,642.3 million), R#8,494. 78 87T (2020 : AR¥5,64238 8

representing a yoy increase of 50.6%. 7T) - RLEEIEHN50.6% °
Details are set out as below: FEERINET
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARETT

Borrowings: B

Bank borrowings RITHERK 4,666,016 5,642,326

Other borrowings HAb AR 637,004 -

Long term bonds REMES 3,191,719 -
8,494,739 5,642,326

Carrying value repayable: FEEEREE

Within one year —F A 2,846,348 3,471,314

Between one to two years —Z2ZFR 1,252,000 703,519

Between two to five years —Z2HFRN 4,326,143 1,467,493

Over five years HFL L 70,248 -
8,494,739 5,642,326

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E & Mo

The following is an analysis of the respective borrowings: BHRERIFTWOT -
e Bank borrowings o IBITER
During the Reporting Year, the annual interest rate of bank RAERFEAN - RITEROFNEEER
borrowings varied from 1.21% to 7.26% (2020: from 0.66% to 1.21%%7.26% (20204 : 0.66%Z%E5.17%) °
5.17%).
The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term bank TRFE 2021612 A31 8 8952 B R R HAR
borrowings as at 31 December 2021: ITHEK -
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Bank borrowings: BATHEN

Unsecured borrowings IR E R 4,064,347 5,281,002

Secured borrowings BB ER 601,669 361,324
4,666,016 5,642,326

Carrying amounts repayable: EEEREE

Within one year —FE R 2,380,683 3,471,314

Between one to two years —FEMER 1,234,489 703,519

Between two to five years WMEERFNR 980,596 1,467,493

Over five years AFLE 70,248 -
4,666,016 5,642,326

“EC-55% PEARKURERFTRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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e Other borrowings e HER
During the Reporting Year, the annual interest rate of other RARERFEA - BB F N EE RS
borrowings varied from 3.85% to 12.00%. 3.85%% 12.00% °
The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term other TRINENR2021F12A31ENEHARRHAE
borrowings as at 31 December 2021: fbfE R
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Other borrowings: Hp g ¢

Unsecured borrowings ERERE R 557,217 -

Secured borrowings BEAER 79,787 -
637,004 -

Carrying amounts repayable: FEEBREE :

Within one year —F A 433,676 -

Between one to two years —FEMFA 17,511 -

Between two to five years MEZRLFN 185,817 -
637,004 -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

e Longterm bonds

EIEE T8 R DT

e RHfEZ

2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

Carrying amounts repayable: EEEREE
Within one year —F A 31,989 -
Between two to five years MEZRFER 3,159,730 -
3,191,719 -

The Company has successfully issued US$500 million, 2.125%
bonds due 2026 (the “Bonds”) with a credit rating of “BBB”,
being an investment grade assigned by Standard & Poor’s,
by way of debt issues to professional investors. The listing of,
and dealing in, the Bonds were effective from 15 July 2021.

The offer price of the Bonds was 99.717% of the principal
amount. The Bonds bear interest with effect from 14 July 2021
(inclusive), payable semi-annually in arrears. The proceeds
from the issue of the Bonds has be used for refinancing and
general corporate purposes.

The carrying amounts repayable within one year are interests
payable.

GROUP STRUCTURE

Save for disclosed in this report, during the Reporting Year, there
was no material change in the structure of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 27 January 2021, the Company has completed a placement of
an aggregate of 650,000,000 new shares under general mandate to
certain independent third parties at the placing price of HK$2.40
per share.

On 29 November 2021, pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of Fuyuan International, the
Company has issued and allotted 807,096,101 shares of the
Company at the issue price of HK$2.24 per share to Mengniu as
part of the consideration for the acquisition.

KAREBBRESEREERTESFNA
N EITTHEET - EEE2.125% - X
2026 FRIEARES ([EH]) - ZRHEFH
ETRMZSER2021F7 158 BER - &
HESFEEELRERTHRAIBBBIIEER
Bl

BEHENEEEAASTEMNT17% - EHK
2021F7R14B (BT E  B¥F M —
R BHEITSHAECHERNERE R —RK
ERR -

—FUANEEERAERENNE -

AEBERRB
BARESHBEEI RABRBRFE - ARERE
BB A TEARE -

BREE

NRFR2021F1A27 B el B IE —RIREUST
R2A40B TR EERE TBLE - H8ITAa L
650,000,0000% #T A% 17 °

R2021F11 8298 - BREBEUEESRERNEE R
FHHTE  ARRBRBEITETR224BTLETR
B2 2£807,096, 101 AR R - 1EAR SR UE
HEN—IFD -
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MANA@E\MENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2021, the total number of ordinary shares in
issue of the Company was 7,915,662,048 shares (31 December 2020:
6,458,565,947 shares).

As at 31 December 2021, the net assets attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately RMB10,864.9 million
(31 December 2020: approximately RMB7,896.9 million), the net
borrowings of the Group (total interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and deposit assets) amounted to approximately RMB6,236.4
million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB4,290.8 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE OF

ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, no buildings and equipment of the
Company (31 December 2020: nil) were pledged as security for the
Group's borrowings.

As at 31 December 2021, biological assets with carrying value of
RMB770.4 million (31 December 2020: RMB754.0 million), time
deposits of RMB127.0 million (31 December 2020: RMB122.7
million), trade receivables of RMB7.25 million (31 December 2020:
nil) and properties of RMB112.1 million (31 December 2020: nil)
were pledged as security for the Group's borrowings.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2021 and 2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's capital commitments in
relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB244.5 million (31 December 2020: RMB20.2
million) with a significant increase of RMB224.3 million yoy, mainly
due to the increase of newly built dairy farms.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group continued to closely manage financial risks to safeguard
the interest of the shareholders of the Company. The Group
applied its cash flows generated from operations, bank loans and
proceeds from the issuance of bonds and ordinary shares of the
Company to satisfy its operational and investment needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEFE

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Upholding the principle of “safety and quality come first”,
the Group is proactive when it comes to fulfilling its social
responsibility. The Group proactively develops and implements
modern and scientific breeding and feeding know-how. The
Group devotes great effort to strike a balance between business
growth and social responsibility, so as to convey the Group's
care and blessing to all stakeholders. The Group is committed
to improving the quality of its products by providing consumers
with a commitment to provide healthy, safe, nutritious and high-
quality dairy products. Meanwhile, it adheres to the production
principle of energy conservation and environmental protection.
The Group actively promotes the economic development of the
surrounding areas where the farms are located and increases the
income of local residents. The Group actively implements the
precise poverty alleviation policy, responds to the call of poverty
alleviation, and is devoted to poverty alleviation within the industry
and society. Firstly, the contracts of silage planting were signed
with local farmers in the farming areas to reduce the impact of
natural disasters on crop harvest and simultaneously solve the
local employment problem. The Group’s farms provide multiple
jobs throughout the country, effectively alleviating the pressure of
surplus rural labor force and increasing the income of local farmers.
The Group also undertakes social responsibility and promotes local
economic development through measures such as making direct
donation of materials, money and paying visits to nursing homes.
The road of the Group's social responsibility passes through from
dairy cow breeding, accountable quality, green development to
employee development and social care. The Group has always
adhered to the concept of “people-oriented”, and taken the
responsibility of promoting sustainable development of the dairy
industry and giving back to the nature and serving the society.

To better illustrate the Group’ s social responsibilities,
environmental protection and social and corporate governance,
a report on the environment, social and governance will be
separately released in due course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E W LT

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

OF EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 6,772
employees (31 December 2020: 4,455 employees) in mainland China
and Hong Kong, including 2,157 employees added as a result of
mergers and acquisitions that took place during the Reporting
Year. Total staff costs during the Reporting Year (excluding equity-
settled share award expense) were approximately RMB639.3 million
(2020: RMB585.6 million), including staff cost of approximately
RMB35.2 million resulting from mergers and acquisitions that took
place during the Reporting Year.

In 2021, the Group implemented comprehensive organizational
reforms to enhance organizational capabilities, and established
a sound human resources system according to the Company’s
strategy and organizational needs. The Group has upgraded its
organizational configuration, introduced senior management
talents, comprehensively improved and upgraded the salary and
performance management system, implemented the happiness
and welfare scheme for employees and established the talent
career development system, aiming to continuously optimize
employees’ income and career development, provide employees
with competitive salaries, a career development platform with
continuous promotion and offer a variety of capability enhancement
training. In this way, we can build an excellent team that is caring,
promising and resilient with high professional ability and strong
comprehensive capability, providing human resources support for
the rapid development of the Group.

ANE R AR & %N
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

Modern Dairy will continue to implement the “Five-Year Lead
Plan”, with the business guidelines of “widening horizontally and
deepening vertically” to strengthen the core dairy business. We
expect the dairy herd of the Group could reach more than 500,000
heads by 2025, with an annual output of 3.6 million tons of fresh
milk. To explore new business opportunities and increase new
profit growth engines, Modern Dairy is planning to enter the feed
sector, develop the beef cattle business and the trading platform
business, cultivate breeding business and integrate land, forage
and resources, so that we can further improve the layout of the
whole industry chain and enhance the Group's overall competitive
advantages.

In February 2022, the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs
issued a notice on the “14th Five-Year Plan for Improving the
Competitiveness of Dairy Industry”, stating that “by 2025, the
national milk production should reach approximately 41 million
tons, and the proportion of farms with a herd size of more than
one hundred cows should reach approximately 75%”. This
provides specific action indicators for the future development
of the upstream dairy industry. As a leading enterprise in the
dairy industry, Modern Dairy is duty-bound to contribute to the
development, improvement and expansion of the dairy industry.
In the future, we will continue to adhere to the concept of high-
quality development, the path of large-scale development and the
development strategy of integrating forage grass planting, cows
breeding and milk processing, so as to seize the opportunities in
the industry, improve the efficiency of internal growth and create
another peak in production. We will strive to develop ourselves
into a global industry-leading dairy farming group led by digital
and intelligent innovations, covering the whole ecological industry
chain with healthy, safe and high-quality dairy cows and milk as well
as strong cultural genes by 2025.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SUN Yugang, aged 41, is an executive Director of the
Company and acting chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. Sun
was a manager of the finance and investment department of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. between May 2002
and March 2007. Mr. Sun was the chief financial officer, executive
director and vice president of the Company from March 2007 to
September 2016 and the non-executive director of the Company
from October 2016 to March 2017. Concurrently, Mr. Sun worked
for Hebei Yinong Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (A3t B B #84E R
H AR /AT]) as a director, vice president and chief financial officer
from October 2016 to August 2018 and for Jiangsu Yuguan Modern
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* (T&#ERKEERBZERA
R]) as a vice president and chief financial officer from August 2018
to October 2019. Mr. Sun re-joined the Group in November 2019 as
an executive Director of the Group. Mr. Sun graduated from Inner
Mongolia Finance and Economics College, majoring in accounting.
Mr. Sun has extensive experience in financial management and
corporate development.

Mr. ZHU Xiaohui, aged 51, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company and the vice president of the Group on
1 July 2021, and has been re-designated as an executive Director
of the Company and the chief financial officer of the Group on 30
November 2021. Mr. Zhu joined Fuyuan International, a subsidiary
of the Company in August 2014 and served as the vice president
of Fuyuan International from August 2014 to December 2018, the
senior vice president of Fuyuan International from December 2018
to June 2019 and the vice president and the secretary of the board
of directors of Fuyuan International since March 2020. Prior to
joining Fuyuan International, Mr. Zhu had spent approximately 18
years with COFCO Group and approximately 4 years with Dalian
Wanda Group Inc., Ltd. Mr. Zhu has over 29 years of experience
in corporate management, in particular the management of
large-scale enterprises, and also has extensive management
experience in the dairy farming industry. Mr. Zhu graduated from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with a bachelor’'s degree
in international business administration and the University of
International Business and Economics with a master’s degree in

business administration.

*  For identification purposes only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and chairman of the board of Directors of the Company
in March 2017. Mr. Lu is currently the executive director and
chief executive officer of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(“Mengniu”) (stock code: 2319). Mengniu is the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lu is the chairman and a non-
executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”)
(stock code: 1230), a subsidiary of Mengniu. Mr. Lu is also the
chairman and a non-executive director of China Shengmu Organic
Milk Limited (stock code: 1432, an associate of Mengniu), and
a non-independent director and the chairman of the board of
directors of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Co., Ltd., which is
an associate of Mengniu listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Mr. Lu is also a director of International Dairy Federation. He was
the chief executive officer and an executive director of Yashili
before his appointment as chairman of the board of directors of
Yashili. Mr. Lu was also a director of the following subsidiaries
of Yashili, namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International
Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited and
Mengya International Group Limited (formerly known as Scient
International Group Limited). Mr. Lu was the vice president (Greater
China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been
with Danone S.A. and its subsidiaries (the “Danone Group”) and
Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During his tenure at
the Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and
market planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management
skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu had contributed
significantly to the success of the Danone Group's baby nutrition
business in China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent
9 years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and
approximately 4 years with General Electric Company (China). Prior
to joining Mengniu Group, Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience
in sales and marketing and has been serving in general manager
or executive level roles for over 7 years. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in the management of fast-moving consumer goods
and dairy companies and has an excellent grasp and in-depth
knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor’s
degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.
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Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, aged 45, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2019 and was appointed as
the vice chairman of the board of director of the Company in
July 2021, Mr. Zhao also currently serves as the non-executive
director of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock code:
1432). Mr. Zhao is the vice president and the head of milk sourcing
and supply chain business unit of Mengniu. Mr. Zhao has served
successively as regional manager, sales director, general manager
of operation and general manager of planning and logistics.
Mr. Zhao graduated from Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics with a master degree in information engineering and
management. Mr. Zhao has almost 20 years of experience in the
dairy industry and specializes in both sales management and supply
chain management. Mr. Zhao has in-depth knowledge of PRC dairy
market and great foresight in the PRC dairy industry.

Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 57, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang Ping is currently
an executive director, a vice president and the chief financial officer
of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (stock code: 2319). Mr.
Zhang Ping is also a non-executive director of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1230) and China Shengmu Organic
Milk Limited (stock code: 1432), and a non-independent director
of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Company Limited which is
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang Ping is also a
director of a number of Mengniu’s subsidiaries, including its major
subsidiaries Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co., Ltd.
He has over 31 years of experience in the fast-moving consumer
goods industry, specializing in management of operation, finance
and audit, as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang Ping worked in
Swire Beverages group companies as manager responsible for
internal audit and system development, finance director, general
manager of bottler manufacturing company and chief executive
officer of Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr.
Zhang Ping graduated from the Beijing Information Science and
Technology University with a Master’'s Degree in Management
Engineering.
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Ms. GAN Lu, aged 39, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2020. Ms. Gan is the executive
director of Beijing Hosen Capital Management,LLP (“Hosen
Capital”), one of the first private equity management institutions
registered with the China National Development and Reform
Commission pursuant to the new equity investment regulations.
Ms. Gan is also the person-in-charge of the office of Hosen Capital
in Hong Kong. Ms. Gan joined Hosen Capital in 2018. Ms Gan
has over twelve years experience in the financial and investment
sectors. Before joining Hosen Capital, Ms. Gan worked for the
Hong Kong office of New Hope Group Co., Ltd, for four years
as head of its Hong Kong office and chief investment officer of
its financial division. Ms. Gan also worked for China International
Capital Corporation Limited (CICC) in Beijing and Hong Kong
for six years as the head of the Hong Kong operations support
coordination department. Ms. Gan graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in business administration.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 67, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive director of West China Cement
Limited (stock code: 2233), Chaowei Power Holdings Limited
(stock code: 951), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock code: 493),
NVC International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2222), Yashili
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1230), GCL New Energy
Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), WH Group Limited (stock
code: 288), and Guotai Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd (stock
code: 2611), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee was the independent non-
executive director of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (stock code:
1115) until February 2020. In addition, he was an independent
non-executive director of China Rundong Auto Group Limited
(stock code: 1365) until December 2020. Mr. Lee is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
The Chartered Accountants, Australia and New Zealand, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society of
Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province from
2008 to 31 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience
in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and initial public offerings. From September 1980 to
September 2009, Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young
and held key leadership positions in his development of the firm in
China.
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Mr. LI Shengli, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li graduated from Shihezi Agricultural College
with a bachelor’s degree in animal husbandry and veterinary
science in July 1987. He then obtained his doctorate degree in
animal nutrition science from China Agricultural University in July
1996. Since 2003, Mr. Li has been with China Agricultural University,
working as an assistant professor and professor in multiple times.
Mr. Li is currently the vice-director (Animal Nutrition) of the State
Key Laboratories, director of the Sino-US Dairy Research Center
of China Agricultural University, director of the Sino-Dutch Dairy
Development Center, chief scientist in national dairy products
industry technology system, a specialist to the China School Milk
Programme and a specialist in the Cattle and Poultry Research
Centre of Beijing Sanyuan Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd. Mr.
Li is a specialist to the Working Committee of National Dairy
Herd Improvement Programme (DHI) of the Dairy Association of
China and the chairman of China Institute of Animal Husbandry
and Veterinary Cattle Chapter. Up to 17 June 2021, Mr. Li was
an independent non-executive director of China Zhongdi Dairy
Holdings Company Limited (delisted, prior stock code: 1492). In
2007, Mr. Li obtained a patent on Rubeili (ZL{Z%), a type of high-
energy and high-protein supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li
was awarded the second prize and a prize of the Beijing Science
and Technology Award in 2000 and 2007, respectively, and was
recognized by the Beijing Municipal Government as “Top 10
Scientists with Contribution to the Economic Development in Rural
Villages of Beijing” in 2009. He also received the first prize for
advancement in science and technology awarded by the Education
Department in 2012, the first prize for Chinese Agricultural Science
awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture in 2013 and the second prize
of National Scientific and Technological Progress Award in 2014.
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Mr. CHOW Ming Sang, aged 49, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 July
2021. Mr. Chow was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (stock code:
2370) on 14 March 2022. Mr. Chow was the general manager of
the Risk and Control Department of the Tahoe Group (the shares
of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock
code 000732) from October 2018 to June 2019, overseeing the
company's risk management and corporate governance of all
business sectors like residential, commercial, hotel, education,
insurance, medical, estate management and ageing care. Mr.
Chow is currently the managing director of Beijing Xinshi Anye
Management Consulting Co., Ltd., an independent non-executive
director of Teamway International Group Holdings Limited (the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code 01239), and an independent non-executive director
of China Rundong Auto Group Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
01365).

Mr. Chow obtained his bachelor degree in Business Administration
(Accounting) from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 1995. Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified Internal
Auditor. Mr. Chow has over 26 years working experience in various
industries in auditing, corporate governance and risk management
advisory where he was the advisory partner of Ernst & Young (China)
Advisory Limited since 2007 and was responsible for managing the
Risk Advisory sub-service line's strategic growth and development
in various regions of Mainland China since 2011. From 2014 to 2016,
Mr. Chow became the Committee member of The Internal Controls
General Standards Committee of The Ministry of Finance (PRC) (F
Bl B B EB A BRI iR £ Z B ® % 8), the only Hong Kong resident
and Big Four partner being appointed as a committee member.
Mr. Chow is also involved in promoting innovation where he acts
as start-up coach of over 20 incubators and accelerators in China
and Hong Kong to assist young entrepreneurs in enhancing their
business from financial and strategic development perspectives.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GUO Wenju, aged 51, is the secretary of the Party Committee
of the Group. Mr. Guo joined the Group in July 2021. He served
as the deputy secretary of the Party Committee in Mengniu Group
from March 2010 to June 2017, and served as the deputy secretary
of the Party Committee and secretary of the disciplinary committee
in Mengniu Group from July 2017 to December 2020. In 2017,
he obtained a master’s degree from the graduate school of the
Central Party School.

Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 49, is the vice president and general
manager of the second operation center of the Group. Mr. Han is
also a director of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. and Helinger
Modern Farming Co., Ltd., both of which are subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Han joined the Group in September 2008 and was
appointed as executive director of the Company on 14 November
2008 until 1 April 2020. From February 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Han
served as the deputy general manager of marketing in Crayon
Xiaoxin (Fujian) Food Co., Ltd. From January 1999 to September
2004, Mr. Han worked as a marketing manager in the liquid milk
department of Mengniu, Inner Mongolia. Before that, Mr. Han
worked as the branch manager of the milk powder department
of Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd. from July 1994
to January 1999. Mr. Han has over 15 years of experience in
the Chinese catering industry and has extensive experience in
marketing and ranching operations. Mr. Han obtained a bachelor’s
degree in biology from Inner Mongolia University, China in July
1994, and a master’'s degree in agricultural promotion from China
Agricultural University in 2015.

Mr. ZHANG Xue, aged 54, is the vice president of the Group, the
chief engineer of the technical department of the Group, and is also
the person-in-charge of the third operation center of the Group.
Before joining the Group in 2021, Mr. Zhang has been working in
ranch technical positions and ranch management for more than 20
years. From November 2014 to November 2016, Mr. Zhang served
as the chief livestock pastor and assistant vice president of Fuyuan
International; from December 2016 to November 2019, he served
as the vice president of Fuyuan International, and from November
2019 to August 2021, he worked for Fuyuan International as the
chief operating officer, responsible for the overall technical and
operational work of Fuyuan International. He obtained a doctorate
degree in animal nutrition from the Bingen Institute, Germany in
2001.
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Mr. SONG Weizheng, aged 41, is the vice president of the Group
and the person in charge of purchasing and sales. Mr. Song joined
the Group in January 2020 and was in-charge-of the procurement
center of the Group, and in August 2021, he was in charge of
procurement and sales. Before joining the Group, Mr. Song
worked in Mengniu Group from December 2001 to December
2019 as the head of the quality inspection department, the head
of the production department, the manager of the milk source
department, the general manager of the milk source region, and
the general manager of the big dairy unified procurement. Mr.
Song has extensive experience in procurement and sales. Mr. Song
obtained a master’s degree in bioengineering from Inner Mongolia
University in July 2010.

Ms. YUAN Li, aged 46, is the vice president and head of human
resources & administration of the Group. Ms. Yuan joined the
Group in July 2021. Before joining the Group, she served as
manager, deputy director, director of operation management
department, project director of sharing center, and general
compensation and benefit manager of human resources center of
milk source business department of Mengniu Group Headquarters
Human Resources Center. She has participated in and successfully
led important projects such as organizational reform at all levels,
human resources system construction, mechanism innovation,
and process optimization of Mengniu Group for many times. She
has rich theoretical and practical experience in the field of human
resources management. Ms. Yuan obtained a master’s degree from
Inner Mongolia University of Technology in 2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREABE

The board (the “"Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
"Shareholder(s)”) and the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
("CG Code”") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Company has, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Year”) and up to the
date of this annual report, complied with the code provisions set
out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provisions
Ab7.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the shareholders of the Company.
One non-executive Director was not able to attend the annual
general meeting and the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company both of which were held on 2 June 2021 due to other
business engagements.

Save as disclosed above, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
CG Code.

On January 1, 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the "New CG Code") came into effect and the requirements
under the New CG code will apply to corporate governance
reports for financial year commencing on or after January 1, 2022.
The Board will periodically review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure that the Company continues to
meet the requirements of the New CG Code.

THE BOARD

Role of Directors

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is accountable
to the Shareholders for managing the Company in a responsible
and effective manner. Every Director is committed to act in the
best interest of the Company and to contribute their expertise
and knowledge to the Company. The Board decides on overall
strategies and monitors the Group's performance on behalf of the
Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating and
financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic objectives.
The day-to-day management of the Group's business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management of the Group
under the supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Matters reserved for the Board and Board Committees are those
affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, financial objectives,
dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition
and disposal of assets, investments and other significant matters.

As at 31 December 2021, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Mr. Sun Yugang, Mr.
Zhu Xiaohui, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang,
Mr. Zhao Jiejun, Mr. Zhang Ping and Ms. Gan Lu, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Shengli, Mr.
Lee Kong Wai, Conway, and Mr. Chow Ming Sang.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
"Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 46
to 53 of this annual report.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to the
Company, the Directors and senior management.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term
of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the articles of
association of the Company (”Articles of Association”).
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Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for
a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under
the Articles of Association. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Chow Ming Sang, two of the independent non-executive Directors,
have the appropriate accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director a written annual confirmation of their independence
and is satisfied with their independence in accordance with the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent non-
executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The number of independent non-
executive Directors of the Company is three and represents at
least one-third of the Board as required under Rules 3.10(1) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway holds eight
listed issuer directorships. As advised by Mr. Lee that he is a full
time professional director and has high attendance for all kind
of board meetings, such that the Company believes Mr. Lee can
devote sufficient time to the Board and each of Board Committee
he engaged with listed issuers and in compliance with Appendix
14 A.5.5 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore, although Mr. Li Shengli
and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have served as independent non-
executive Directors for more than 9 years. As independent non-
executive Directors with in-depth understanding of the Company's
operations and business, Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai have
expressed objective views and given independent guidance to
the Company over the years, and they continue demonstrating a
firm commitment to their roles. The Board considers that the long
service of Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway would not
affect their exercise of independent judgement and is satisfied that
Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have the required
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of
independent non-executive Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. All Directors have access to
the advice and service of the Company Secretary to ensure that
the Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. The Company Secretary complied with the professional
training requirement with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Year.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(e) to review existing employee incentive schemes of the
Company; and

() to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Year, the Board has fulfilled the corporate
governance functions by reviewing the Company's corporate
governance practices.

Chairman and Acting Chief Executive Officer (“Acting
CEO")

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures. He also steers the Board and the Company
towards its corporate goals. The Acting CEO is responsible for the
effective implementation of the overall strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board as well as the daily operation of the Group.
For the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Lu
Minfang. The Acting CEO of the Company is Mr. Sun Yugang and
the Vice Chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhao Jiejun

With the support of the Acting CEO and the Company Secretary,
the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues brought up at Board meetings and that they receive
adequate and reliable information in relation to matters discussed
at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group on a monthly
basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the Group's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.
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BOARD PROCEDURES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has held five
meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operations
and financial performance of the Group. The Directors participated
in person or through electronic means of communication. Details
of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2021 are set out

BEEERERF

HE2021F12A31MHILFE - EFLL8THNX
i RERRBUANKER  EBLMER
- EBERBAPREAERETRASIRNES - B5
LEEES  BEEZELLHENARAIN20214
GA2BEITHRRBAF A MREEFASBER
RFBEHINT

as follows:

Number of Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and
general meetings attended/held

e/ BTEZEEH ESZREEERRRAERY

General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director E=p REAE Ezxg  ENZEE ¥HzEg REZEE
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Gao Lina (Vice Chairman and CEO, eBl et FLE#EH 22 33 N/A N/A N/A
resigned on 1 July 2021) KO02147 A1 B&H) TER D lii T
Mr. Sun Yugang (Acting Chief Executive BER% A FraH) 22 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
Officer) e’ TER TER TER
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer, RERBLE BRIFER N/A 202 N/A N/A N/A
appointed on 1 July 2021)e%2 22147 R 1B EEF) " ok TR TER ok
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board) Bt (EESLE) 2/2 5/5 N/A N/A 33
TEH TaA
Mr. Zhang Ping KYEE 2/2 5/5 22 33 N/A
TR
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board) ~ BEERA(EESHTE) 112 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
TaR ek TEm
Ms. Gan Lu HEat 2/2 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
TEH TEA TR
Independent Non-executive Directors BUKBTES
Mr. Li Shengli FEHNEE 22 5/5 N/A 33 N/A
TaA TEm
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FREEE 22 22 22 N/A 33
TEH
Mr. Chow Ming Sang ERE RS N/A 2/2 11 2/2 11
TER
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul % Wolhardt Julian Juul5g %43 22 33 ”n 1" 2/2
Note: BT -
(M Mr. Sun Yugang was appointed as acting chief executive officer of (1) BREREER2021F7A1BEZEAAEEH
the Group on 1 July 2021. TTHREL -
@) Mr. Zhu Xiaohui was appointed as a non-executive Directoron 1 (2) REBSLAER2021F7ABEZERIENTE

July 2021 and was subsequently re-designated as an executive
Director on 29 November 2021 and was appointed as chief financial
officer of the Group.

(3) Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul resigned as Independent Non-executive
Director on 1 July 2021.
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The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal
or other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying board
papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before the proposed
date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if necessary, are
arranged and held as and when required. During the Reporting
Year, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors to exchange views on matters concerning the
business development, management and corporate governance of
the Group.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.

Appointment, Re-election of Directors and Removal

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. Each
Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the Articles of
Association. Directors appointed as an addition to the Board or to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the following annual general meeting or the
following general meeting of the Company after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the annual general meeting.
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THE BOARD'S DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted diversity policy, which sets out the
approach to diversity of Board members. In determining the
Board's composition, the Company considers a range of diversity
elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based
on merit and objective criteria while taking into full account of the
interest of Board's diversity.

As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors with
both gender, of which 11.1% of them are female and 88.9% of
them are male and three of which are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, professional
background and skills. Having reviewed the board diversity
policy and the Board’'s composition, the Nomination Committee
considered that the requirements of the board diversity policy had
been met and no measurable objective had been set to implement
the board diversity policy.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group (including senior
management) is 2 male to 1 female.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. For newly appointed Director, an induction
package will be given to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations, business and governance policies of the Group.
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A summary of training received by the Directors during the year RIEFEZEBFIRHEMEEE - EERNEE2021F12 4
ended 31 December 2021 according to the records provided by  31H IEFEMEZHFIIB AL T -
the Directors is as follows:

Type of trainings

Directors =2 ENE R
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Gao Lina (resigned on 1 July 2021) =B (7202147 A1 HEHT) A, B, C
Mr. Sun Yugang (Acting Chief Executive Officer) & & RISt (#177484) A B, C
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer, RENE LA (BB R20214F7 H 1 HEZ(F)

appointed on 1 July 2021) A B, C
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board) ESgREE(EFSFE) A B,C
Mr. Zhang Ping SR KA A B, C
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board) BRELE(EFELHLE)
Ms. Gan Lu HBLt A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Li Shengli FEHNEE A B, C
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway THBETE A B, C
Mr. Chow Ming Sang (appointed on 1 July 2021) JEIBAZE 5 4 (722021457 1 BEZ () A, B,C
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul%tc 4

(resigned on 1 July 2021) (720217 A1HET) A B, C

A Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the business and A MEAMXGRIXRERNEY - N REHE
industry development #

B: Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the Listing B MEAR MR REMEREEREFNER

Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement HEY

C:  Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/or forums C: WRIEHHANGR REER LB
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Board
had established a Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee
a Nomination Committee and a Strategy and Development
Committee with the defined terms of reference in line with the
CG Code. The terms of reference are published on the respective
websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon request.
Details of these Board committees including their composition,
major responsibilities and functions and work performed are as

follows:

Remuneration Committee

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Li Shengli
and other members are Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Chow Ming Sang.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and the majority being independent non-
executive Directors of the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and senior
management of the Group, and make recommendations of the
remuneration packages for all the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and the senior management to the Board.

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s
and the Group's affairs. The remuneration packages are also
determined by reference to the Company’s performance and
profitability, remuneration level in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The emolument policy for independent non-
executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’ fees, is subject
to annual assessment with reference to the market standard.
Individual Directors and senior management would not be involved
in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.
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During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed,
discussed and approved the remuneration for the executive
Directors and senior management of the Group, reviewed the
remuneration policy and made recommendation to the Board for
the remuneration for the non-executive Directors for its approval.
Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the existing employee
incentive schemes of the Group.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

RAERFE - FHEZESEHN - fwmMILER
SEATEERSREEE e REFHFHK
R UMIFATEF 2 HFHAESSREZZEN
HEEL - FHZESTEHABAKENER
AEDET & o

SREEBKRERE2021F12A318 ILEE 2 B
TEENT

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) persons
e eEGE ) REAH
0-4,000,000 0
4,000,000-5,000,000 1
5,000,000-6,000,000 2
6,000,000-7,000,000 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 11 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway and Mr. Chow Ming Sang and one non-executive Director,
Mr. Zhang Ping. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming
Sang posses the relevant professional qualifications required under
the Listing rules. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Lee
Kong Wai, Conway.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee
the Group's financial reporting system, risk management system
and internal control procedures, and to review and monitor
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31

December 2021. Major work completed by the Audit Committee

during the year includes:

reviewed the Group’s annual report, interim financial
information and annual consolidated financial statements;

reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

reviewed the external auditor's management letter and the
management's response;

reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including advising
on identification of connected parties and formulating
relevant policies;

reviewed the connected and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group or subsisting during
the Reporting Year; and

reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprised one non-executive Director

Mr. Lu Minfang and two independent non-executive Directors,

namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming Sang. The

Chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Lu Minfang.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has
been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee held three
meetings and has reviewed and recommended the structure, size
and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board. It reviewed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. It also made recommendations to the Board
on retiring Directors for re-election at the annual general meeting
held on 2 June 2021.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for directorship
(the "Nomination Policy”) in 2018 which supplemental to the
Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”). It aims at setting out the processes
and criteria for the nomination of a candidate for directorship in
the Company and ensures that all nominations of Board members
are fair and transparent in order to facilitate the constitution
of the Board with a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business.
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Nomination Policy sets out as below:

2.

66

Objective

1.1.

This policy was approved and adopted by the
board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company by
resolution passed on 17 December 2018 upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

This policy sets out the selection criteria and procedures
to be adopted when considering candidates to
be nominated to the Board for it to consider or
recommended to the shareholders of the Company for
election, whether new appointment or re-appointment,
as directors of the Company at general meetings or as
directors to fill casual vacancies to ensure the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet various needs of the Company.
It is the Board which has the ultimate responsibility for
selecting and appointing the directors.

Selection criteria

2.1

China

When considering a candidate nominated for
directorship or a director’s proposed re-appointment,
the Nomination Committee will take into account the
following factors as a reference:

° whether the qualification, skills, experience,
industry knowledge of the candidate meet the
business needs or are in line with the long term
development of the Company;

J effect on the board’s composition and diversity in
all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and
the compliance with the diversity policy of the
Company;

o commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient
time to effectively discharge his/her duties. In
this regard, the number and nature of offices
held by the candidate in public companies or
organizations, and other executive appointments
or significant commitments will be considered;
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o any potential/actual conflicts of interest that may
arise if the candidate is selected,;

o for the appointment or re-appointment of
independent non-executive directors, the
independence of the candidate and his/her
immediate family from the Company; and

o in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an
independent non-executive director, the number
of years he/she has already served.

The above factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate
on a case by case basis.

2.2. Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form,
together with their written consent to be appointed as
a director of the Company and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any document or the relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a director of the Company.

2.3. The Nomination Committee may request candidates
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

3. Nomination procedures
3.1. Subject to the provisions in the Company’s Articles
of Association, if the Board recognises the need to
appoint an additional director, the following procedures
should be adopted:

J the chairman of the Nomination Committee shall
call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invite nominations of candidates from
Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also identify or select
candidates to be recommended to the Board,
with or without assistance from external agencies
or the Company;
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3.2.

S8

3.4.

China

R
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o the Nomination Committee may use any process
it deems appropriate to assess the suitability of
and the potential contribution to the Board by
the candidates based on (but not limited to) the
criteria set out in section 2.1 herein, which may
include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations or written submissions by the
candidates and third party references;

J the Nomination Committee will hold a physical
meeting to consider the matter and avoid the
making of decisions by written resolutions unless
it is impractical that a physical meeting be held;

o the Nomination Committee shall provide to the
Board for its consideration with all the information
required, including information set out in Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the
candidates;

° the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board, including the
terms and conditions of the appointment.

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. The Board shall have the final decision on
all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates
to stand for election at any general meeting.

All appointments of director should be confirmed by
letter of appointment setting out the key terms and
conditions of the appointment of the directors, which
should be approved by the Nomination Committee.

In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, and to invite nominations from
shareholders, a circular accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting will be sent to shareholders
of the Company. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to shareholders of the Company.
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4.  Re-appointments of existing directors
In cases of re-appointments of existing directors, a physical
meeting will be held to consider the re-appointment based
on (but not limited to) the criteria set out in paragraph 2.1
above.

5. Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may also propose a
person for election as a director, details of which are set out
in the "Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as Director” of the Company.

6. General
6.1. This policy and the progress towards achieving the
objectives set out in this policy will be disclosed in the
corporate governance report of the Company.

6.2. This policy shall be reviewed annually by the Nomination
Committee at its annual meeting. This policy shall be
updated and revised as and when necessary in light
of changes in circumstances (e.g. change in business
needs of the Company) and reflect any change in
regulatory requirements, including those under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Any amendment to
this policy shall be approved and resolved by the Board
in writing.

6.3. In case of discrepancy in respect of the language of this
Policy, the English version shall prevail.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprised one
executive Director, Mr. Sun Yugang, two non-executive Directors,
Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Ms. Gan Luand one independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Li Shengli. The Strategy and Development
Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhao Jiejun.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Group's external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends on
the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
were approximately RMB2.60 million (2020: RMB1.85 million) for
audit services and RMB1.89 million, including RMB0.75 million for
interim review, RMB0.95 million for other assurance service and
RMBO0.19 million for other service (2020: RMB1.59 million, including
RMBO.75 million for interim review, RMB0.65 million for other
assurance service and RMB0.19 million for other service).

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies
are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021, the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(collectively "IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as going concern. The Board has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company
are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 111 to
116 of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company has provided all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules during
the Reporting Year.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Year, there is no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for annually reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The scope of the review is determined and recommended by
the Audit Committee. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Such review also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company in relation to its accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. Risk
management and internal control review reports are circulated to
the Audit Committee members and the Board in accordance with
the approved scope.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has complied with Code
Provision D.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The major
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
set out as below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

J Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group's
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the Group's process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group’s operations and resources are
specifically attended to ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas of
concern where necessary.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the Reporting Year, the
internal audit department has conducted audit on farms at different
regions of the Group and reported to the senior management.
The internal audit department of the Group has also reviewed
the connected transaction of the Group and report to Audit
Committee.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the Reporting
Year, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group are sufficient
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use
or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized and
proper accounting records are properly maintained.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure

= information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

- procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of
information

- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures
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The senior management has reviewed the risk management and
internal control system of the Group for the Reporting Year and
considered them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the
changes in the business environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on 17 December 2018 (the
"Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will
depend on, among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow,
financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements
and other factors of the Company which the Directors consider
relevant, and the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
remaining profit will be used for the development and operation of
the Group.

The Company's distribution of dividends shall also comply with any
restrictions under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective Communication

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company'’s annual report and consolidated financial
statements, the interim report, as well as the annual general
meeting. The section under "Acting CEQ’s Statement” and
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report
facilitate the Shareholders’ understanding of the Company's
activities. The annual general meeting allows the Directors to
meet and communicate with the Shareholders. The Company's
consolidated financial statements and each of the required
disclosure of information are dispatched within the prescribed
period imposed by laws and regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.
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SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting by a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary either
via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/Company
Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong) or via email (info@moderndairyir.
com). The Board shall proceed duly within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition to convene a general meeting to be held
within a further 21 days.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within the
Board’s purview to the Board.

Procedures for Making Proposals at Shareholder’s Meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to
be discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery,
mail or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board
of Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEELBERE

Voting by Way of Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting must be taken by
poll. The chairman of the meeting will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of the annual general meeting
pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles of Association. The relevant
details of the proposed resolutions, including biographies of each
Director standing for re-election, will be included in the circular
to Shareholders dispatched together with this annual report.
The Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during the
Reporting Year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces its
interim and annual results, management will normally meet with
institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, provide
briefings on the business progress and recent developments of
the Company. The Company has regularly participated in investor
summits and conferences to enhance communication with the
investment community. Investors are welcomed to send their
enquiries to our investor relation at info@moderndairyir.com or
browse the Company’s website (http://www.moderndairyir.com) for
latest update information of the Group. Therefore, the Company
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year
and is satisfied that the policy has been implemented effectively.

On behalf of the Board
Sun Yugang
Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
"Group") for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting
Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries is production and sale of raw
milk to customers for processing into dairy products.

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements and the notes on pages 117
to 290.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, including a fair review of
the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, key performance indicators, environmental
policies and performance, and the Group's key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have
a significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s
success depends, is set out in the sections of this annual report
headed “Acting CEO'’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and in the notes to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this announcement, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of
the Company's listed securities during the Reporting Year, except
that the trustee of the share award scheme of the Company
adopted on 26 March 2018, pursuant to the rules of this scheme,
purchased on the open market a total of 36,526,000 (2020:
20,000,000 shares) ordinary shares of the Company as restricted
shares at a consideration of approximately HK$54,689,000
(equivalent to RMB45,468,000) (2020: HK$17,255,000 (equivalent
to RMB15,763,000)). The Group retained a total number of
4,420,482 (2020: 5,510,525 shares) vesting shares as a consideration
of approximately HK$8,974,000 (equivalent to RMB7,584,000)
(2020: HKD4,519,000 (equivalent to RMB4,129,000)) for paying
the individual income tax on behalf of those selected participants
under the share award schemes of the Company.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.026 (2020: RMBO0.02) per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2021. Upon shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, which will be held on
Wednesday, 8 June 2022 (the “AGM"), the proposed final dividend
will be paid on or about Thursday, 30 June 2022 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Thursday, 16 June 2022. The Group is not aware of any
arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.

No interim dividend was paid during the Reporting Year (2020: nil).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately RMB0.35 million (2020:
RMB11.22 million).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, a discussion on the Group's
future business development and possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, and an analysis of the Group's
performance using financial key performance indicators for
Reporting Year are provided in the Acting CEO’s Statement on
pages 11 to 16 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 17 to 45 of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this report.
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The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building
up a good corporate and social relationship and motivating
staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are
committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment
and community in which we conduct business and where our
stakeholders live.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a responsible business participant, the Group strictly
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopted effective environmental
technologies to ensure our products meet the required standards
and ethics in respect of environment protection.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options, restricted share award,
employee partnership program and cash-based incentive award
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards
as a win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy
industry. The quality and safety of feed are always our primary
consideration. We have established long-term cooperation
relationship with a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that
they are in compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics.
We require the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity.
We have stringent requirements in supplier selection and that
they must satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety,
nutrients, historical record and overall performance etc. and pass
our constant examination and evaluation before becoming our
qualified suppliers.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products.

We, together with Mengniu Group expand the sales network and
increase sale forms, setting up outlets in large supermarkets. By
doing so, we hope to gradually develop customers, deliver our
fresh milk products in time, and meet consumers’ demand.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group's main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the mainland China while the Company itself is
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
are regulated by Hong Kong and mainland China laws. During the
Reporting Year and up to the date of this report, the Board was not
aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company. Please refer to the
discussions in this report and the “Corporate Governance Report”
for further details on the Group's compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association (the “Articles of
Association”), every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all loss or liabilities (to
the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference
to the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the
results of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the corporate governance practice of the Company are
set out on pages 54 to 76 of this annual report.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL

MANDATE

On 20 January 2021, the Company and the placing managers
entered into the placing agreement, in relation to the placing of
650,000,000 new ordinary shares to be issued by the Company.

The placing was completed on 27 January 2021, that the Company
issued an aggregate of 650,000,000 new shares under general
mandate to certain independent third parties at the placing price
of HK$2.40 per share and the net proceeds from the placing
amounted to approximately HK$1,552 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,295 million). The Company intends to apply
the net proceeds from the placing on infrastructure development
and herd expansion, potential mergers and acquisitions and
general working capital. As of 31 December 2021, approximately
RMB1,100 million has been used for infrastructure and herd
expansion, approximately RMB195 million has been used for
general working capital. As of 31 December 2021, all of the net
proceeds from the placing were fully utilized.

The closing price is HK$2.73 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the last trading day prior to the signing of the placing
agreement. The net price per placing share was approximately
HK$2.39. The Directors consider that the placing was an
opportunity to raise capital for the business development of the
Group and to expand the Shareholder’s base.

For details for the placing, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 20 January 2021 and 27 January 2021.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 121 and note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately RMB8,210.86 million
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB6,184.30 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 291 to 292.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2021 are set out in notes 26, 27 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The turnover attributable to the Group’s primary customers,
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 84.5% (2020: 82.0%)
of the Group's total turnover for the Reporting Year. The Group's
five largest customers contributed in aggregate 97.0% (2021: 96.8%)
of the Group’s total turnover for the year ended 31 December
2021.

During the Reporting Year, the five largest suppliers of the Group
in aggregate represented 11.6% (2020: 10.7%) of the Group's total
purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 2.8% (2020: 2.6%) of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr. Lu
Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping, and Mr. Zhao Jiejun as disclosed in the
section headed "Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
below of this report, none of the Directors or any of their associates
or any shareholder (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's top five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to

the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Gao Lina (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
resigned on 1 July 2021)

Mr. Sun Yugang (Acting Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer,
appointed on 1 July 2021 as non-executive Director and
re-designated as executive Director on 29 November 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board))

Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhang Ping

Ms. Gan Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Mang Sang (appointed on 1 July 2021)
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul (resigned on 1 July 2021)

By virtue of Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Zhu
Xiaohui had been appointed by the Board as a non-executive
Director on 1 July 2021 and was subsequently redesignated as an
executive Director with effect from 30 November 2021. Mr. Chow
Ming Sang has been appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 1 July 2021. As such, Mr. Zhu Xiaohui and Mr. Chow
Ming Sang shall be eligible to offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. Sun Yugang, Mr. Zhang Ping and Ms. Gan Lu
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM as at the date of this report.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out
in Rule3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of
independence has been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
46 to 53.

Directors’ Services Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Related Parties Transaction

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transaction” from page 96 to 105 in this annual report,
none of the “Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 44
to the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS — LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company
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EEED -RRY - HEAROKRES
MR RAR

R2021F12A31H » EFERARAEEITHRAE
MEEZENBEARNARGRERE EZE(T&
RESRAEGEA (BB EMFESNE)((EBHERE
BB EXVED MG - RN REHFT - #
BRBEEHFRPEEHIEIS2EAELR AR T
GFEMZEMOESEAR  SREEMEITA
EEHETELRR SR ETR([ZEEFA])EM
RN NEBHMRIFINER AR IT ¢

REQXTARGREBROHFR

Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares interest
B2 2R
BEEHA EaME HERGEE BRESNE DL
Ms. Gao LinaNete Interest in controlled corporation 221,581,733 2.80%
=B 2 e S EE S
Beneficial owner 11,975,173 0.15%
EmFEA
Mr. Sun Yugang Beneficial owner 1,665,694 0.02%
BERIEAE EEFEEA
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui Beneficial owner 700,000 0.01%

KBRS

BEamBEA

Note: Ms. Gao resigned on 1 July 2021. Ms. Gao holds approximately
49.12% of the interests in Jinmu Holdings Co Ltd. (“Jinmu”). Ms. Gao
is deemed to be interested in the 221,581,733 shares in the Company
held by Jinmu under the SFO.

izt : SR ETR20021F7A1BEBEET - aX+HEA
Jinmu Holdings Co Ltd(.[Jinmul) #749.12%#%
&= RBEFHFLBERG LT HEBR
Jinmufi#%221,581,733[% AN A &) B 17 7 7 5 1
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Interest in Associated Corporation
Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation are set

R AEEE R B R R i
RABROEER DRI T

out below:
Number of Approximate
shares in percentage of
associated shareholdings
Name of Director Name of associated corporation corporation interest
RAEBEE
E=nA M EE AR REE RESNVEDE
Mr. Lu Minfang China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 11,651,240 0.29%
EfEE PERFIARERAF
Mr. Zhang Ping China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 1,992,613 0.05%
R¥ELE PRERFAEEFRAA
Mr. Zhao Jiejun China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 1,861,416 0.05%

HEESLE FERFTIAERERRAT

Note: Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Zhao Jiejun are non-
executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Lu Minfang is an executive
director and chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. Zhang Ping is
the executive director and chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr.
Zhao Jiejun is the vice president and the head of milk sourcing and
supply chain business unit of Mengniu. As at the date of this report,
Mengniu holds 56.36% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Director named in the paragraphs below have interests in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

As mentioned above, each of Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping and
Mr. Zhao Jiejun, held offices in Mengniu during the Reporting
Year. Mengniu is a substantial shareholder of the Company and is
engaged in the dairy industry. Mr. Lu Minfang and Mr. Zhang Ping
are the directors of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited which
operates dairy farming business. Mr. Li Shengli was also one of
the independent non-executive directors of China Zhongdi Dairy
Holdings Company Limited (delisted, prior stock code: 1492), which
operates dairy farming business.

The above-mentioned competing business is managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration. The
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on
its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length basis, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Directors, in performance of his duty as Director, have acted and
will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive scheme as set out below, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

EENHEEBNES

RAERFEARN  TRAJNESRZEEETHE
Bin  ZEXRBREA/EAKEXRBERXE
EREAK AT BE AT -

WEXFT - EBREL  RFPEERBHESR
EEENTERFEERFER - RFE/EARAT
MEZRR - UARFEARTE - EBBEERE
FRERSTEHERBERDNEERAANES K
LRERZEENTIERR - THMNAELER
PEPHARERERAR(EERE - ATRH A
5 MDHRP (B IFERITES - HIGKER
“EENEEXRF -

FRBRFUERSHEBBYEERITHRNTAE
BEE EZR/AKERANBUNZFEER
TG EH X o FHOREKR - HBAESETT
HIEREFNRENHCKUSEEALEED
REMRITE -

B EXHREEN  RAERFEARMEE S
BRESENBRAGTRAEEXBEKLTER
RS R 2 RS R A (A

MIEI:IHIJ

MAERFEAR - NEB I EET 7 RN FHEERM
FRABRBREMNERRBHEOEERITRZA
O

IR A #8155
BTN CATE R RSB R BN AR B REE
2021512 A31H L FE I E 3T 3 T B A 85 173

A
=
B

—E--2FE PERRURERARLE 87



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEQWEE

PRE-IPO MANAGEMENT OPTIONS

The Company, on 31 October 2010, before the initial public offer
of the Company, granted management options (“Management
Options”) to Ms. Gao Lina and Mr. Han Chunlin, who was resigned
on 1 July 2021 and 1 April 2020, respectively.

These options are exercisable at the exercise price HK$0.86 per
share during the period commencing from the listing date of the
Company (26 November 2010) until 10 years from the date of grant.

All the outstanding options were exercised and 50,930,832 shares
of the Company were allotted and issued during the year ended 31
December 2020.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November 2011
(“Share Option Scheme 1")

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 17 November 2011, which expired on 16 November 2014. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014 (“Share
Option Scheme 11”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 5 June 2014, which was terminated on 9 September 2016. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September 2016
(“Share Option Scheme I11")

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme on
30 September 2016.

(@)  The purpose of the Share Option Scheme IlI

The Share Option Scheme Il seeks to provide an incentive
for the qualified participants to work with commitment
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares
for the benefit of the shareholders, and to maintain or attract
business relationships with the Qualified Participants whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth of the
Group.
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Qualified Participants

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any subsidiary
or any invested entity; (iii) any customer, business or joint
venture partner, advisor, consultant, contractor, supplier,
agent or service provider of the Company, any subsidiary
or any invested entity who is an individual; (iv) any full-time
employee of any customer, business or joint venture partner,
advisor, consultant, contractor, supplier, agent, customer
or service provider of the Company, any subsidiaries or any
invested entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme |l

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme Il shall not exceed 150,000,000 as approved by
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30
September 2016.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified participant under
the Share Option Scheme llI

Unless approved by the shareholders at a general meeting
in the manner prescribed in the Listing Rules, the Board
shall not grant options to any qualified participants if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued to that qualified participant
on exercise of his options (including both exercised and
outstanding options) during any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company at
the time.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

BERSHEE
EEgnBERTIALETERE : ()X
DA AL E R R RERIRE B EAER
HITEZHRE (TwEREGE) : (AR
Al - (R H B A B SR E BRI EM IF
HOTEZR(BRBIUIFNTES)  (i)FR
BEANARE  ERHBARREMNREE
BEIMEF  XHAAERH - BR - %A
B - AR - HER - KE - SURGHE
5 (VARE - B R RARERNRE
ERNEMNER RBHEERH  BA -
AR - AEE - HER - RE - TP
RIEHERNEMNEBES -

RBBRETENTHBITZROHBE LR

IR 201659 A30H 2 1TH IR B RIIK
g - RIEBEBREENIETRE 2
EERERITEMAZRT2ROBETERB
3%150,000,0000% °

ERENRSRERBERETBII2ER L
PR

BRIFRERIE EmRAAE T ARBRRAE
tHE BREFETHERERZHEER
EA+—EARETEEERE(BRRECT
150 R e AR 7T 165 B P o) B 1R AV 2 S BB LA )
EBHERTRERTTRFZRMDEEE
BARARERDETROBE201% 215
AT AEAEER2RERDBRE -

—E--2FE PERRURERARLE 89



REP
E

90

ORT OF THE DIRECTORS
SHEE

Performance targets and vesting of option

Once the options are granted to the relevant qualified
participant, the granted options will be deemed to be
divided into three tranches, each of which will consist of
one third of the granted options and will be associated
with the performance target. Such performance target will
be determined at the Board's discretion and specified in
the offer letter when the options are granted. The financial
period for the first tranche will be the financial year ended 31
December 2016, the financial period for the second tranche
will be the financial year ending 31 December 2017 and the
financial period for the third tranche will be the financial year
ending 31 December 2018. The corresponding tranche will
be cancelled if less than 80% of the performance target set
for the relevant financial period is met. The corresponding
tranche will accrue on a pro-rata basis if 80% or more of the
performance target set for the relevant financial period is
met. The corresponding tranche will accrue in full if 100% of
the performance target set for the relevant financial period
is met. The granted options accrued shall vest on a one-off
basis within 30 days after the date of publication of the results
announcement for the year ended 31 December 2018. Any
granted options not accrued as a result of non-fulfilment of
any performance target shall automatically lapse.

Timing for exercise of options
The vested options could only be exercised within one (1)
year on the day when they become vested and after such
period the vested options will automatically lapse (to the
extent not already exercised).

Payment for acceptance of option
Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.0
to the Company as a consideration for the grant.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the Board
but in any event shall be at least highest of: (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the offer
date; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.
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(i) Period of the Share Option Scheme llI
Subject to earlier termination by the Company at a general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme IlI shall
be valid and effective for a period of three years from 30
September 2016.

All the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017 and no new share option has
been granted under Share Option Scheme Il since.

As at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme I
and Share Option Scheme lII.

The related accounting policy for the fair values of the share
options are set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme which was
adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016 (the “Share Award
Scheme 1”), and on 26 March 2018 the Company adopted a new
share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme ") which shall
remain effective for ten years. The goal of the share award schemes
are to motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.

Share Award Scheme |

As at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil), there were no outstanding
awarded shares being unvested. For the avoidance of doubt,
any restricted share granted prior to 26 March 2018, shall for
all purposes continue to be administered and take effect in
accordance with the rules of Share Award Scheme I.

Share Award Scheme I

As the total contributed amount of the Share Award Scheme |
has reached its limit in 2017, the Company adopted Share Award
Scheme Il on 26 March 2018.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be effective from the adoption
date and shall continue in full force and effect for an initial term of
ten (10) years commencing on the adoption date.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

() IBRRESTENNEH
BRAXARRBREAES LRESSRAKILE
G BERRHERTEIINF 201659 A30B 5t 2
= FHRE R ER ©

HRASRFREMNAET RS ZNEER MG
M ARITE AR - ZIRE BAMN201743
H2185EK - Bt - BRETENNIE T &KX T
FTHBERRAE -

RASE B BRERT S BREEILE
PR ST EINTR T I 8 1) R 7T {2 HO B ASCAE -

BREAFEZ ARSI RRERNFE M B RE
B5E4 o

R An R BT

AR BEEE 201659 A9 B B AN H) IR H 14 AR 5
HEE SR RBETEN) - RARFN2018%F
3R 26 A TR = — # A B2 BT &I ([ R 47 SR B =t
BNl - Rty BEVE BB T FRR - RO R
Bt a3 EBEE AARREAIERAEERLE
ARBEEDZERR WS AREEERHESE
B’

% 10 88 Bt 2
MR2021612A318 - HEBITEINE RFBH R
AR 15 (2020%F « #&) - B4R - 20185F3H26
B 2 BT FT % T 89 (170 PR ) 1 AR 10 8 48 48 3 BR AR (D)
SRV EIR BB E T IE R AR

B0 dE B Et &

R D 2R ET &I M FRABREE 7R 2017F &3 £
IR FTUAAR R BIFA20184F3 B 26 H R 4 A% 15 42 B
&N

B BB ET 8111 B 5/ B AR AE 2 - e PR B R
BB +(10)F IR S R MR 2 E U R AER -

—E--E5H PERRKEEREEAT 91



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
E &tl:%

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the scheme trustee in accordance with the scheme
rules and the trust deed between the Company and the scheme
trustee. The Trustee is an independent third party to the Company.

On 25 March 2021, the Board granted 23,200,000 restricted shares
as awarded shares to 160 selected participants under the Share
Award Scheme II. A total of 36,526,000 ordinary shares (2020:
20,000,000 shares) of the Company were purchased from open
market by the trustee of the scheme at a total consideration of
approximately HK$54,689,000 (equivalent to RMB45,468,000)
during the Reporting Year (2020: HK$17,255,000 (equivalent
to RMB15,763,000)). On 9 December 2021, the Board granted
8,565,000 restricted shares to 48 selected participants under the
Share Award Scheme II. A total number of 17,591,800 of awarded
shares under Share Award Scheme Il was vested to certain
members of management and the eligible employees during the
Reporting Year.

The awarded shares granted are subject to the terms and condition
of the scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to
the vesting of the awarded shares imposed on such selected
participant as specified in the rules of the scheme and the grant
notice.

For details of the Share Award Scheme I, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2018. Further details
of the share award schemes are also set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Employee Partnership Program

As the Company's business scale continues to expand, operating
management and incentive system shall keep up with the times.
The traditional rationale of management by objectives has
limitations. How to ignite employees’ working enthusiasm to serve
the company proactively, and enhance their sense of ownership
and strive for the development of the company together are the
topics that the Company needs to cope with in depth. Therefore,
on top of the existing restricted share award schemes, the
Company has specially formulated an employee partnership profit-
sharing program (the “Employee Partnership Program”) with aim
to build a community of shared interests amongst the Company
and its employees.

Many leading enterprises in mainland China realized that the
partnership systems are closely correlated to a sustainable
development of the company, and start to implement the
partnership management system one after another, allowing
employees and company to build a community of shared interests,
business and future.
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The Employee Partnership Program is a model of contemporary
management that combines incentives and management.
Leveraging the platform provided by the Company, the program
will motivate the partners on the basis of profit sharing while the
partners will be empowered with more rights as well as to bear
more responsibilities driving to the success of the Company.

The management concept and model of “Employee Partnership
Program” includes two phases. The first phase is to implement the
“employee profit sharing” program, and the second phase is to
facilitate both “profit sharing” and “performance progress reward”
program. As accumulating experience during the implementation
of two phases, the Company will continue to launch a more
comprehensive and scientific Employee Partnership Program in the
future.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed "Pre-IPO
Management Options”, “Share Options” and “Share Award
Schemes"” above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company to
have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
or its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other corporate.

UPDATE ON INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE
LISTING RULES

Mr. LU Minfang, a non-executive Director and chairman of
the Board, was appointed as a non-executive director and the
chairman of the board of directors of China Shengmu Organic Milk
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, with effect from 30 July
2021. Mr. ZHANG Ping, a non-executive Director of the Board,
was appointed as an executive director of the Mengniu with effect
from 1 December 2021. Mr. Chow Ming Sang was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Redco Healthy
Living Company Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (stock
code: 2370) with effect from 14 March 2022. Save for disclosed
above, there were no changes in the information of Directors
since the date of the 2020 annual report of the Company and the
announcement of the Company dated 28 June 2021 in relation to,
among others, the resignation, appointment and re-designation
of Directors, which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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There is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER
THE SFO

As at 31 December 2021 the interests or short positions of
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in
the shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFQO), as recorded in the register required to be maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of substantial

BEEMERERE ETRBE13.51B1)ET A

REIFSRPERINKRRATHRE

BERAR

R2021%12831H » TERR(BEEHARAE
BITHRABREESENBEABRINRAAE K
HIgHAE (F & R FH R BAEEGIEXVER) &%
%~ ARG RMESPEARIEES RBEEG
FIIEBE DN ELMAEREIARNT

Percentage of
the Company's
issued Share

94

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital®
AR
BRITRA
TERREE B/ @k EEREA B
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited  Beneficial interest 4,461,041,882 (L) 56.36%
HRSFAERRDF EnEn
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
hRESRERRETAA BOCI Financial Products Limited) 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
TEHEEER
(BERTREARSRERERAF)
Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
XEHEEER
(BRRMEAETIREERAF)
Bank of China Limited Interest in controlled corporation (through 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
FRISRTTRODBR A F BOCI Financial Products Limited) 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
XTI EEER
(BRTPREAESRERERAR)
Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%

Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
AL
(BERRMEBETREARAR)
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Percentage of
the Company's

Name of substantial issued Share
shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital®
BERATR
ERITRAE
TERRER 5/ ERME EERYA BaE®
BOC International Holdings Limited Interest in controlled corporation (through 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
FEREGIERAR AR BOCI Financial Products Limited) 542,053,596 (9) 6.85%
X EE RS
FERTPRERERERBRLTF)
BOCI Financial Products Limited Beneficial interest 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
FRERERERBRAR Ban 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
HAEEAERNHERAA GGG Holdings Limited)
Z PRI AE % (B BGGG Holdings Limited)
New Century Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
(through GGG Holdings Limited)
XA BE R (B BGGG Holdings Limited)
Liu Chang Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%

GGG Holdings Limited)

YT A E % (E BGGG Holdings Limited)

Notes:

(1) Among which up to 613,877,227 shares of the Company have been
lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited pursuant to a securities
lending agreement dated 17 June 2020 entered into between
Mengniu as lender and BOCI Financial Products Limited as borrower.

(2) Based on 7,915,662,048 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

(3)  (S) Indicates a short position.

4) (L) Indicates a long position.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2021.

B EE

(1)  HEPH&%613,877, 2271 A RARRMNCRERSTS
(EAEFN) BHRHEBRSRHEREGRAREA
1ﬁ*h}\>ﬁﬁuT¢E|HH7%2020¢6H1759@1%%55%

ETRRERCHERBRA

()  EHR2021F12H31H 2 #17897,915,662,048A% A%
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Off-Take Agreement

The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,
and in 23 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,
Modern Farming entered into an off-take agreement (the “Off-
Take Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), pursuant to which
the Company shall supply raw milk to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date: 24 October 2008

Parties: ()  Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Mengniu

Nature of the Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to Inner
Transaction: Mongolia Mengniu.

Committed Both parties shall start to discuss estimates
Purchase: of annual supply three months prior to the

beginning of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed
amount, Modern Farming shall be entitled to
require Inner Mongolia Mengniu to purchase,
subject to certain limitations, all of its raw milk
production in the upcoming calendar year.

Right to sell to Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its
other parties: raw milk produced daily at each dairy farm
to third parties at its discretion, except to
two of Mengniu's competitors. Other than
the aforesaid, the Off-Take Agreement
contains no other restrictions on Modern
Farming's sales of raw milk to third parties or
development of its own dairy products.
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Pricing: The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu is determined through
a formula which is calculated with reference
to a base price with upward adjustment for
meeting certain quality standards, such as
the level of fat and protein content and other
upward adjustments if the Modern Farming's
farms are within an agreed proximity to
Mengniu Group' s dairy processing plants.
The base price is based on the price which
Mengniu Group at the relevant time offers
to buy raw milk from other mid-to large-
scale dairy farms (which can offer raw milk of
comparable quality) or, if there are no such
mid-to large-scale dairy farms in such region,
other comparable dairy farms in nearby
regions with adjustments (reflecting the prices
in different regions).

The base price and upward adjustment
payable by Mengniu Group under the Off-
Take Agreement shall not be lower than the
base price and upward adjustment it pays
respectively to other mid-to-large- scale
dairy farms in the same region (other than
short-term reward programs offered to milk
suppliers that only account for a small portion
of Mengniu Group's total raw milk purchases).
Inner Mongolia Mengniu also grants Modern
Farming an option to sell to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu the same amount of raw milk at
the same terms and prices Inner Mongolia
Mengniu offers to any third party suppliers.

Term: The Off-Take Agreement shall be for an term
of 10 years commencing from 24 October
2008 and was automatically extended for
another 10 years on 24 October 2018 in the
absence of any force majeure or events of
default to 23 October 2028.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2013. The Off-Take
Agreement was automatically extended on 24 October 2018 for
another ten years in accordance with its terms.
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The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately RMBS5,570,547,000 (2020: RMB4,939,178,000).

Framework Supply Agreement with Fuyuan International

Modern Farming, after entering into the Framework Supply
Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as amended by the Amendment
Agreement to the Framework Supply Agreement on 28 November
2017 and renewed on 31 December 2019 (collectively the
“Framework Supply Agreement”) with Fuyuan International
together with its subsidiaries “Fuyuan Group”), could secure stable
and high quality feedstuffs supply from Fuyuan International, which
are more cost effective and could alleviate Company’s production

cost.
Date: 16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017 and renewed on 31 December 2019.
Parties: (i) Modern Farming as the buyer; and
(i)  Fuyuan International as the seller.
Duration: For a term commencing from the effective

date of the Framework Supply Agreement to
31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the Framework Supply
Agreement, (i) the Modern Farming agrees

Principal Terms:

to purchase the feedstuffs that meet the
quality requirements of the Modern Farming
which are delivered to the relevant farms
of the Modern Farming, and (ii) the Fuyuan
Group agrees to sell and deliver the feedstuff
for dairy cows, which meet the quality
requirements of Modern Farming, to the
respective farms of the Modern Farming.

98 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

REZE2021F 128318 ILEE - RIBRBEHER
EHHE ALY E ARYS 570,547,000t (2020
£ AR#4,939,178,0007T) °

HERBEIFRAOERMERZR
HEREREREWNBARAB EREE)GIL
HHEIA2017F6 A 16 B WHE SR FE 55 (72017 4F
11 A28 B &1 5T R 20195F12 A3 HEFTHIESR
HEBZENET B (REEREEREDER])
% BRREGEE)JEESREEREBCHEES
fAR BT ARSI B BREARQRAE
BRA o

HEH: 201768168 (72017911 A28
A&EET RR2019E 1283188

7D e

BRABE(REE)(FRE
)R

FEORE (i)

(i) BREERWEREN) -
FH EREEGHENERBHRES
20225 12R318 1k~

REBEEREEGZE  (VRREE
(RE)REBEEXTBEAKE
(REDHEBEBENTARRAKE
(RE)EEZRNEH - k()E
REBE R B L&Y EX B RAK
X (EE)HEBHZNTARAK
E(EE)EEERNMAR -



Pricing:

Effective Date:

Annual Capacity:

The price payable and other payment terms
by the Modern Farming to the Fuyuan Group
shall be determined by reference to the
lowest quoted price and other payment terms
at which the Modern Farming could obtain
the same type of feedstuffs from independent
third party (whether local or overseas); for
this purpose, the Modern Farming will seek
quotations from at least two independent
parties offering the same type of feedstuffs
each time.

The Framework Supply Agreement is effective
on the date it was signed.

The purchase of feedstuffs under the
Framework Supply Agreement for the periods:

1. commencing from the effective date
of the renewed Framework Supply
Agreement to 31 December 2020:
RMB150 million;

2. From 1 January 2021 to 31 December

2021: RMB180 million;

3. From 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022: RMB210 million.

The aggregate purchase of feedstuff for the year ended 31
December 2021 from Fuyuan Group amounted to RMB169,631,000
(2020: RMB115,264,000). On 29 November 2021, the acquisition
of Fuyuan International was completed and Fuyuan International

become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and it's

financial results were incorporated in the financial statement of the

Company. The purchase of feedstuffs from Fuyuan Group were

ceased to constituted a connected transaction between Fuyuan

Group and the Company.
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Framework Supply Agreement with Keniule

Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. (“"Modern Faming Wuhe"),
a company incorporated in the PRC and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Supply Agreement
with Keniule, pursuant to which Modern Faming Wuhe agreed
to supply, and Keniule Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Keniule”), a
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an
associate of Mengniu, Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk
produced by Modern Farming Wuhe from time to time during the

Term.
Date:

Parties:

Duration:

Principal Terms:

Pricing:

Annual Capacity:

25 September 2021.

(i) Modern Farming Wuhe as the buyer;
and

(i) Keniule as the seller.

From 25 September 2021 to 31 December
2021.

Modern Farming Wuhe agreed to supply, and
Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk
produced by Modern Farming Wuhe during
the Term.

The price of the fresh raw milk supplied under
the Supply Agreement shall be negotiated
and determined between the parties on the
grounds of fairness and by reference to (i)
the price of fresh raw milk of same quality
standards at which Modern Farming Wuhe
supplies to its other major customers in the
same region; and (ii) the market guidance
prices published by dairy associations in the
East China region in 2021.

The annual cap in respect of the supply
and purchase of fresh raw milk during
the Term under the Supply Agreement
is RMB50,000,000. The annual cap was
determined with reference to the estimated
unit price of fresh raw milk and the expected
volume to be purchased by Keniule during
the Term.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Supply Agreement
the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately

RMB13,735,000.

100
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Framework Supply Agreement with Aiyuanniu

Modern Farming, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Farm Supplies Framework Agreement
with Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Mengniu (“ Aiyangniu Technology”),
in relation to the supply of Farm Supplies by the Aiyangniu
Technology Group to the Modern Farming.

Date: 24 August 2021.

Parties: (i) Modern Farming as the buyer; and

(i) Aiyangniu Technology as the supplier.

Duration: For a term commencing from August 24, 2021
to December 31, 2021.

Pricing: The price payable by the Modern Farming
to the Aiyangniu Technology Group shall
be determined by reference to the lowest
quoted price at which the Modern Farming
could obtain from independent third parties
(whether local or overseas) for the same
types of Farm Supplies. For this purpose, the
Modern Farming will seek quotations from at
least two independent third parties offering
the same types of Farm Supplies each time

Annual Capacity: The annual cap in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Farm Supplies
Framework Agreement commencing from
August 24, 2021 to December 31, 2021 is
RMB100,000,000.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Farm Supplies
Framework Agreement the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately RMB35,372,000.
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Framework Supply Agreement with Baoding Mengniu
Zhongyuan Muye Company Limited (“Zhongyuan Muye"),
a subsidiary of the Company, has entered into a milk supply
agreement with Baoding Mengniu Beverage Company Limited
(IRESFHBBMRAF]), a company incorporated with limited
liabilities under the Iaws of the PRC, which is a subsidiary of
Mengniu (“Baoding Mengniu”) in December 2020 (as further
amended by a supplemental agreement entered into between the
parties in April 2021) (the “Milk Supply Agreement”), pursuant to
which Baoding Mengniu agreed to purchase from the Zhongyuan
Muye, and the Zhongyuan Muye agreed to supply to Baoding
Mengniu, fresh raw milk.

Date: 29 December 2020 and subsequently
amended on 8 April, 2021
Parties: (i) Zhongyuan Muye as the supplier; and
(i)  Baoding Mengniu as the buyer.
Duration: From January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2025.
Pricing: The final purchase price of fresh raw milk

shall be calculated with reference to a base
price, plus transportation subsidy, and
adjusted based on the quality standards of
the fresh raw milk supplied (such as level of
fat and protein content, microbial content
and somatic cell content). The base price will
be adjusted in accordance with movements
in market price, and shall be negotiated and
determined on the grounds of fairness. The
base price payable by Baoding Mengniu
under the Milk Supply Agreement shall not
be lower than the price it pays for purchasing
fresh raw milk of the same physicochemical
indices from any third party in the area where
the Target Company is located. The Target
Company will review the base price from time
to time to ensure compliance with the pricing
terms.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Milk Supply

Agreement the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately RMB250,907,000.
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Milk Supply Agreement between Fuyuan International and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Fuyuan International entered into a milk supply agreement on
February 27, 2014 (“Milk Supply Agreement 2014") with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mogolia
nengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu, pursuant to which Inner
Mongolia Mengniu agreed to purchase fresh raw milk from Fuyuan
International and its subsidiaries, and Fuyuan International agreed
to supply fresh raw milk it produces to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.
Fuyuan International has become the subsidiary of the Company
on 29 November 2021, and therefore, the transactions between
the Fuyuan International and Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the
Milk Supply Agreement 2014 will constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.
Date: February 27, 2014
Parties: (1) Fuyuan International
(2)  Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Duration: From February 27, 2014 to February 28, 2034
Pricing policy: The final purchase price of fresh raw milk shall

be calculated with reference to a base price
on the basis of regions, adjusted based on
the quality standards of the fresh raw milk
supplied (such as level of fat and protein
content, acidity and microbial content). The
base price will be adjusted in accordance with
movements in market price. Inner Mongolia
Mengniu undertakes that the base price
payable under the Milk Supply Agreement
2014 shall not be lower than the price it pays
for purchasing fresh raw milk of the same
physicochemical indices from any third party
in the area where Fuyuan International is
located.
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Settlement terms: (1) Fuyuan International shall issue an invoice
for the confirmed settlement amount of the
previous month to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
before the 10th day of each month; and
(2) Inner Mongolia Mengniu shall pay the
invoiced amount to the designated account
of Fuyuan International before the 30th day of

each month.

Details of the Milk Supply Agreement 2014 have been disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 29 November 2021.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Milk Supply
Agreement 2014 from 29 November 2021 to 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately RMB156,461,000.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected transactions
of the Company that are subjected to be reported in the annual
report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

() in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company
to report the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of all of
its continuing connected transactions.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions have been
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and are set out in the announcements of the Company which are
available at the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website and the
Company'’s website at www.moderndairyir.com.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 22 March 2021, the Company (as purchaser) entered into
Fuyuan Acquisition Agreement with, among others, certain sellers
(the “Sellers”) and Fuyuan International to acquire the entire equity
at a consideration of RMB3.48
billion. Fuyuan International is indirectly owned as to 43.35% by

interests in Fuyuan International

Mengniu, a substantial shareholder and connected person of
the Company. One of the Sellers, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, is
a subsidiary of Mengniu. Therefore, both Fuyuan International
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu are associates of Mengniu and
connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the Acquisition
contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement (including
the issue of the Consideration Shares) also constituted a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The acquisition of Fuyuan International by the Company was
completed on 29 November 2021.

For details of the Fuyuan Acquisition Agreement and the
transaction contemplated thereunder, please refer the Company’s
announcement dated 22 March 2021 and circular dated 14 May
2021.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, environment pollution,
market developments and financial risks. The Audit Committee
reviews risk-related policies and scrutinizes that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling risks
arising from the Group's business activities, changing external risks
and regulatory environment, and report to the Board on the above.
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Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such
risk is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group's operations to ensure that the Group's risk of
losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud, errors,
omissions and other operational and compliance matters, are
adequately managed.

Financial Risks

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures
and may enter into currency forward contracts or currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure. Furthermore, with aim to tackle the risk of interest rate
fluctuation, the management regularly reviews and assesses the
Group's exposure to interest rate movement and may consider
entering into interest rate swap contracts or other hedging
strategies when necessary.

The principal financial risks are set out in Notes 38 and 39 to
the consolidated financial statements headed “Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming
Sang, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Zhang Ping. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company, and discussed
the risk management and internal control systems and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited results for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Details of the significant events after 31 December 2021 of
the Group are set out in Note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The
Company has not changed its auditor in the past 3 years.

On behalf of the Board
Lu Minfang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 117
to 290, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEREZER

AREEZZEEW

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEERTEERARERTRNGE

Fair value of milkable cows

T ATE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2021 and the significant degree of estimates made by the
management in determining such fair values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“RMB") 6,060
million as at 31 December 2021. These biological assets are
measured at fair value less costs to sell at the end of each
reporting period.

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair values of milkable cows are determined by
using the multi-period excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be generated by such
milkable cows. The management’s estimation is primarily based
on the discount rate, the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg"”) of raw
milk. The management has engaged an independent valuer to
assist in assessing the fair values of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation uncertainty
on their fair values are set out in Notes 4, 19 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the fair value of
milkable cows included:

Understanding and evaluating the Group's
relevant internal controls over the fair value
determination of milkable cows;

Evaluating the independent valuer’s
objectivity, qualifications and competence;

Involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and comparing the discount
rates applied in the discounted future
cash flows calculation with the acceptable
range calculated by out internal valuation
specialists;

Comparing the key assumptions, including
the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield
at each lactation cycle and the estimated
feed costs per kg of raw milk by comparing
to historical and industry data; and

Comparing the actual results for the
current year with management'’s cash flow
projections prepared in the previous review
to evaluate the accuracy of management's
budgeting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

B % BT RS
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FHEEZBESBEAAENERTEEMN - #
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AE M EEZHBEREPRBEAELIER
EMBHRERTOEERE - HERBKET
& RIERTRMER - HfERHEREE
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o RRBAEKIFRAATEEY BEREEX

+ 435 4o A
FRIELSE o

s MERAMBHBERNEBERTA  BBR
AR BREEEER  URGEEMBRERE
BRERBEBEIZMER -

o 3 BEEERNERBIEBKEBHMEERE
B R MEENERER - WEHGRE U
BREXRER - BMABREKESEZNTR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

f8 N 1% B R R &
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ZEEMBRGEMERRBAREN

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEEw

STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with HEBEEARREETEEBNETEF @ BMETY
governance, we determine those matters that were of most AHMGAMBRENELRAEENSEIE -
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements ~ E MK EEEIXZEZE - RPEZEEREPHE
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. MZEZEEIE * RIEERIER T A FAMBEEZ
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or % ZE18 » KERKFERMEBERT @ WEIETEHE
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, FHEfiHmEFBEBESTHEENNEARRBHES
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter ARz @ IR MRAE T EEREFEEZS
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 18

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent HEBY ZHARENBEZEBEGRALE

auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung. W o

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu EEBAER S AT
Certified Public Accountants HEBTAD

Hong Kong BE

29 March 2022 20223 H29H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REREaRkEMEEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

2021 2020
20215 20204
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
M & AR®T R AREFT
Revenue WA 5 7,078,470 6,020,247
Cost of sales HER AR 7 (6,907,441) (5,838,973)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw HREHUIERZ A FE
milk at fair value less costs to sell at TEEE P AR VIIE TR
the point of harvest EX G 19 2,378,446 2,277,414
Gross profit E A 2,549,475 2,458,688
Loss arising from changes in fairvalue ~ ILFAFELZERILFHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows RAEEREE 19 (956,011) (1,031,316)
Other income H A 6 123,835 86,675
Impairment losses under expected credit TBHIEEEE(FEHREEEE])
loss (“ECL”) model, net of reversal BRTRERE - fIkED 9 (476) (5)
Other gains and losses, net H bz N E5 18 558 7 51,103 142,514
Selling and distribution costs HERDHFAX (183,732) (194,440)
Administrative expenses THAX (379,065) (374,155)
Other expenses HEAX (8,703) (16,503)
Share of results of associates iy AN 36,928 31,570
Profit before finance costs and tax B B & kAN B B IE A v A 7 1,233,354 1,103,028
Finance costs BB KA 8 (198,132) (318,624)
Profit before tax B A5 B g A 1,035,222 784,404
Income tax expense FriS i 10 (2,023) (639)
Profit for the year F A F 1,033,199 783,765
Other comprehensive (expense) HitbZ2mEBIx), WA :
income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit T2 E# 7 A BaHEE -
or loss:
Fair value (loss) gain on investments in & A FEFT AE M2 ENAK
equity instruments at fair value through ~ #z= T AKE QN FE
other comprehensive income (E518) Wk (2,425) 1,121
Items that may be reclassified HiZRE B 57X B8 w aY
subsequently to profit or loss: HE -
Exchange differences on translation R EEHMERENNEEN
from functional currency to M =R
presentation currency (40) =
Other comprehensive (expense) income FREM2ME (F) WA -
for the year, net of income tax MERFTEH (2,465) 1,121
Total comprehensive income for the year A% HK A BEE 1,030,734 784,886
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEBEmkEMEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

2021 2020
20214 20204
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000

B & ARBTR ARETT

Profit for the year attributable to: AT R EIEFARRET
Owners of the Company PN/NCIEZ ZE DN 1,018,832 770,010
Non-controlling interests FEPERE R = 14,367 13,755
1,033,199 783,765
Total comprehensive income for NTEFEIEFAZE
the year attributable to: WA LREE -
Owners of the Company RRBHER A 1,016,407 771,110
Non-controlling interests FIEFERS A = 14,327 13,776
1,030,734 784,886
Earnings per share (RMB) BREN(ARE) 14
Basic BN 14.43 cents 7 12.07 cents 7
Diluted BE 14.39 cents 7 12.04 cents 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B B R R R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 720214F12 H31H

2021 2020
20215 20204
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
M & ARET R AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE REE 15 5,312,970 3,317,719
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 725,164 303,849
Goodwill e 17 2,075,591 1,322,457
Other intangible assets Hih\ &&= 3,777 -
Interests in associates NG F e 18 353,278 289,860
Equity instruments at fair value through A FEFTAEMEE
other comprehensive income AR EZ T A 2,655 5,080
Biological assets EMEE 19 9,404,924 7,101,243
Prepayments TE R RIE 21 54,238 =
Derivative financial instruments TEemMIA 22 67,537 =
Pledged bank deposits EERIRITIFH 24 127,043 122,706
Bank balances RITREER 24 201,881 20,637
Deferred tax assets EERIRE EE 10 2,337 =
18,331,395 12,483,551
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20 2,191,269 1,158,643
Trade and other receivables and FEULE 5 BR 3% Ho b FE UL
prepayments FRIALA KT IR 21 1,221,871 706,659
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMTAE 22 - 11,145
Other financial assets Hit e & E 23 - 50,000
Pledged bank deposits BEHIRITER 24 41,631 34,503
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 24 1,887,744 1,123,710
5,342,515 3,084,660
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables FES B 2 IR R R H At FE S 3R 25 3,144,194 1,410,786
Tax payable &R IR 1,903 364
Bank borrowings RITIEK 26 2,380,683 3,471,314
Other borrowings HAb AR 27 433,676 -
Lease liabilities HERE 29 50,435 23,851
Long term bonds REAES 28 31,989 -
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMTAE 22 17,758 59,338
Contract liabilities aHAafk 30 5,343 198
6,065,981 4,965,851
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBREREE (723,466) (1,881,191)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEME
LIABILITIES 17,607,929 10,602,360
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR B B F IR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 720214512 H31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
M &E ARET T ARETTT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXR#HE
Share capital & 32 675,869 555,535
Reserves Bt 10,189,062 7,341,388
Equity attributable to owners of N/NCIEZ Z PNy
the Company 10,864,931 7,896,923
Non-controlling interests JEVERR FE 249,803 141,521
TOTAL EQUITY miER 11,114,734 8,038,444
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBAE
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmIA 22 98,330 24,000
Trade and other payables ENEZERREMENTIE 25 23,967 =
Bank borrowings RITERK 26 2,285,333 2,171,012
Other borrowings HAb AR 27 203,328 -
Long term bonds REAES 28 3,159,730 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 517,077 196,042
Deferred tax liabilities EERIARE 10 20,868 =
Deferred income EIEUA 31 184,562 172,862
6,493,195 2,563,916
17,607,929 10,602,360

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 290 were  HE MR 117 = 2908 M 4R & B 75 R &R 720224 3 A
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 29B#&ZEE e EREEHIBITREREE
March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

LU Minfang SUN Yugang
E#H BER
Director Director
= =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEmSER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRAREARL
Shares held Fair value
Share Share underthe through other Non-
Share Share Other  options award  Share Award  comprehensive Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve Schemes incomereserve  reserve  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
RH%E  RATEFA
BRE RO%XE itEET afp2E
BE  BBHEE EHERE i BE  FEENRG bARE BEBRE REEA Mt FERER ait
RMBOO0 ~ RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT ARRTL ARBTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2020 RANE1A18 551007 4945381 910829 5286 4910 (57012 216%3) - 682800 70815 126184 7207701
Proftforthe year ERE - - - - - - - - TO00 IO 7 T8N
Other comprehensive income ~ EREHZERA
forthe year = = = = = = 1,100 = = 1,100 il 112
Total comprehensive income ~ FA2ARALE
forthe year - - - - - - 1,100 - T000 710 13776 784886
Share purchase for the Share ~ SHIR KAIET IR
Awrd Schemes (Note 340) B E(HE340) - - - - = (19892 = = -8 - (1989)
Reversal due tovestingof ~ ERERNEEMER
award shares (Note 34(b) (H34b) - - - - (M2 29560 = = (5.333) = = =
Recognition of equitysettled  EFRREZEHRH
share-based payment SUEIREAGER)
(Note 34b) - - - - 806 - - - - 26806 - 26806
Exercise of Management fREREENE
Options (Note 34(a) (3 34a) 458 01 - 529 - - - - - B - R
Eouity ransactions related to ~ AES. 8 E3ARE
interestfree loans Note 3 X5 (H5£32) = - (150) - - - - - - (1,561) 1561 -
At 31 December 2020 RANE12ANA 595535 4985082 969,268 - 1489 (47,344) (20,593 - 1447486 7896923 SN 803844
Proftforthe year Epai - - - - - - - - 1018832 1018832 14367 1,033,199
Other comprehensive expense  EAEM2 AR
forthe year - - - - - - (2,385) (40) - (2,425) (40)  (2.465)
Total comprehensive income A2 ERALE
forthe year - - - - - - (2,385) (40) 1,018,832 1,016,407 14327 1,030,734
Share purchase forthe Share SR EEHERIR(
Avard Schemes (Note 34b) ~ EE (HE34) - - - - - (53,052) - - - (3,05) - (53,08)
Reversal due to vesting of REBRhZERED
anardshares Note34)) ~ (FFiE34b) - - - - ) 13,865 - - 4y - - -
Recognition of equitysetled  BERERESZIRN
share-based payment SULRE(GRET)
(Note 34(o) - - - - 224 - - - - 24 - 24
Equity transactions related o~ BB EEHNRERS
interest free loans - - 6,694 - - - - - - (6,694) 6,694 -
Issue o shares (Note 32 HRh(HED) 120334 2,053,786 - - - - - - - 2174120 - 2174120
Dividends distrioution (Note 13)  FRE7E (13) - (142532) - - - - - - - (142532)  (16,308)  (158,840)
Aoquisition of subsidiaries KB AR (H3E35)
(Note 35) - - - - - - - - - - 95755 95755
Establishment of anonwholly B2 ENEAR
owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 29,000 29,000
Acquisition of non-controlling ~ WEEHEB A FIRFEER
interests in @ subsidlary iR
(Note 32) - - (42,465) - - - - - - (42465  (21,186)  (63,651)
AL 31 December 201 RODEANR e 6896336 920109 - W26 @SN (2978 (0 2461900 10864931 29803 1111473
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REeBRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

2021 2020
202145 20204
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE AREET T ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETEH
Profit before tax B 5t AT A 1,035,222 784,404
Adjustments for: AT REEL R
Depreciation of property, plant and BENBROYZE
equipment charged to profit or loss B R i e 281,624 262,525
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BB NEREE A
charged to profit or loss BENE 13,899 10,573
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ F B 7 & 2 # §H 54 =
Impairment losses under expected FRHREEEEEE TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal B8 - FkREE 476 5
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE - 48,809
Bank interest income |RITH EWA (46,143) (18,308)
Government grants credited to income & A BB 5 b (47,733) (31,131)
Finance costs BB R 198,132 318,624
Share of results of associates FEAGE &N R XA (36,928) (31,570)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries mERB AT WS - (72,280)
Loss on fair value changes of MTEERIARNTEEY
derivative financial instruments &1 25,346 27,032
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERE
plant and equipment B8 9,659 13,110
Gains on fair value changes of other HheMEELAFERZS
financial assets BB (1,821) (1,012)
Net foreign exchange gains from bank KRB RITER L REESFH
borrowings and long term bonds HNEE Uy 2% HR 40 (86,186) (173,760)
Equity-settled share award expense ARSHE 45 B ) R £ 22 B Bl 2 22,224 26,806
Loss arising from changes in fair value HERTFEEESRIFHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows RAEENER 956,011 1,031,316
Operating cash flows before EEEREHINLERS
movements in working capital ME 2,323,836 2,195,143
Increase in inventories FE®EM (309,389) (61,320)
Increase in trade and other receivables ~ FEUE 5 AR5 I B fth FE UL
and prepayments A /USﬁEH % TE 15 (167,762) (86,012)
Decrease in trade and other payables FENT E 5 AR H A
IR D 19,828 (108,763)
Increase in contract liabilities BB EEMN 4,175 9
Cash generated from operations EREANES 1,870,688 1,939,057
Income taxes paid BFEH (1,982) (409)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETDRERSFH
ACTIVITIES 1,868,706 1,938,648
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

“/\ EE & //IL = 25
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @izomiuﬂ JNELFE

2021 2020
2021%F 2020%F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
B = AR® T ARETIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received 2 U F 8 42,989 15,099
Purchases of property, plant and BAYE B R
equipment X (489,318) (254,635)
Purchases of other intangible assets BAREMEEEE (451) =
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEERNK (9,324) =
Addition in biological assets EMEELE (1,503,301) (1,229,626)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FADEHETER (13,893) (154,503)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RREERRITER 27,807 80,122
Placement of time deposits with GARINEBEBB=FEAKN
original maturity over three months F B TER (330,000) (40,578)
Withgrawal of time deposits with RN BEEBB=EAN
original maturity over three months EHFER 20,000 67,653
Placement of other financial assets FAEMSRMEE (577,000) (200,000)
Withdrawal of other financial assets R EMEmEE 627,000 151,012
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEREKBS
plant and equipment FRIE 15,588 5,087
Proceeds from disposal of dairy cows & FL A PTS I8 789,226 665,238
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use HEERBEEEMSHKIA
assets 394 -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries dE M B A R TS FIE 36 7,406 133,984
Government grants received 2B AR 59,433 46,315
Investment in an associate NGB (7,721) (42,898)
Net cash outflow on business E¥BAEHREREFE
combination 35 (1,537,006) =
Net cash outflow on asset acquisitions BEWER AL F5E (1,659) =
Loan to a third party ME=FEX - (8,000)
Loan repayment from a third party BE=HEREXK 6,000 -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REFZBHMARESFHE
ACTIVITIES (2,873,830) (765,730)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R EE
Dividends paid BRI E (142,532) =
Interest paid =ANELESS (191,672) (250,100)
New bank borrowings raised FEERTER 3,506,705 5,391,559
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRITER (5,936,189) (5,109,013)
Repayment of other borrowings 15 BHAMER (21,573) (1,050,000)
Settlement of derivative financial HEETESRT A
instruments . (170) 77,975
Payment of transaction cost for bank SATIRITIEREIR S KA
gorrowmgs - (25,145)
Proceeds on issue of bonds BEITESATSRIA 3,200,760 =
Repayments of leases liabilities 1&!5&@‘ afE (14,458) (18,317)
Payment for repurchase of ordinary & 0 E @RI
shares (53,052) (19,892)
Proceeds from issue of shares ?éﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂa A 1,294,845 38,943
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W& B A A FE4ERR A 2
in a subsidiary (25,459) =
Dividends paid to non-controlling 7 FE 12 AR AR BRI A~ AR 2,
shareholders (6,530) -
Investment from non-controlling R EFIERBRRARE
shareholders 29,000 -
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) MEFHHME (FTARS
FINANCING FE 1,639,675 (963,990)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH H&RkBESZSEYEINFHE
EQUIVALENTS 634,551 208,928
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meaBHenER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 &% 20214F 12831 8 1L /&

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETIT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R1B1BEHNRERREE
1 JANUARY 87 1,103,132 894,204
Represented by AT &EIEZ7
Bank balances and cash as stated in ERE BB R TN RTT
the consolidated statement of kR E
financial position 1,144,347 961,094
Time deposits with original maturity JREIEAE 88 =18 A &9 7
over three months 5K (41,215) (67,653)
Cash and cash equivalents attributable 73 S AFEL S8 L SR
to the disposal group classified as BERERASEEY
held for sale - 763
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R12A31BENRERRES
31 DECEMBER &Y 1,737,683 1,103,132
Represented by AT &EIEZ7
Bank balances and cash as stated in A M BKARTIRIRTT
the consolidated statement of financial ~ f&ER LR E
position 2,089,625 1,144,347
Time deposits with original maturity over REIH B #8i® =18 A 1 H
three months 22N (351,942) (41,215)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Its shares have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 26 November
2010. The registered office of the Company is Maples
Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman lslands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located in Economic
and Technological Development Zone, Maanshan City, Anhui
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

As at 31 December 2021, China Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary together owned
56.36% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mengniu
and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Mengniu Group”.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production and
sales of milk, trading, production and sales of feeds. The
Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB”), which is the functional currency of the
Company.
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AIBER AT ) ER LT - AR R EMEE
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PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KYI-1104, Cayman Islands - "R G EEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

126

(a)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase?2

Amendments to IFRS
9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision
of the IFRS Interpretations Committee of the IASB
issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity
should include as "“estimated costs necessary to make
the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(a)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments relate to
changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and
lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and
the related disclosure requirements applying IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures ("IFRS 7").

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has several financial
liabilities and derivatives, the interest of which are
indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be subject
to interest rate benchmark reform.
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(a)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (continued)

The following table shows the total amounts of
outstanding contracts as at 1 January 2021. The
amounts of financial liabilities are shown at their
carrying amounts and derivatives are shown at their
notional amounts. Hereinafter United States Dollars is
referred to as “USD"” and Hong Kong Dollars is referred

2. FEF B BR B 7 3R o 2E B ([ B PR B
R EZER ) ISR @
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to as "HKD".

HKD usD
Hong Kong London
Interbank Interbank

Offered Rate
(“HIBOR")

Offered Rate
("LIBOR")

BTER ExMBURIT
RITEAERE EE$358
(TEBIRT ([tmZ4R1T
EEFE]) EEZ3=Y)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARBTIT
Financial liabilities SEas
Bank borrowing HRITER 1,031,784 1,561,031
Derivatives TETH
Interest rate swaps =15 HA 1,262,400 1,580,983

The amendments have had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements as none of the
relevant contracts has been transitioned to the relevant
replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply
the practical expedient in relation to the changes in
contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate
benchmark reform for bank borrowing measured at
amortised cost.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. FERIBIRR B 75 2R o 22 Al ([ BB B
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING B|REERL L) BVERT @
STANDARDS (MIFRSS") (continued)

(b) New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not (b) T EARME N R A R EYHTET R B R
yet effective B 3% R 5 2E RIS BT
The Group has not early applied the following new and RNEE W EIZ T ERA LT E B MR
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not RAEBAFN AT K& BIBR B 75 2R 5 2E Al 1Y
yet effective: CHIE
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the BRI BSmEER REEOR
related Amendments? FE175% MEREET?
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BRI E 2R BUSHESRHES|
Framework? FEIRMIERT
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets REAGIRE R  REEHEE
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its F0mEBERE s BEAAEk
Associate or Joint Venture* ERZE28RMET] BERF
2 EREE
SHE I AL
Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent BRSBTS RS 2ER] 202196 A30H
Concessions beyond E 1657 IERT Z &R
30 June 2021 RIGHERE
HeE=R
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as B st ERE 1S BEIEAR
Current or Non-current® HEE] ok IETRED?
Amendments to IAS Disclosure of Accounting BREsrERIEIT  SEBEY
1 and IFRS Practice Policies? N EIRR FE 553
Statement 2 ZREBHERE
F2RHNEET
Amendments to IAS8  Definition of Accounting BB ERIFESY:  FRHHETAY
Estimates® HEE] EFE?
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to R ERE 129 HE—XH
Assets and Liabilities BEE] EAXNEE
arising from a Single Sy=Ripisl
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Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and B @ ERE 1658 W% BER
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before Intended Use? ZEEaN:0 L)
Fr 5 K182
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BB ERIEI75R BEMELH -
Fulfilling a Contract? BERT BRI A2
Amendments to IFRS Annual Improvements to IFRS BRI LR BERMBHRE
Standards Standards 2018-2020? B8] AEBI4F 5 B
(20185F %=
2020%F)?
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("IFRSs") (continued)
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(b)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (continued)
K Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date

to be determined.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
anticipate that the application of new and amendments
to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ( the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its total current
assets by RMB723,466,000 (2020: RMB1,881,191,000).
Taking into account, (i) the available credit facilities
of approximately RMB5,618,008,000 which remain
unutilised as at 31 December 2021 and of which, an
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 is from Inner Mongolia
Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu, and the
remaining are from licensed banks; (ii) the expected net
cash inflows generated from the Group’s operations
for the next twelve months, the Directors are satisfied
that the Group will be able to meet in full its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for: (i)
biological assets, which are measured at fair value less
costs to sell; (i) Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“"FVTOCI"); (iii) other
financial assets, which are measured at fair values; and
(iv) derivative financial instruments, which are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period as
explained in the accounting policies set out in Note 3.2.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases (“"IFRS 16"), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets (“"IAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

3. REVBHRRNEREEREER

=
=

3.2

=1/

BUR @

REVBHROEREE @

o MBI EHRME - AFEHE
BIEAFEENEASIRATEHRE
EREABEEA $@§+§E’J LR E

BEMHSEAE— —ERE=
& BT -

s FABABBETERENGEAR
Hi Al AR 13 Eﬁ*@ﬂéﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ
RETISMRE CREHR)

s F_ABAREBENEELAR
ERARERERNEABUR
(F—RAMESHRERIN
K

s FoHBABBREEXREMN
THBREAZE -

BEEEHHRE

REEE

RAMBREBEARRURBAR
AREMBARZEGNER(BREES
HEER) BB mRE o MBI TSR

AR R RIS Fil4E

o TAIHBIREEITERED

. RSEEREEHEHTES
SEREETRET &

o  BRNBETEEBIMPZEZS
EE:

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

133
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

1 34 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidliaries
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidliaries
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("IFRS 9") or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the International Accounting Standards Committee's
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in September
2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income
Taxes;

J lease liabilities are recognised and measured

at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. The subsequent
accounting for the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGU") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. MEVBBRRNGHEEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ST EEw®
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 EESHBE®

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying

[EESIE)
EEREEMHBJREREDRREE
HEEWEHESDREENRESELS
(IR EEBMMAR)ETHER
Ao MR E —REBEERBRIEL
MEEMs  BEEITERENRESE
EEBEN (B EELEBMAR)NZIR
HEHRZBETRERNR e Uk E
SREERNEREAEME @ Ao R ER
BLORD AR ENEREE @ BikZ

Bu(RBReELEMARN)ABERE
ENFREZRLIIOREEMEE -

amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

Investments in associates REE N RINRE

An associate is an entity over which the Group has %ﬁ?%$%@%ﬁﬁ$ﬁ Z- Wil
‘FT‘%"E BHRFZHEBKRESR
BT K @Eﬁl%ﬁmﬁﬂé?‘]ﬁ‘ﬁ#”ﬂi
SIS e DN Il S FL R 2 ) o

significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

b & w8

control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in
net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. MEVBBRRNGHEEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ST EEw®
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

n

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEESERR®
Investments in associates (continued) REE R ERIRE @)
The Group assesses whether there is an objective AEBFNEEEBEEEIZBERTRN
evidence that the interest in an associate may be Mt E AN E=E R ERE - &8
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the FAEEIE REEEEE)NE
entire carrying amount of the investment (including EP AR B T AR R BIFR & 5t 4RI 3B 365%
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with EREBEE BB &AL &5
IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable (BME R EE R A FER D EXAHR
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs BE)BEmMEETRENR - T
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment REVREBBELES IR TEMEE(R
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including ERB)BRE Eﬁﬁfﬁm—ﬁﬁ’\ o A
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of EER A EE DIRER e ERE
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 365 TER - MEERNIRER AT E &£
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that REBEIRIZN -
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
When a group entity transacts with an associate of the EREERBEASENBE QAT
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions oW EZBMEANRETRIME
with the associate are recognised in the Group's AMBEGEERE AR EREAEE
consolidated financial statements only to the extent ERNBELT  HeREAEENGES
of interests in the associate that are not related to the ISR P HER ©
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless
of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling
interest in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except
for financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9, which
continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies as set out in respective sections.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

J the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of IFRS16, or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of motor vehicles, machinery,
equipment and land that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBRERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEESERR®

Leases (continued) HE @

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEFERATN (55)

Right-of-use assets EREEE

The cost of right-of-use assets includes: EREEENKABTE :

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease J HEBBENVLTESHE
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the o PFRBEISZ AIPAIEE (I AR
commencement date, less any lease incentives EMNF REMBWRENEER
received; =

J any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and . AEBESENEMITEEK

N3

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group o ZXEEEFRKREBREEEE -
in dismantling and removing the underlying R A8 E P TE b Bh Sk i AR B B EE R
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or B E G BAEHFT E KA AR
restoring the underlying asset to the condition LR BT EE A VAR ET RO o
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any ERAEEERNNRBEMZFATER

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and BEEBEHNE  UTHEEEEEARNE

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. HEtEELHREE -

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line EREEEREMGEAERFEHRA

basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the B ERE B B AREITE o

lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate RNE B R ERE B I AR R 2% A A A

line item on the consolidated statement of financial BEBIUZY -

position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S BE®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
PO LICI ES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

3.2 EESHBER®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market
rental rates as at the commencement date. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as
expense in the period on which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

J the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

J the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

1 48 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

3. BKENBBRNEREEREE
2 BE®

3.2 EESHHE®
HE@®
KEBIEBAEA &)
HEBGE®
R TII5HE & E g A A] B & R
SERRMABEBENTISHESTE -
NEXKBIEH T BN AT S B ER K
Pt AHEBEREAEEESE -
3 7 5 B N SR S 1 S G R 3R A9
AR AR -

EFBBEHEK  HEAREBHNEE
MEHENKETHE -

RTABRT  AEEEHMFERE
BEQEEABNEREEELETHRE

HE) -

s THHEMEHRITERBEEER
MEHE B AR - EZIBERT -
HEAHE R EEBERENFG

EARETRIR AR LR HE
ENFMEHEAE -

s MEMNRAMSHEHESBEEEHH
SHENXEBHMAMEL &
ZIEAT - HEEEREEBRE
AR R LETHEN
AMEHETE o

AEERGEEMBRARARTHEER
BEILZY -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBRERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under "“other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
under the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in
the PRC are charged as an expense or capitalised when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contribution.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options and award shares granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration of all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve or share award reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve or share award reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to retained earnings.

When the award shares are vested, the amount
previously recognised in share award reserve and the
amount of the relevant treasury shares included in
equity under the heading of shares held under the share
award schemes is reversed and the differences arising
from the reversal is adjusted to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill.

1 54 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

3.

GBEVERRNEREEREE
2 BE®

3.2 EESHBE®

BiIE
P15 35 32 o 5 B B B A A5 TR S ST 7R
TRAEA

BV HA FE A B8 TR 4R 6 Q) B BR B0 A A
o AR EMFER BRI AR
WA 2 K BARB R A AT
THE - RS A B ER T AT A (8
1B) AR - NEBER AN IE A B R
EHRCEMRER L BEMBT R

st
= o
A

EREFAZ GV BRRANEERA
18 AR B S5 5 R SR A A P AR AR
MEZ BT R ZRER - BEKREA
BE—MRIZFIEEH ERBEF A EM
WA B AR E R ZRR AR - BT
BERERMREREZRER - WEY
REBHITEERRT RN XSG
YR 5 o R R (EH A GRS
BENABGBHEL  ATSHRAZF
EXEHBEERAE ° 1o - HER
ERDEVRERBEMESL - T
SHRBELENRRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than freehold lands and properties under
construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes (classified as
construction in progress) are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and other intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S BE®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and other intangible assets other than
gOOdWi” (continued)
The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and other intangible
assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amount of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the assets is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on first-in, first-out or weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which
the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

162

Contingent liabilities (continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Biological assets

The Group’s biological assets comprise dairy cows.
Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves,
are measured on initial recognition and at the end of
the reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell,
with any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss for the year in which it arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including
staff costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and
consumables incurred for raising of heifers and calves
are capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves
begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less
costs to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural
produce at the point of harvest measuring at fair value
less costs to sell is included in profit or loss for the
period in which it arises.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“"IFRS 15"). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.

1 64 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] MNBIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S BE®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EEEREE@®

Financial instruments (continued) SET H@

Financial assets (continued) 2 EEE (B

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREENSBAREZTE®

assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if: WEBLATER  2RMEERFEE

=

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of o WEEeRHEENTIEZEANANE
selling in the near term; or HAHE 3%

e oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o  RUIPHREN  BERAAEEHZERER
identified financial instruments that the Group B f?ﬁ@ﬂ;&ﬂﬁmﬂlﬂﬁﬂém_
manages together and has a recent actual pattern o - AR BARRFEA R
of short-term profit-taking; or HIERRER ;=X

e itis a derivative that is not designated and o EHEWIHFEERABIERAL T
effective as a hedging instrument. BEMPTETA -

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a BLoh - REBE S S TR HEE R EiR

financial asset that are required to be measured at BHEK AT ERIEAFEFAEMS

the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL HBRANFTRGFENCREEETR
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an BATEFAEENFTAGE - AR
accounting mismatch. AU AL ERR AR R D S AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
() Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective

interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained earnings.

1 éé China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

(iii)

(continued

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line
item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances)

which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS

9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date

to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

1 68 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] MNBIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. MEVBBRRNGHREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S EE®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEESHEER®

Financial instruments (continued) SRT A @

Financial assets (continued) 2 EEE (B

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment R AR B PR B R s 5 E RN B 9% 28 T 1T

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued) /)Eﬂﬁuﬂﬁﬂ']i BEERE®

(i) Significant increase in credit risk SRR Y
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased RAEHEE B R B 7116 MR A K
significantly since initial recognition, the Group EREBREENE - AEEKR
compares the risk of a default occurring on the HEAHeRTAFENENR
financial instruments as at the reporting date with PREE AR RER B e T A
the risk of a default occurring on the financial TERENRBREITR - 7E#1T
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. ZALER - AEBEER REEA
In making this assessment, the Group considers ENEERTEMELR  BEAT
both quantitative and qualitative information that KB R AR RS KA H
is reasonable and supportable, including historical BEB N AT ESHREEE
experience and forward-looking information that K} o

is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken THR FHEERRESLEE
into account when assessing whether credit risk S gt R THER

has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant e  SEMI A (HATER)
deterioration in the financial instrument’s SAMEETRER LTE
external (if available) or internal credit rating; B IRER PR AR

o significant deterioration in external market o SMNEBTH S E B AR R T
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant RBEER{E  HIMEER
increase in the credit spread, the credit EREEKR - EHBANE
default swap prices for the debtor; BEEANEBHERKIEL

Tt
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

(iv)

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. REMBHRRNEREERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SR EE @
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEESHEER®
Financial instruments (continued) ERMIA@m
Financial assets (continued) 2 EEE (B
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment R AR B PR B R s 5 E RN B 9% 28 T 1T
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued) BERHE )& B & R E (8
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) TFEHEEEBENE RER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the TBEEEEERNETEBURRELD
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the Mx - BHOBERX(BEZORHD
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and EEEE) REBEDRERBFAIE - &
the exposure at default. The assessment of the B E NGB B ERNRE TR
probability of default and loss given default is RB SR R ATE I EEHED -
based on historical data and forward-looking TEERE B BB M TE M R AR B
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an EMESRE  UEBEEEENN
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that R\l REEETE °
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —RimE - HHEEEEAIRE
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group EHRNAEBNAMEENRS
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 2 B R B TR HA R B3R &0
that the Group expects to receive, discounted BRIV ERAREETNER
at the effective interest rate determined at initial MEMBE) 2HANERE - ZFE
recognition. The ECL on these assets are assessed ENEHEERRRAEEHE
individually or collectively using collective RIS BE AT B e SR BT o
assessment with appropriate groupings.
For collective assessment, the Group takes into HREBFE  XEEEFIES
consideration the following characteristics when ERZRE T ATHRRE -
formulating the grouping:
e Past-due status; o BHKRE
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and ° BEANEE « BEKXT
E SN
e External credit ratings where available. o A AMINBIERFAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross

carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial assets.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
“FVTOCI reserve” is not reclassified to profit or loss, but
is transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

=111 Db
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)
A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, other borrowings and Long term
bonds are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

1 76 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

3.

GEVERRNEREEREE
2 BEE®

3.2 EESHBE®

ERMITE®

THEERED %)
BAFEFAEBRNEREE®
WBATER cHEBERARBEE

&5

=

s WESRABNEIEZEANARE
HIRREE %

o RUIPHRE  HAASEERR
BENCHNERMTAAGNH—
o - WAFEHRIRA BRI
HIERR ¢ 3

o BRUTAIA EBBRUBHER
BHREEARERTANITE
TARRS

REHRAGTENERAR

TRARBRENESRILEME
MHOR - RITER - RERRES
B 55) AR A B IRF FOX R 8 A A

e -

BUBER AR
AEBEECHETERE  BUHRK
IEF - TEBUHERERMAE - BUH
EREBABMNREERD N REN
RENEZFENBETHER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are
not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified
and subsequently measured in its entirety as either
amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when, the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on market observable data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg") of
raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated local future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group's biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group's biological assets as at 31 December 2021 was
RMB9,404,924,000 (2020: RMB7,101,243,000). Further details
are given in Notes 19 and 42.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCE RTAI NTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of its value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
pre-tax discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or
when there is a downward revision to the estimated future
cash flows due to changes in facts and circumstances, further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill
is RMB2,075,591,000 (2020: RMB1,322,457,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB213,429,000 (2020:
RMB213,429,000). Details of the impairment test are disclosed
in Note 17.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION WA R EBER
(i) Disaggregation of revenue i) WA#HD
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Types of goods Emian
Raw milk R 7,005,012 6,020,247
Feeds At 73,458 -
7,078,470 6,020,247
Timing of revenue recognition N R
A point in time A ] 2 7,078,470 6,020,247
Geographical markets IR T I5
Mainland China SlEvap: 7,059,603 6,020,247
Other countries HA xR 18,867 =
7,078,470 6,020,247
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N

5.

180

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

For the sales of raw milk, revenue is recognised when
control of the raw milk has been transferred, being
at the point the customer received the raw milk and
accepted the quality, the normal credit term of which is
30 days. For the sales of feeds, revenue is recognised
when control of the feeds has been transferred, being
at the point the customers received the feeds or at the
point being despatched, depending on the terms of the
contracts, the normal credit term is generally due within
30 to 90 days.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Sales of raw milk and feeds are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

Segment information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments (“IFRS 8") requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM"), in order to allocate resources
and to assess performance. During the year, the Group
commenced the business of sales of feeds after the
acquisition of Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International
Industrial (Group) Co. Ltd. (“Fuyuan”, Fuyuan and its
subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “"Fuyuan Group”), which is regarded as a new
operating and reportable segment by the CODM. The
quantitative thresholds of sales, profit and assets of
feeds segment do not meet any of the quantitative
thresholds required by IFRS 8, and the management
believes that information about the segment would
not be useful to users of the financial statements in the
current year. Accordingly, no segment information is
reported.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHEE @

(continued)

(iv) Segment information (continued) (iv) 2EHER @
Geographical information b IR R
The Group's operations are located in Mainland China ANEBHEBL AT B A &RE
and the United States of America ("USA"). (EZDE
Information about the Group's revenue from external EBEREERBINEEPBHIAE R
customers is presented based on the location of the DREEMRES c BAAEBEIER
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current HEENEHDNREENMBALES
assets is presented based on the geographical location 5l

of the assets.

Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (Note)
REIIMBEFHBA ERBE E (B EE)
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 2020%F 20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F ARBTTT AR®T ARETT

Mainland China PR B A 3 7,057,441 6,020,247 17,810,823 12,335,128
USA 35 21,029 = 119,119 =
7,078,470 6,020,247 17,929,942 12,335,128
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and M : JERBEETERESBMIANE
deferred tax assets.. EFIBEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHEER @

(continued)
(v) Information about major customers v) FRXEEFHNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years HEFEHAEBIHELATR0%
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group A EREPKAT :
are as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Customer A EFPA 5,977,915 4,939,178
Customer B ZFB N/A 7E A 629,078
6. OTHER INCOME H A
2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETTT
Bank interest income RITHBULA 46,143 18,308
Government grants related to FIA TR IER B BT EL
— Assets (Note 31) - BE(HEE31) 47,733 31,131
- Others (Note) — A (KT =) 16,394 28,844
64,127 59,975
Others HAl 13,565 8,392
123,835 86,675
Note: These government grants are unconditional government Mist :  ZEBURHHBLAAREE A B BN AT

WOER B R B ARG - RN EE
BB TR A BN RS B BT

subsidies received by the Group from relevant government
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group's operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 7. BREERERBEAER
TAX
Profit before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging B B0 & Bk 7N R A8 18 A s K T9 H1 Bk (BEA) T2
(crediting): ZIBZFTESS -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T ARETT

Cost of sales: SHEMA :
Breeding costs to produce raw milk A E IR R B TAR AR 4,470,101 3,561,559
Raw milk fair value adjustments included in 5 ASH &K A B RN A FE
cost of sales A 2,378,446 2,277,414
Cost of feeds sold BE LR A 58,894 =
6,907,441 5,838,973
Other gains and losses, net: H b e R B HRF R
Net foreign exchange gain SINEE IR 25 R B (84,287) (158,173)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME  BERRBEERTE
equipment, net 9,659 13,110
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) i & i B2 7] Ay Uk 25 (BT 7 36) - (72,280)
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE - 48,809
Fair value gain on other financial assets EfE&REENATFEYZ (1,821) (1,012)
Fair value loss (gain) on derivative financial T4l T A& A FEEIE
instruments: (Wezx) -
Foreign currency forward contracts INEREIA 4 1,999 (26,381)
Foreign currency option contracts SNE B & 4Y 90,884 53,413
Capped and floored cross currency swap ~ HTEHER X E# 55
("CFCCS") (fCFces)) (67,537) =
25,346 27,032
(51,103) (142,514)
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREETE
equipment 495,263 454,376
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEEN e (213,639) (191,851)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss M EEEMTE 281,624 262,525

—E-—FE5R PERANEERERAR 183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

7. PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 7. BRELE RRAS KB E AR R @
TAX (continued)

2021 2020
2021%F 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 22,296 16,904
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEENMEeRE (8,397) (6,331)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss MR BEmMWITE 13,899 10,573
Short-term lease expense CHEERY 21,301 15,305
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEBEENMEER (9,070) (6,607)
Short-term lease expense charged to Mk EEENEHHAERS

profit or loss 12,231 8,698
Employee benefits expense: EEBMAX :
Salaries and allowances e KRR 599,645 573,810
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 3R /R 1& FI| 5151 £ 5X 39,635 11,808
Equity-settled share award expense VAR #E 45 S B IR B2 B Al <2 22,224 26,806
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENME e (173,506) (120,868)
Employee benefits charged to profit or loss 1Bk B 182589 B8 FI 487,998 491,556
Auditors’ remuneration 2 2 Al 2 B 3,350 2,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

FINANCE COSTS 8. REKA

2021 2020
202145 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AREFIT

Interest expenses on: FERX :
Bank borrowings RITERK 187,924 258,883
Long term bonds REMES 34,994 -
Other borrowings HAap g 11,142 7,221
Lease liabilities HEBE 12,890 11,065
Total borrowing cost EE NP N L] 246,950 277,169
Fair value (gain) loss on interest rate swaps  FI| &8 B2 {E (W) E518 (48,818) 41,455

198,132 318,624

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. HHIEEEBERTRHEERE

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL HIBR B E]
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T ARBT T

Impairment losses recognised on: MR IEERERE RS
— Other receivables — HAth R K IE 476 157
Impairment losses reversed on: BT SR B HREEIE
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - EIE SR - REYIE M - (152)
476 5
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 39. BB A EH TR EE39 o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED

186

10. FRSBLR X RIEZERL 1]

TAXATION

Income tax expense FREBR X
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Current — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BNER — R {R PRI T 1,899 639
Current — other jurisdiction BIHA - Eftb Al ERE R 124 -
2,023 639

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

According to the prevailing tax rules and regulation of the
EIT Law, 31 subsidiaries of the Group are exempted from
enterprise income tax for taxable profit from the operation
of agricultural business in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: 16 subsidiaries) .

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong
Kong.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to RMB3,737,103,000 as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: RMB2,836,473,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

BIEFRECEMSHEA(ERERED KX
EMSBEEBIES - PRMBARNM
EFERTE B25% °

H i AR E £ BRIRTIRE S B e) A
BRITREE -

RIBBEFBTERITRIGHR R KER - 8
F2021F12A31BEFE - AEEM31HE
MY B 2 8] (20204F : 16FEBE A 7)) A AR Bl 4L
EREEEBELENERBENERCHME
ESiECY

WER BB R REL B - RASKNEER
BRYEBELWATERE BT EZWA

BEBEFBECEMESRE - NP BEAMA T
INEERINFIRE E SRS AN
10%HITEHEL © 5% #R € B 200851 A1 B EA
B WEAR2007F12HA31TBENEAET) -
fii R B BN R E & FTIE A AR AT T
FRIEGEL > BT ARBEBNRHER - AEH
B8 A L R B5%8010% © F220214E12 A 31
B - YWhkath B EA R R mAARE
3,737,103,0007T (20205612 A31H0 : AR
2,836,473,00070) R bR & BT IS SRR LB EFL
BYEH B - Ty AN E B RE S04 H B O
B = FERRS R S sk S E RS = R A] B A% 5K ]
BT e EEE -



10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] NHILEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED

TAXATIO N (continued)

Income tax expense (continued)

The tax expense for the current year can be reconciled to
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

10. RSB RIELEH E @

ERBAX@®

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

U TRAFERAFR X EiRE
T i 2 PR R T O 1) 0 S B

BamkHEME

2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Profit before tax B 35 B g A 1,035,222 784,404
Tax at applicable income tax rate at 25%  #RiEFA TS B R 25%T E R
(2020: 25%) T8 (2020%F : 25%) 258,806 196,101
Effect of tax exemption granted to BEERETFBNRALM
agricultural entities and other duty-free RHRBROTE
areas (318,643) (241,126)
Effect of non-utilised losses incurred EEEBELERDAEEREM
from agricultural business and other non-  NAJ 1A X I E
deductible expenses 54,782 42,817
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M E At ALERE R 4L & KM E 2 7)
operating in other jurisdictions TR T E (26) -
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIBEENTZE 7,105 2,916
Utilisation of tax losses previously not A BERERNIAEE
recognised (1) (69)
Income tax expense PGB FR X 2,023 639

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED

188

TAXATIO N (continued)

Income tax expense (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's PRC subsidiaries had
unused tax losses of RMB158,044,000 (2020: RMB186,239,000)
incurred by non-agricultural business in the PRC. These
unused tax losses as at 31 December 2021 will expire in year
2022 to year 2026 as disclosed in the following table if not
utilised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to such tax losses as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be

FriSHifz @

10. iSRRI RIEER TE @

MR2021%F 128318 - AEEHFARMNE R
AP EAEREXEBELENABARIES
18 & AR #158,044,0007T (202045 : AR
186,239,0007T) ° fiwi72021F 12831 HZ S
REAHREEEARESR - HER202F2
2026F @i - AN NRATIFE o AR AIBED
ESERT A M B AERERE - Bkl
ERARREREERELRBEEE

(5o}
=

utilised.
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
2021 20214 - 50,434
2022 20224 71,748 71,287
2023 20234 31,684 31,704
2024 20244 596 25,996
2025 2025%F 15,550 6,818
2026 20264 38,466 -
158,044 186,239

Deferred taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis

IEER IH

of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

RELREMBHRARP 25T - ETELT
HREERBBD THEE - UTRHREHE
HE B OEEENIRARI DT -

2021 2020

2021%F 20204

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Deferred tax assets BRI E E 2,337 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIEEE (20,868) =
(18,531) -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

TAXATION (continued)

10. FREBAXRIELZER Ew

Deferred taxation (continued) IEIE B TE (30
Temporary
difference Fair value
of property adjustments
plants and upon
equipment  acquisition Others Total
mE -
B 5= &
REBH WEEE
ERHEE ATEAER Hity st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT AR%ETT
(Note i) (Note ii)
(PR 3ED (B3
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E - 829 1,508 2,337
Deferred tax liabilities EEFARE (15,062) (5,806) - (20,868)
(15,062) (4,977) 1,508 (18,531)
Notes: BT -

The deferred tax for fair value adjustments related to the fair
value adjustments of certain freehold land, property, plant and
equipment upon acquisition of subsidiaries.

The others mainly comprised accrued expense, inventory
capitalization adjustment etc., due to the temporary differences
under federal and state income tax in the USA.

X B FE R AR AT T TR LU RS Y B A B R
FUEK AL - WE - BERRED
R EABER -

i HOTIZemEXEBIMNAENHNY
BEEMELNEAER  FEEXLH

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'

EMOLUMENTS

Details of the directors’ and the chief executives’ emoluments

are as follows:

11. EERFTETHAEMNE

EERTBTRABMEHBNT

2021
20215
Salaries, Equity- Retirement
allowances Performance settled benefits
Directors'  and benefits- related  share award scheme
fees in-kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
e 28 KRS RRERE BB
E20e REVETN T RORBEX HE 13 @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTT ARBTR ARETR
(Note vi)
(FrEvi)
Executive directors HiTEZR
Ms. Gao Lina (Note i) ML (i) - 1,157 - 895 895 2,052
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note iv) FE M54 (i) - 1,825 5,020 923 86 7,854
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note i) REERE (W) - 128 743 134 8 1,013
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang ESHUEE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping KL - - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun BEREELE - - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu HHat - - - - - -
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note ii) REELE (W) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHITEES
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway A& 4 199 - - - - 199
Mr. Li Shengli FHHIEE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Chow Ming Sang JRFAZE % A (Wi
(Note iii) 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul ~ Wolhardt Julian Juult &
(Note iii &v) (B &Fiii &) - - - - - -
499 3,110 5,763 1,952 94 11,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' M. EBRFETHRAEMESw
E MOLU M E NTS (continued)
2020
2020F
Salaries, Equity- Retirement
allowances  Performance settled benefits
Directors’  and benefits- related share award scheme
fees inkind bonuses expense  contributions Total
5428 wREH  ERELE RIER
E20e  REDEA T ROSERX BEE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT  AREFT ARBTT ARBTT  ARETT
(Note vi)
(Bi3Hvi)
Executive directors Hi1EZE
Ms. Gao Lina BTt - 2357 67,984 2,588 - 72929
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note iv) BER %A (i) = 1,458 335 527 55 2,375
Mr. Han Chunlin (Note iv)  B&MITAE (HfEi) = 1,397 3791 1415 121 6,72
Non-executive directors FanES
Mr. Lu Minfang EBEHAE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping KEEE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun HRELE = = = = = =
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul
(Note v) F A (MizE) - - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu (Note v) HE &£ (Mt = = = = = =
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ ZHEE%EE 201 = = = = 201
Mr. Li Shengli FEMEE 200 = = = = 200
Mr. Kang Yan (Note v) FRELA Mzt 50 - - - - 50
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul
(Note v) 54 (Fsky) - - - - - -
451 5212 72,110 4,530 176 82479
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'

192

EMOLU M ENTS (continued)

The emoluments disclosed above for executive directors
were for the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. The executive directors were also granted share
options and share awards under the share option schemes
and the share award scheme of the Company. Details of the
share option schemes and share award scheme are set out in
Note 34.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

i. No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

ii. Ms. Gao Lina resigned from her position with effect from 1 July
2021, while Mr. Zhu Xiaohui was appointed as a non-executive
director on the same day and subsequently appointed as an
executive director with effect from 30 November 2021. Mr. Zhu
Xiaohui is also the chief financial officer of the Company.

iii.  Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul resigned from his position of
independent non-executive director with effect from 1
July 2021, while Mr. Chow Ming Sang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on the same day.

iv. Mr. Han Chunlin resigned from his position of executive
director with effect from 1 April 2020, while Mr. Sun Yugang
was appointed as an executive director on the same day. Mr.
Sun Yugang is also the acting chief executive officer of the
Company.

V. Mr. Kang Yan, an independent non-executive director,
resigned from his office with effect from 1 April 2020. Mr.
Wolhardt Julian Juul resigned as a non-executive director and
was appointed as an independent non-executive director with
effect from 1 April 2020. Ms. Gan Lu was appointed as a non-
executive director with effect from 1 April 2020.

vi. Performance related bonuses are determined based on the

Group's performance, performance of the relevant individual
within the Group and comparable market statistics.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included one (2020: two) directors of the Company, details
of whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in
Note 11 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
four (2020: three) highest paid individuals for the year are as

12. EBREHFMA L

AEBFARERSHFMALRERARF—
% (2020 : MA)ES - HFMFBRER
EXPEEN o FREERI A (20205 : =45)
R A THFBFBOT

follows:
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e ERNREYET 5,113 2,779
Performance related bonuses FIRHMEHTEAL 9,130 2,946
Retirement benefits scheme contributions  RIAREFIFTH 2|3 334 253
Equity-settled share award expense RIREEE R G REIF 2,930 3,932
17,507 9,910

No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors nor chief executives of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands in HKD is as
follows:

HZE2021F12A31BILEE - AEBEHER
RN E RS HHA T ER S - 15
BINBEAERE N AR RE R IE AT
{8 (20204F : #E) -

BT ENTHBATHENIERNARE
ERFFETHRAEZSFTMES AWM
T

2021 2020
20215 20204

HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 7T 24,000,000/ 7T 2
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,0017% 7t 4,500,000/ 7T - 1
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,0017% 7t & 5,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 5,000,001 7T £ 5,500,0005% 7T 2 -
HKD6,000,001 to HKDé,500,000 6,000,001 7T & 6,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3

Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees were granted share awards, in respect of their
services to the Group under the share award scheme of the
Company. Details of the share award scheme are set out in
Note 34.

BEARRBRRD EEE  FTIEER
FFEBTHRAEBNESFTNEEREHASE
7 PR S AR AR 10 228 © ARt ZEEIETEIEE IR
A EE34 -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

13

14.

194

. DIVIDENDS

During the year, a final dividend of RMB0.02 per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020
was declared and paid to the owners of the Company.
The aggregate amount of the final dividend declared and
paid in the current year amounted to RMB142,532,000 and
was appropriated from the Company’s distributable share
premium.

In December 2021, Haykingdom declared a dividend of
USD2,556,000 (equivalent to RMB16,308,000) to its non-
controlling shareholders and of which USD1,023,000
(equivalent to RMB6,530,000) was paid.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021
of RMBO0.026 per ordinary share has been proposed by the
Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

13.

14.

RE

FRN - A E2020F12A31H IEFEERAR
AHA AT IR MR & E @A RE0.02
TLZARHARE o ANEE TR KR & RAIR
BasE s AR 142,532,000 © WE AR
A 0] R B R A7 5 (B P AT o

20219128 » Haykingdom/a) £ 3E 5 A% %
RERME2,556,000% T (HHE R AR
16,308,0007T) * WKt T 1,023,0005 7T (48
2 M AR %6,530,0007T) °

REEHARE - EFEEBZE2021F12H
B EFERERARESREBI/ARE
0.0267T * AEBREAFRENEERE
Ag EHAER B AIEER -

BREF
RAFREE AR GRERREERF TR
BIA T BUEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Earnings B
Profit for the year attributable to owners of 2N B1HEHA A B F & 7
the Company 1,018,832 770,010
Earnings for the purpose of basic and ARG EERERREERTN
diluted earnings per share 2R 1,018,832 770,010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

4= A

B 75 R 2R MY &

wiN (=

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

14. BREF @

2021 2020
20215 20205
Shares Shares
B %
Number of shares RHEHE
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG ESRERR 8 @R
shares for the purpose of basic earnings NiETF S
per share 7,062,840,875 6,380,386,978
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: #EEBE L@MIRHFE ¢
Share options BB AE - 3,543,748
Share awards Rt 22 17,603,554 11,709,826
7,080,444,429  6,395,640,552

The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the basic
earnings per share has been arrived at after eliminating the
treasury shares of the Company held under the Company’s

share award scheme.

BipEEH -

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

AEERERBA RN RNDBE R EHE
ARRRRA ZRE EIRE T RENAARER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BEREE
Freehold Motor  Plant and Construction
land  Buildings vehicles  equipment in progress Total
KRERE
1t ETF RE BERRE HEIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT AREBTFT AR%®TR ARET:
Cost BA
Balance at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 A 1EMES - 5,039,817 20,576 1,730,700 17,506 6,808,599
Additions NE - - 117 126,157 204,478 331,806
Transfer E = 130,292 = 39,242 (169,534) =
Disposals irf= - (28,822) (253) (77,638) = (106,713)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R2020 12831 B &% - 5141287 21494 1,818,461 52450 7,033,692
Additions RE = 24,659 6,051 157,687 347,442 535,839
Transfer i - 264,566 799 76,608 (341,973) -
Acquired on asset acquisitions & EE IR I WiEE = = = 47 33,116 33,163
Acquired on business EBEORIE
combination 48,228 1,422,343 2,946 421,862 50,452 1,945,831
Exchange adjustments Rk (17) 49) ? (53) 2 (123)
Disposals HE = (73,680) (8,311) (82,753) = (164,744)
Balance at 31 December 2021 M2021F 12831 B &% 48,211 6,779,126 22,977 2,391,859 141,485 9,383,658
Accumulated depreciation it E
Balance at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 A1ERES - 2111,197) (8,085 (1,050,034) - (3,169,316
Charge for the year FRRY = (293,491) 693)  (160,192) = (454,376)
Eliminated on disposals el 1§ = 21,351 240 69,158 = 90,749
Balance at 31 December 2020 #2020 12831 B &% - (2383337) (8,538)  (1,141,068) - (3,532,943)
Charge for the year ERFX - (314,463) (1760)  (179,040) = (495,263)
Exchange adjustments X A% - 19 1 32 - 52
Eliminated on disposals = 1§ = 57,208 6,547 76,508 = 140,263
Balance at 31 December 2021 M2021F 12831 B &% - (2,640,573) (3,750) (1,243,568) - (3,887,891)
Impairment BE
Balance at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 B 1ERES - (113,459) (63) (70,693) = (184,215)
Eliminated on disposals HEME = = = 1,185 - 1,185
Balance at 31 December 2020 720206 12A31 B &% = (113,459) (63) (69,508) = (183,030)
Eliminated on disposals el = = 63 170 = 233
Balance at 31 December 2021 M2021F 12331 B & # - (113,459) - (69,338) - (182,797)
Carrying amounts EHE
Balance at 31 December 2021 12021612 A31 B R &84 48,211 4,025,094 19,227 1,078,953 141,485 5,312,970
Balance at 31 December 2020 #2020 12831 B &% - 2,644,491 12,893 607,885 52,450 3,317,719
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life, after taking into account its estimated
residual value, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Indefinite Life
Buildings 4.75%9.50%
Motor vehicles 19.00%
Plant and equipment 9.50%—-19.00%

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's properties in the
amount of RMB112,057,000.00 (2020: nil) were pledged to
secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group (Notes 26 and 27).

15. V¥ - BRERRZRBE®

FERBHA ERAFHAL A R EGEF FIER
BERERERRR NIFFRGTE

KA FEREL I ERFH
B’y 4.75%-9.50%
k=21 19.00%
s N &kt 9.50%-19.00%

R2021F12A31H » AEEEBE A ARK
112,057,000.007C (20204 : Z)MWEEE
FAERE TAEESE TRITREMEK
(Fft3E26 K2 27) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EREEE
Leased
machinery
Leasehold Leased and
land property  equipment Total
e
HELH HEWE ] st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFIT AREFRT AREFT AREF
Cost 2%
Balance at 1 January 2020 722020513 1HHY
S 310,166 730 48,993 359,889
Additions =T 615 = = 615
Modification 1&a] - (23) = (23)
Balance at 31 December PR2020%F12A31HH)

2020 AEER 310,781 707 48,993 360,481
Additions NE 28,010 1,653 = 29,663
Disposals HE (544) - - (544)
Acquired on business XA UGS

combination 386,234 8,082 - 394,316
Acquired on asset B E BB IR

acquisitions 20,026 = = 20,026
Balance at 31 December M2021F12 A31HHY

2021 EER 744,507 10,442 48,993 803,942
Accumulated depreciation RiHifE
Balance at 1 January 2020  FA2020%181HHY

ek (34,259) (243) (5,226) (39,728)
Charge for the year FRFREX (11,328) (350) (5,226) (16,904)
Balance at 31 December M2020%F12 A31HHY

2020 “heg (45,587) (593) (10,452) (56,632)
Charge for the year FARX (16,847) (223) (5,226) (22,296)
Eliminated on disposals £ 65 4 8 150 - - 150
Balance at 31 December M2021F12 A31HHY

2021 & (62,284) (816) (15,678) (78,778)
Carrying amounts BREE
Balance at 31 December M2021F12 A31HHY

2021 “EER 682,223 9,626 33,315 725,164
Balance at 31 December 202012 A31HHY

2020 aheg 265,194 114 38,541 303,849
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

16. FRAEEEw

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFT

Expense relating to short-term leases BRRHEENRS 21,301 15,305
Variable lease payments not included in the W& AT EBETEN

measurement of lease liabilities ATEREER K 272 13

Total cash outflow for leases HEBRS R LA 46,913 36,429

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

The Group leases land, property, machinery and equipment
to operate its business. These leases are typically made for
fixed terms of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain different payment terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

For some of the leased machineries, the Group is required
to make fixed monthly payments and additional variable
payments depending on the usage of the asset during the
contract period.

The Group's lease agreements do not contain any extension,
early termination option or purchase option for lessee.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for land,
property, machineries, motor vehicle and office equipment.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed in Note 7.

EREEERERABRENE -

AREBHEETH - WE - BHREREAL
BEHER - mEHEARFETHR/2E50
F - MEGRIZEREERER - B3 TF
IR MR - EEHE B &AHE T A
HMENRER  AKERASHNERL
HEEAAH A MITHR -

HREH TN, - AREEELE ARE
R RART & KEP 6 A B R AE L S
AR -

AEENEERRTEEABEANERT
£ RERIENBERE -

AEBTES LM - WE - B - RE R
NRBEIEEHEE - 182021 %2020 12
A318  CHHEAs RO HAER T AN
H7ETREMNESEAEASEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

R 7% ¥ % BT E

17. GOODWILL 17. B8
Modern ADH
Farming Companies Fuyuan Others Total
R
(%HE) ADHA R ER Htt o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFT ARBFT ARETFT AEBTT
Cost B
Balance at 1 January 2020 720201518 &
and 31 December 2020 2020124318/
i 310,426 1,225,460 - - 1,535,886
Arising on acquisition of  WEBMBARIRESE
subsidiaries (Note 35) (Ft&£35) - - 695,329 57,805 753,134
Balance at 31 December ~ F20215 12431 B £
2021 i3 310,426 1,225,460 695,329 57,805 2,289,020
Impairment BE
Balance at 1 January 2020 #2020 1818
i - (164,620) - - (164,620)
Impairment loss recognised  FRE ERRELE
in the year = (48,809) = = (48,809)
Balance at 31 December 122020 20214
2020 and 2021 12A31BR &R - (213,429) - - (213,429)
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 12021 12H31H#)
2021 i3 310,426 1,012,031 695,329 57,805 2,075,591
Balance at 31 December ~ FA2020512A31H £
2020 3 310,426 1,012,031 - - 1,322,457
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

17. GOODWILL (continued)
The Group's goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from
acquisition of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern
Farming”) in 2009 and RMB1,225,460,000 arose from
acquisition of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (the “ADH Companies”) in 2015.

17. BEw
AEENBHESERARE310,426,000
7T - FAR2009F SR R E (R E)BR
AA(RRAME(EE) DMES - AEE
BESTE A AR,225,460,0007T @ BER
2015F B8 Asia Dairy Holdings & Asia Dairy
Holdings II(TADHA &) M E 4 °

RAFE  AEERESETHEAR - 8%
WHEELEE - E—TFBHINMESS -

During the current year, the Group acquired certain
subsidiaries which resulted in goodwill arising on acquisitions,
further details of which are set out in Note 35.

BRENHRTE - SEFERSEL BN
ReEABAERNEEMT ;

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill allocated to
each of the CGU and or group of CGUs are as follows:

2021 2020

20214 20205

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREBFTT

Modern Farming AR (EE) 310,426 310,426
ADH Companies ADHA A] 1,012,031 1,012,031
Fuyuan dairy farming =R EA 630,271 -
Fuyuan feeds — China EREEE - A 22,680 =
Fuyuan feeds — USA =IREFE - EE 42,378 =
Others HAh, 57,805 -
2,075,591 1,322,457

The recoverable amount of each CGU or group of CGUs has
been determined based on value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets or forecasts
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

ERCELBEVIRSELEMAR MR
Bl BIRBERBEFEREE Kt EE
RERPBEESRREEEIENTFH

BRIMRSRETRA

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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N

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. %%(E)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of each EHReEABENNIRSELEMARMNER

CGU or group of CGUs. The following describes each key BEAEFATESR UTHATERER

assumptions the management has based on in preparing the HEITRE RIS AR RLIR & R 8 TR ORI AT

cash flow projections for the purpose of impairment test: B & EBRE R

e  The estimated future market price of raw milk, the o [REHL B (& ET AR R TISEE - BEW
estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation FUBHNMET PR ENE RINFE
cycle and estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk for R RENOGEEERARAR &
dairy farming; and the estimated revenue and the SRRl ET WA RAEFEANAR - ZE R
estimate costs for feeds — such assumptions are based FHERBM SR eEABMARBRE
on the unit’s or group of CGUs' past performance MEEREEEBHMSERNTEL -
and management’s expectations for the market
development.

e Discount rates — the discount rates used are before tax e  BREE - FIEAMBRER X ERAIT X
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU or MEEANCELEMNREELS
group of CGUs. 7 48 7l 48 Bl a0 4 FE TR o

e Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate the o IERE - BN B 20225 B B5F
cash flows beyond the five-year period from 2022 are MNIREMEBEEREZSENEGEELR
based on the estimated growth rate of each unit, taking HEEERE  WEZEEGERSESE
into account the industry growth rate, past experience BUNREeELEMAERINTEER
and the medium or long term growth target of each EATKBRRPRIAERARE -
CGU or group of CGUs.

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the HEARIREMETE R ARG IR R & B R HEET

growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the HEENRERERREMT

period are as follows:

Discount rate (%) Growth rate (%)

BEH R (%) BRE(%)

2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20204F 20214 20205
Modern Farming BRI (EE) 12.6 12.5 2.5 2.5
ADH Companies ADHZA 7] 12.6 12.5 2.5 2.5
Fuyuan dairy farming ERNGEHE N/A N/A
12.6 NER 2.5 TiE A
Fuyuan feeds — China =IREFIE - N/A N/A
9.2 TiEA 25 AN iE
Fuyuan feeds — USA EREE - EE N/A N/A
8.8 TEA 2.5 AN B
Others Hitb N/A N/A
12.6 FEM 2.5 i A
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

GOO DWI LL (continued)

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of each of the CGU or group of CGUs to
exceed the relative aggregate recoverable amount as at 31
December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment on the
above group of CGUs, hence no further impairment loss was
recognised (2020: RMB 48,809,000).

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. B8 w
ERERE  AUZSBRENEMEER
BT eS8 ERCELENIRSE
EBEMVARNMNREESEBAEE2021F
12A31HRMEE R E S5 o

REE2021F12A31MBILEE  AEEE
BERE MBS EABMMAER I E NS
WA - W TR E — PR R(E E5 18 (2020
F . AR#48,809,0007T) °

18. REEE N AR

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Cost of investments in associates PREE L A BRI E A 225,428 198,938

Share of post-acquisition profits and other (U HEE & F1| 2 H A 2 EULA
comprehensive income 127,850 90,922
353,278 289,860
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REFE R A NERw
Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows: REBRBE QT NREEABOAT

Proportion of

ownership interest Voting rights Principal activities
BREREERLY REE TERHE
Place of
Name of companies establishment 31/12/2021 31/12/2020  31/12/2021 31/12/2020
20215 20205 20215 2020
ALk e 12A31R 128318 128318 12A31A
% % % %
HeFei Mengniu Modern Farming Dairy The PRC 49.18 49.09 49.00 4900  Liquid milk
Products Co Ltd. ("Feidong") producing
AEFERRBEAHRERAA(RER)  $E EEREN
Moderm Farming (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. The PRC 49.18 49.09 49.00 4900  Liquid milk
("Bengbu’”) producing
BRBE (R) BRI (42 ) i EERAED
Jiangyin Dairy Energy Environment The PRC 29.51 29.45 30.00 3000  Power generation
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Jiangyin Dairy
Energy")
TREERERRARAR (TRKE)) HE WREE
Ma'anshan Changdian Modern Biomass The PRC 19.67 N/A  20.00 (Note i) N/A  Power generation
Energy Co., Ltd. ("Ma'anshan Changdian") (R=E)
SRLRERRENEMRERELLR i ok TNER  WREE
(FBLRE])
Wulatgian banner menghetala Grass Industry ~ The PRC 14.75 N/A  15.00 (Note ii) N/A  Feeds production
Co., Ltd. ("Wulatgian”) (BirEi)
SRR RENEEERAA i TER TER GHEE
([SHu% )
Hebei Jucarbon Biotechnology Co., Ltd. The PRC 38.97 N/A 40.00 N/A~ Power generation
AEERENRBER AT HE TR TER  WREE
Notes: B&E
The Group is able to exercise significant influence over i. AEEEMNEERILREBNEKNE
Ma’anshan Changdian because it has the power to appoint Z EARABRESRELRENAAER
one out of the five directors of Ma'anshan Changdian under AEEAREDSBRLURELRERT
the articles of association of Ma'anshan Changdian. B—H °
ii. The Group is able to exercise significant influence over ii. REBEHHSHUFAIBMEAZE -
Waulatgian because it has the power to appoint one out of the ARBESHUFIHNARER - K&
three directors of Wulatgian under the articles of association BTG ENFI —RESEHRN—F -
of Wulatgian.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REEE N B MR @
Summarised financial information of material EABEATNMBERBE
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the TXEIIAEEEE R E N AN BER
Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised BME - UTHBERBE Al E A IR IEE
financial information below represents amounts shown in the BRI S R RE NI BRI TS
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity MZEHFREVHREAN - FTEZSHE QT
method in these consolidated financial statements. BEAERAEAR -
Feidong BER
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TF T ARBET T

Current assets MENEE 85,476 80,463
Non-current assets FEMENEE 132,676 149,987
Current liabilities nRBBE 19,837 41,991
Non-current liabilities FEREBAE 8,309 11,295
Revenue I ON 138,707 278,026

Profit and total comprehensive income for 4 N #1) & 2 [H WA 48 58
the year 12,842 13,953

Adjustments due to the difference between & HEIARLBERIBR & N

the carrying value and fair value of the mHIREEED T E FER
Group's remaining interests in Feidong B FE
on the date of disposal (759) (1,094)

12,083 12,859
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REEE R BN ER @
Feidong (continued) HEi(ﬁE)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information L BERB AR E VSRR ERA
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate OB A R R 2 B BR T 1B 49 BR

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Net assets of Feidong fERHEE 190,006 177,164

Proportion of Modern Farming's ownership R4 2 (52 ) AR SR 60 7 B #

interest in Feidong REES LB 50% 50%
The Group's share of net assets of Feidong AEEDEIERFEE 95,003 88,582
Gooduwill B 251 251
Fair value adjustments N ERAE 451 830

95,705 89,663
Bengbu B
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARET T

Current assets MENVE E 380,402 293,724
Non-current assets EMBEE 117,863 146,580
Current liabilities nBBE 122,338 122,809
Non-current liabilities JEMBEE 7,686 10,917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtE RN TIMNER w
Bengbu (continued) ﬁi—%(ﬁg)
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TF T ARBET T

Revenue WA 1,001,100 842,279

Profit and total comprehensive income for & @ #) & 2 [H WA 4858
the year 61,664 51,644

Adjustments due to the difference between & HEAZRE BER IR 62 T

the carrying value and fair value of the mEEREEEQ T E FER
Group's remaining interests in Bengbu on BB FH%
the date of disposal (1,310) (2,444)
60,354 49,200
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information B R E R RN R S B RS R R R
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate PRBE S R Rl R ) BR (A 1B
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT

Net assets of Bengbu IR R A E 368,241 306,578

Proportion of Modern Farming's ownership X HU 2 (5 ) 70 38 KO 5 1

interest in Bengbu REZS LB 50% 50%
The Group's share of net asset of Bengbu ~ AN&EEH{LEHIRFEE 184,121 153,289
Goodwill kS 33 33
Fair value adjustments N EAE 2,781 3,436

186,935 156,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Information of associates that are not individually
material
Other associates

18. REEE N AR @
B B3I E R DT ER

HibE & A7

all

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
The Group's share of profit of other ARG B P4 AL fh Bk R B A

associates 709 541

Carrying amount of the Group's interests in A5 [# A H At Bt & A Rl Y e 2 AR
other associates [Eif= 70,638 43,439

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 19. £ YEE
A — Nature of activities A-EBHE

The biological assets of the Group are dairy cows held to
produce raw milk.

The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group at end of the
reporting period is shown below. The Group’s milkable cows
are dairy cows held for milk production. Heifers and calves
are those dairy cows that have not reached the age that can
produce milk.

AEENEMEERBAFEERMPHT
/:': o

UTRAEENREMREFOILTHE -
AEENNTREREDOISG - NFFR
NEEERREDFROILT

2021 2020
20215 20204F

heads heads

L} B

Milkable cows e 184,304 136,203
Heifers and calves ANSES NS 169,489 111,168
Total dairy cows FLA#EET 353,793 247,371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

19. BlOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

A — Nature of activities (continued)

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes
in price of raw milk. The Group does not anticipate that
the price of the raw milk will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future and the Directors are of the view that there
is no available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price of
the raw milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an
approximately nine months’ pregnancy term, a calf is born
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically milked for
approximately 340 days before a dry period of approximately
60 days.

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated fair
value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following
operating risks:

i Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates plantation and breeding.
The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local
environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and
to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to
manage these risks.

ii. Climate, disease and other natural risks
The Group’s biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections and disease controls and
surveys and insurance.

19. EYMEEw

A - EKMEm
AEEEASREHNEREESHERNATLE
BB o IBAREBTERT - EAI B R A RERR
MEBTEABTY® - EERAE  AEEY
A AMITE TR EMmA] ARSI MAE XA
RERREHNHER TERr R

—RIEAT - DEFERERENTOEA KR
ETRRE - HNAEANZHBR - NEH
£ AR ERB RIS o 5
FBEGEPNAZ40K - 2 1EEAKIOKRE
AL -

BB FRERBNE - THiREE B M
BET A EEREDFTER -

AEEEBEEENEERBNSZERAR -
REBERATESRR -

i ERRBRERME
AEEAETHERARESBERER
BB EER MOER - ARED
HIE B EETEHRREREMERDY
REBRRLEERF - BEBETED®R
BB BIRIRER K EREREE RG R
NEEZFREL -

i. SRR RBEREMERRR
AEENEMEERREIRIRE
bt KBEEEMEREREENE
o ARECERERLBREZER
R - BREENRE KB
BEFHE RRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 19. EMEEw
B — Quantity of the agricultural produce of the B-FAEBAEYMEENEBXLEENRE
Group’s biological assets
2021 2020
2021% 2020%F
kg kg
Fr TR
Volume of milk sold PsEE 1,586,857,000  1,456,962,000
C - Value of dairy cows C-I4MEE
The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows at end of the S R Y FL A A B R H S B AN 51 a8
reporting period is set out below: ™
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Milkable cows RS 6,060,224 5,084,343
Heifers and calves ANSEOUNES 3,344,700 2,016,900
Total dairy cows FLA#ET 9,404,924 7,101,243
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows (continued)

19. £ EEw
C-H4MEEm

Heifers and Milkable
calves cows Total
ANSE S HNE S RS HE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2020 FR20204F1 B 1 H #4564 1,916,200 5,543,159 7,459,359
Feeding cost and other related 7% X 7N Jo B At 48 BE A AR
costs 1,332,078 - 1,332,078
Transfer LEEC (1,680,627) 1,680,627 -
Decrease due to disposal HEEEUR D (108,330) (550,548) (658,878)
Gain (loss) arising from AR EEHILFH
changes in fair value less & KA EE A Y IS (S
costs to sell of dairy cows i2) 557,579 (1,588,895) (1,031,316)
Balance at 31 December 2020 72202012 431 H K &4 2,016,900 5,084,343 7,101,243
Acquired on acquisition of Wit s BT 28 2 B e L B
subsidiaries (Note 35) (Kf7E35) 803,140 1,513,097 2,316,237
Feeding cost and other related 7% A 2 I L {8 B8 Ak AR
costs 1,748,399 - 1,748,399
Transfer B (2,005,285) 2,005,285 -
Decrease due to disposal HEZEUR D (111,799) (693,145) (804,944)
Gain (loss) arising from AER T EZERMIL T H
changes in fair value less ERARE LB K
costs to sell of dairy cows (E8) 893,345 (1,849,356) (956,011)
Balance at 31 December 2021 722021412831 H K 44 3,344,700 6,060,224 9,404,924

The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal And Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuers, to assist it in assessing the fair values
of the Group's dairy cows. The independent valuer and
the management of the Group held meetings periodically
to discuss the valuation techniques and changes in market
information to ensure the valuation was performed properly.
The valuation techniques used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation models
are disclosed in Note 42.

REEDREMEMTOETERLAER
AR(BYEEMAERT) BYHEFEAEER
ENRTE - BUHEMELASEEEERE
EHRITEE  (IRGERTRMBERE
B UHEREBEZAET BEAFEMA
HERNRAEERMEEEHASIKER
RHI5E42 ©
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W
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows (continued)

19. £EMEEw
C-H4MEE®m

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's dairy cows with M20215F12A318 - AEEREEAARE

carrying amount of RMB770,414,000 (2020: RMB754,014,000) 770,414,0007T (20204 = AR #754,014,000

were pledged to banks to secure certain bank and other TRPFEERTRIT  ERETAEKHE

borrowings granted to the Group (Notes 26 and 27). B E T IRTT R E A & R AR (BT 526 &2
27) ©

The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of TN T IR L R TEE

raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to sell of WIHE K AEENE TGS

dairy cows is analysed as follows:

2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Gains arising on initial recognition of
raw milk at fair value less costs to sell

W FREH WIS 42 2 S EIR H &
PRI TE R E A O e 2l

at the point of harvest 2,378,446 2,277,414

Loss arising from changes in fair value AR EZEF I HERAR
less costs to sell of dairy cows ELREE (956,011) (1,031,316)
1,422,435 1,246,098

20. INVENTORIES 20. 78

2021 2020
2021%F 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
Feeds to be consumed & AR H ER 1,888,090 1,108,020
Feeds held for sale FEH S B gk 179,294 -
Others HAth 123,885 50,623

212

2,191,269 1,158,643

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 1. B E J R H b FE Uz IE
PREPAYMENTS RENRIE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARET T
Trade receivables BUE SR 1,044,160 639,768
Bills receivables eI =R 1,176 =
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE - (8,483)
1,045,336 631,285
Prepayments for feeds, materials, gkt - MR Rig REMEVTER
insurance and others A 149,239 47,736
Prepayments for property, plant and M - BERRENTENRIE
equipment 54,238
Input value added tax recoverable A] U [B] 3 TH I (E AR 6,720 2,938
Short term loan receivables EHIEE W E R 2,003 8,092
Receivables from disposal of subsidiaries i & Mf /& A9 fE Wz IE
(Note 36) (BF5E36) - 7,406
Others HAtb 18,573 9,202
1,276,109 706,659
Analysed as: BTN -
Current BNER 1,221,871 706,659
Non-current JEBNEA 54,238 =
1,276,109 706,659

As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables from contracts with

customers amounted to RMB541,570,000.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's trade receivables with
carrying amount of RMB7,250,000 (2020: nil) were pledged
to secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the

Group (Notes 26 and 27).

Trade receivables at the end of the reporting period

principally represent receivables from sales of raw milk
and feeds. The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to
its customers of raw milk and no more than 90 days to its

customers of feeds.

R2020F 1818 - REBZFPEYNEKE S
SR A AR #£541,570,0007T °

R2021%F12A318 + AEEREEAARE
7,250,0007T (2020%F : )W EIE SR

BERUERR TASENE TRITREA
B (M 5E26K.27) ©

HERRNEWE ZHRREBIEHE R
MEKRIE - AREHKTHRERADEFI0

ANEEHREFANETETZNORNEER
H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 21. EIRE ZIRF R H b FEWRFRIE LA

PREPAYMENTS (continued) &%E’f‘]';‘-fklﬁ(%)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables and R EEARIZER AR (EREHREEK
bills receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented AR EEEE)2VHERE SRANE
based on the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period, KWEEGIREEBEBREE OERR ST
which approximated the respective revenue recognition TS 8

dates at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020
20216 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR R
— within 30 days - 30KA 955,222 631,285
- beyond 30 days but within 90 days - HB30KR{EIOR AR 49,977 =
—beyond 1 year but within 2 years (Note) ~ — #BiB—FERIFE AR (HFE) 38,961 =
Bills receivables e R IR
— within 30 days - 30RAR 135 =
—beyond 90 days but within 120 days — FRA90RIB 120K LA 500 =
—beyond 120 days but within 360 days — BB 120K 1B 360K AR 541 =
1,045,336 631,285
Note: The receivable balance belongs to a subsidiary, Zhongyuan Mier . BUCRIEHREBERWME AR R THESR
Muye Company Limited (“Zhongyuan”), and is secured RARI(Hx]) AR TRERER(HE
by the original shareholders of Zhongyuan (“Zhongyuan J5 1) VE #4837 LA B 57 3557 1% 55 Bh e A~ P
Seller”) and a consideration payable to Zhongyuan Seller of TTEHHEE AR 256,338,0007T1ER
RMB256,338,000 as disclosed in Note 35. PR o
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other e B 5 BRI EL A W TR B R (B AT A 5
receivables are set out in Note 39. TEESIPAHTEE39 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

22. fTE€mMIA

Assets Liabilities
BE afE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20205 20214 20205
12A31H 12H31H 12A31H 12A31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTFIT ARBTR ARBTT
Interest rate swaps (Note i) FI| 345 B8 (B 5Ei) - - (3,446) (52,264)
Foreign currency forward ~ JNEZRHAIA 4
contracts (Note ii) GEaD) - 11,145 - -
Foreign currency option HIE HARE A 49
contracts (Note i) (Hf i) - - (112,642) (31,074)
CFCCS (Note iii) CFCCS(Ht=Fiii) 67,537 = - =
67,537 11,145 (116,088) (83,338)
Analysed as: DA
Current mE - 11,145 (17,758) (59,338)
Non-current FERED 67,537 - (98,330) (24,000)
67,537 11,145 (116,088) (83,338)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes:

Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

Nominal amount

BREHE

22. TTEE€RM I AEw
Wigs
MR FE BIEFRAT -

Swaps

=

At 31 December 2021
R20214F12H31H
USD200,000,000
200,000,0003 7T
usD42,300,000
42,300,000% 7T

At 31 December 2020
R2020%F 12H31H
USD200,000,000
200,000,0003 7T
USD42,300,000
42,300,000% 7T
HKD1,500,000,000
1,500,000,0007% T

From LIBOR to 0.66%—0.945%

B R BUERTT R ZEF B E0.66%Z=0.945%
From LIBOR+1% to 1.50%—1.90%

BRI ITRIERE+1%E1.50%%1.90%

From LIBOR to 0.66%—0.945%

B fmBIRTTRZEF B E0.66%ZE0.945%
From LIBOR+1% to 1.50%-1.90%

B BERTTRIEFR B +1%E1.50%%F1.90%
From HIBOR to 2.59%2.62%
BABRITRZERBE259%ZE2.62%

216

The Group entered into several interest rate swaps contracts
with certain banks to hedge the risk of interest rate fluctuation
arising from certain bank loans at floating interest rate. The fair
value changes of the swaps were recognised as a deduction of
finance costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B 7% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

Major items of the foreign currency forward contracts and the
foreign currency option contracts are as follows:

Nominal amount

EREH

2. fTEERIA
BISE © ()
i SNEREANRIESEAOEEEE I

™

Forward exchange rates

BEHER

At 31 December 2020
R2020%F12H31H
HKD1,230,390,000

USDO0.1274 to USDO0.1280: HKD1

1,230,390,0007% 7T 0.12743 7T E0.1280% 7T : 187
Nominal amount Type Position  Prices
EHSH R FR KR EE
At 31 December 2021
R2021€12/31H
USD342,300,000* Call Long RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
342,300,000% 7T* R FE  ARK67ISTTEAR6.9550TT « 17T
Put Short  RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
Rk KB ARK6TISTTEAR6.95507T ¢ 13T
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.1500: USD1
R #E  ARM7.10007EARE7.15005T - 137T
At 31 December 2020
R2020F 12H31H
UsD257,000,000* Call Long RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8790: USD1
257,000,000 7T* R HaE  ARE670007TEARE6.87907T ¢ 12E7T
Put Short  RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8790: USD1
R *E  ARM67000mEARK6.87907T : 137
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.3000: USD1
R wE  AR¥E7.10007TE ARE7.30007T 13T
o These are currency call put option portfolios. * ZERBERE RLEEES -

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward
contracts and foreign currency option contracts with certain
banks to hedge the currency risk arising from certain of its
bonds and bank loans denominated in USD and HKD. The fair
value changes of the foreign currency forward contracts and
the foreign currency option contracts were recognised in other
gains and losses.

REBEAETRITAILE TINERE K RIMNE
HESH  NEPETAETRETHENES
MIRITEREENEERR - SMNERHE H R
PE A M AT EZ BN E b R E R E

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VAN
el

S R R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

Major items of the CFCCS contracts are as follows:

The Company entered into several CFCCS contracts with banks
to hedge the currency risk arising from USD400,000,000 of its
USD Bonds (as defined in Note 28). The fair value changes
of the CFCCS contracts were recognised in other gains and
losses.

According to the CFCCS agreements, at termination date, if
the spot rate is equal to or less than the cap strike rate agreed
(the “Cap Rate"), and equal to or greater than the floor strike
rate (the “Floor”), the Company will exchange RMB for USD
at an exchange rate of 6.478; if the spot rate is greater than
the Cap Rate, the Company will exchange RMB for USD at an
exchange rate of (6.478+(spot rate—Cap Rate)); if the spot rate
is less than the Floor Rate, the Company will exchange RMB
for USD at an exchange rate of (6.478+(spot rate—Floor Rate)).
At the same time, the Company will receive interest on USD
nominal amount at the interest rate of 2.125% and pay interest
on RMB nominal amount (translated from USD to RMB at
the rate of 6.478) at the interest rate of fixed rate agreed (the
"Fixed Rate"”) semi-annually until the termination date.

Nominal amount

HREH

22. TTEE€RM I AEw

B : (8

CFCCSAR#MEEBAMT ¢

RRAREIRITRILZHCFCCSA A - AH
JHE400,000,000K TTHIE T E S (FE & R
28 ELMEEER - CFCCSARKIMDT
BEZBt AL MR RER -

BIECFCCSHaE - R IERE - 818
BERENKEROERN ERIEX([ LR
Ex|) BERSaR TREXR(TRE
K])  RRQFEAGATSHIE R & A R 3,
BT EEHIER AN FRER - K
NAE LA (6.478+ (BIEARE X — LRREER))HY
EXRgARBEBRKAETL  EAHERK
RTRIERX - KA (6.478+ (BN EfE
& - TREXR))REREARE S BKE
T ° AR - ANRA F) 5 BA2.125%H) FI| = U ER
ETRELENNBEWIRLD F B E T MR
(AEMNER)FEFEIF—AAREEZE
SENFE (R6.478ETHREABARE) -
HEEKRIEAMH -

At 31 December 2021

R2021F 128318

USD400,000,000 Fixed Rate

400,000,0003€ 7T TE &
Floor Rate
TRRER
Cap Rate
ERER

The valuation techniques used in determination of fair values

of the interest rate swaps, foreign currency forwards, foreign

currency options and CFCCS are disclosed in Note 42.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

23. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 23. HittemEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T ARETT

Structured bank deposits EREHIRITER - 50,000

HEHRETERTBEEERFRITNEHE
R AENER2ERME TIRBMETE -
ZEF IR A HER ARSI -

The balances represented short-term deposits placed
within reputable banks in the PRC with variable interest rate
determined by other certain index. These deposits are stated

at FVTPL.
24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 24. CEHRITERUREBITESRK
BALANCES AND CASH Be
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Pledged bank deposits EERBITER
Current (Note i) eI =) 41,631 34,503
Non-current (Note ii) IEREY (P 3D 127,043 122,706
168,674 157,209

Notes: P EE -

MBEERRITERIREFNF0.30%=
1.95%(2020512 4318 : 0.30%%1.80%) &Y
WITMHHEREFTR - XEREREREN
REMERIER

The current pledged bank deposits carry interest at prevailing
market rates ranging from 0.30% to 1.95% (31 December 2020:
0.30% to 1.80%) per annum and represent deposits pledged
for letter of credit and bills payable.

ii. The non-current pledged bank deposits represent deposits ii. EMENE ERRITIFFIER R 2023F58 5
which will mature in May 2023 and carry interest at prevailing HMER - IR G F3.58%MIRITmimHI=
market rates of 3.58% per annum and have been pledged for B BEERRITER(IOME26FTE)
bank borrowings as set out in Note 26. ER -

SE iR L VUL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

W

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

220

24. CEHBITERURBITESRK

BALANCES AND CASH (continued) REw
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRES
Cash on hand FEER S 5 10
Bank balances RITEEER 2,089,620 1,144,337
2,089,625 1,144,347
Time deposits with original maturity [REEA A &80 =E AW EBFR
over three months (Note i) CGE) 351,942 41,215
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in meReRERMTIRERES
the consolidated statement of e LlCEEaD)
cash flows (Note ii) 1,737,683 1,103,132
2,089,625 1,144,347
Analysed as: DA
Current mE 1,887,744 1,123,710
Non-current IERED 201,881 20,637
2,089,625 1,144,347

Notes:

i Time deposits with original maturity over three months were
held within banks and carry interest at prevailing market rate
of 3.08% to 3.81% (31 December 2020: 0.36% to 3.70%) per

annum at 31 December 2021.

ii. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, cash at banks and
short-term time deposits with original maturities of three
months or less which are held within banks and carry interest at
prevailing market rate of 0.01% to 1.95% (31 December 2020:
0.01% to 1.50%) per annum at 31 December 2021.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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M2021F 128318 * FARTHEREREH
HRBE=HANEHTRIZEF3I.08%E
3.81%(20205 12 A31H : 0.36%%3.70%) H
WITHIBFEETE -

R2021F12A318 - HekREEEVE
BERS - RITHES RTFARITIRAITNS
MEFF0.01%%E1.95% (202055128318 :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 24, EERBITERURRBITERRK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued) REw
Pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash at 31 20214 2020 12 A31 AWM B B/ RTT
December 2021 and 2020 are denominated in USD, Euro GERARRITEHRIRESTINAET * BT
(“EUR"), HKD, Australian dollar (“AUD") and RMB. (M&xl) B BBl RARES

RS

Certain bank balances that are denominated in currencies NEBEEMNREEE NN EETERNS
other than the functional currency of the relevant entities are TFRITERF I T -

set out below:

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBF T AR®ETT

usb ETT 182,701 134,071
EUR BT 391 255
HKD BT 46,968 46,305
AUD JRIT 2,882 =

—g--F54 rERRuRaRARLE )]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. BN E R K EMENFKIE

The credit period granted by suppliers for trade purchases is HERE TRERINEEHR —MRR120K
generally within 120 days. The following is an aged analysis of AR - AT RREmERRNENE SRR K
trade and bills payables at the end of the reporting period: EREBREBRE DT -
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBT T
Trade payables &8 5 8RR
— within 60 days - 60K A 1,177,400 610,589
—beyond 60 days but within 120 days — EBBOORIE 120K AR 337,617 146,753
—beyond 120 days but within 360 days — 838 120K 1B 360K AR 71,546 44,539
- beyond 360 days but within 720 days — HiA360R{B720K LAY 25,359 15,015
Bills payable (Note) FERT 5% (B 5E) 28,632 15,659
1,640,554 832,555
Payable for acquisition of property, plant ~ BBE#M% - BE MR EEN
and equipment KB 376,012 217,521
Accrued staff costs FEst 8 TR 241,636 212,269
Receipts in advance from disposal of S TR FIE
dairy cows 11,375 27,093
Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries Lt B B /8 1 B R AT RRIB
(Note 35) (HftEE35) 643,197 -
Guarantee deposit RBES® 131,571 89,740
Payables for acquisition of non-controlling  WtHE 3F 12 A% 25 FE < BB
interests (Note 32) (B#7£32) 38,192 =
Dividends payable JEAT AR B 9,778 =
Others Hit 75,846 31,608
3,168,161 1,410,786
Analysed as: DR
Current BN 3,144,194 1,410,786
Non-current JEENHA 23,967 =
3,168,161 1,410,786
Note: Bills payables are with maturities within twelve months from Mzt ENERERESEZTABET @A

the respective issuance dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. BANK BORROWINGS

4= A

B 75 R 2R MY &

A N = |

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

26. BITERK

2021 2020
202145 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET R AREFIT
Bank borrowings: RITEN
Unsecured i 4,064,347 5,281,002
Secured (Note) B () 601,669 361,324
4,666,016 5,642,326
Carrying amounts repayable: JEEZERMEE
Within one year —FR 2,380,683 3,471,314
Between one to two years —FEWER 1,234,489 703,519
Between two to five years MEZRFENRN 980,596 1,467,493
Over five years RENRE 70,248 =
4,666,016 5,642,326
Less: amounts due within one year shown & : RRBI B EIE N5~
under current liabilities —FANEHFRIE (2,380,683) (3,471,314)
2,285,333 2,171,012

Note: Certain bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 BT

were secured by property, plant and equipment, biological
assets, trade receivables and bank deposits owned by the
Group as set out in Notes 15, 19, 21 and 24, respectively.

720214 &% 202012331 H & TR
TEREARERFNYE - BERR
B EMEE  BRESERRRITE
KA BIFNIFES - 19~ 21 R24) 1 HE

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

26. BANK BORROW'NGS (continued)

224

The bank borrowings comprise:

26. BRITER@®

RITIERBE -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T AR¥ETT

Fixed-rate borrowings TE BB 2,971,548 2,230,939
Variable-rate borrowings A 1,694,468 3,411,387
4,666,016 5,642,326

In September 2018, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with several banks, under which the Group was
allowed to borrow HKD1,500,000,000 loan from the banks at
floating interest rate determined as HIBOR+1.7% per annum
and the upfront fee amounted to HKD27,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB24,187,000). The Group withdrew HKD1,500,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,284,780,000), partially repaid
HKD270,000,000 (equivalent to RMB243,000,000) in 2019,
fully repaid the remaining HKD1,230,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,024,356,000) during the current year, and the effective
interest rate is 5.17% per annum.
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201898 + AN RIEAE FIRITFI LB E
W& Bt AEEEBESRITEAER
1,500,000,000/8 7 © BFIEEBIRITRIZEN
B+1.7%H)Z 8| & & A%27,000,0007% 7T
(FE R AR ¥24,187,0007T) K B B~ 305t
B o AL ER2019F H2EN1,500,000,00075 7T
(HHERARY1,284,780,0007T) * B 1E &
270,000,0007% 7t (48 & 7 A R # 243,000,000
TN AR E 2 EEE# T 1,230,000,000
BIT(HHE R ARE1,024,356,0000T) - B&
BREF K A5.17% °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

26. BANK BORROW'NGS (continued)

In June 2020, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with several banks, under which the Group was allowed
to borrow USD200,000,000 loan from the banks at floating
interest rate determined as LIBOR+1.65% per annum and
the upfront fee amounted to USD3,600,000 (equivalent
to RMB25,145,000). The Group withdrew USD200,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,368,862,000) in 2020, partially repaid
USDé40,000,000 (equivalent to RMB387,612,000) during the
current year, and the effective interest rate is 3.49% per
annum.

Save as set out above, the effective interest rates of the
Group's bank borrowings equal to contractual interest rates.
The effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

26. BITER®@

20206 H + A AEIEE TIRITEI L BE
Wk B AEEEESRITEAER
200,000,000% 70 * BFZMBBITR EHF
B +1.65%K))Z 8 F & & A#3,600,0003 7T
(HEE N ARBE25,145,0007T) &Y BT B 35t
B o ANE E 20204 $2 1 200,000,000 7T
(BN ARY1,368,862,0007T) - MAE
JE #8138 60,000,000% T (HHE R AR
387,612,0007T) + HERFF|E E3.49% °

B ESN  REBESRITERNERMNESE
RIRE KRR - AT /ERFHN =X

2021 2020
20214 20204

Fixed-rate borrowings EEER
Variable-rate borrowings FRBR

Interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are determined
based on the benchmark lending rate and loan prime rate
announced by the People’s Bank of China, the LIBOR, the
HIBOR and the Secured Overnight Financing Rate.

The bank borrowings are denominated in the following

2.85%-7.26%
1.21%-6.85%

0.66%-5.00%
1.22%-5.17%

FRERNF X TIREHEARRITAME
EREENE R EREENE - RBURTT
RXHFE  BBRITRAFEFERAENBRE
BEMEMET -

RITEFA TN EEHE -

currencies:
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARETT AREFIT
uUsb ETT 1,327,048 1,570,957
HKD BT - 1,031,784
RMB AR 3,338,968 3,039,585
4,666,016 5,642,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

27. OTHER BORROWINGS 27. HER
2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Other borrowings: EMER
— From Mengniu (Note 44(c)) - KRB S5 (F15E44(0) 495,466 -
- Others - Hfth 141,538 =
637,004 -
Unsecured piugdiadd 557,217 =
Secured (Note) BEA T 79,787 -
637,004 -
Carrying amounts repayable: FEERRE S -
Within one year —FR 433,676 =
Between one to two years —FEMFA 17,511 -
Between two to five years MEZERFA 185,817 -
637,004 -
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : R8BI & EE T5IT~
under current liabilities —E AR EAFIE (433,676) —
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 3E/REI B EIE TR &5 203,328 =
Note: Certain other borrowings as at 31 December 2021 are MizE :  R2021F12A31 B8 E THEMMERBAR
secured by property, plant and equipment, biological assets, SEHENME  BELRRE £EWA
and trade receivables owned by the Group as set out in ERERE ZBER(DBIEHRMTES - 19
Notes 15, 19, and 21, respectively. 21 /E#K R -
The Group's other borrowings are loans with fixed interest REENEMBERRNR2021F12A31BEE
rates from 3.85% to 12.00% as at 31 December 2021. FIZE 53.85%E 12.00%ME K o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] MNBIEFE

28. LONG TERM BONDS 28. RHIE®
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T ARETT

Carrying amounts repayable: JEEEAREE
Within one year —FA 31,989 -
Between two to five years MEERFN 3,159,730 =
3,191,719 -
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : RRBI B EE TR
under current liabilities —F AN FEAFRIAE (31,989) =
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities JEREN B EE NTRE R 3,159,730 =
On 15 July 2021, the Company issued bonds in an aggregate MR202167H158 » RRRIETERE
principal amount of USD500 million which will mature on BMARS500A&EXT - BR2026F7 )EJ 1 4
14 July 2026 (the “USD Bonds"). The net proceeds of the BIHmwEs((ZExEHE]) - IR BH
USD Bonds amounted to USD495,165,000 (equivalent to THEkAeE  ZETESFNMERE
RMB3,200,760,000) after deducting the underwriting discounts SHEE A495,165,000 T (BHERAR M
and commissions. The USD Bonds bear interest at the rate 3,200,760,0007T) ° EJTEFH K FH =X
of 2.125% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The 2125%5 8 - BHFEXN—IR - RAFH
Company intended to use the proceeds from the USD Bonds ﬂ%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%?ﬂlﬁ}zﬁ RERE R —MKR{EE
for refinancing and general corporate purposes. The carrying & —FRAREERAEREMNAE

amounts repayable within one year are interests payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEEE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Lease liabilities payable: JENREERE
Within one year —FR 50,435 23,851
Within a period of more than one year —F LA BT EBIBR S
but not exceeding two years B A 37,178 10,572
Within a period of more than two years ME LA BB AT
but not exceeding five years B A 108,036 32,708
Within a period of more than five years HBiEh F AR A 371,863 152,762
567,512 219,893
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RREN B EE TR
12 months shown under current 1218 A A& E /I
liabilities (50,435) (23,851)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R IEREN & FE 57~
shown under non-current liabilities 1218 A& £ E 5808 517,077 196,042

228

The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not yet paid. The incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 4.65%
to 5.70% (31 December 2020: from 4.65% to 5.20%) per
annum as at 31 December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

30. eEE

2021 2020

202145 20204F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Sales of raw milk HERE) 3,762 198
Sales of feeds $HE B R 1,581 -
5,343 198

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to

RMB189,000.

31. DEFERRED INCOME

MR2020F181H » BB AARKE
189,0007T °

31. IEEFEW A

Arising from

government

grants

BN FrELE

RMB'000

ARETIT

Balance at 1 January 2020 202051 A1 B B &84 157,678
Addition NE 46,315
Released to income BEIA (31,131)
Balance at 31 December 2020 FR20204F 12 A 31 B M &S84 172,862
Addition NE 59,433
Released to income BEIA (47,733)
Balance at 31 December 2021 202112 A 31 B W45k 184,562

Deferred income represents government grants obtained
in relation to the construction and acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and inventories. Government grants are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
as deferred income and credited to the profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the useful lives of the related assets or

over the periods in which the inventories were consumed.

ELEWATERZRMBEYR - BFE KR EA
RIFREFHBTRHA - BT ERE 8
BRRERAFHEEZEWA - AREBEER
A AFERARZERTFEN IR ANRERE
AR o

—B-—FEH PERRNEERARLE 229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 32. BRARUR KRG aER#E
AND RESERVES

Share capital B2
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEE B 2<
‘000 HKD'000
T FET
Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each FRRONB A BB
Authorised JETE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 20201 B1H ~ 2020F &

and 2021 20214128 31H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid EEITREE
At 1 January 2020 720201 A1H 6,407,635 640,764
Exercise of Management Options 1710 E I8 E IR AR #E (M 51 34(a))

(Note 34(a)) 50,931 5,093
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 6,458,566 645,857
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BT E R (KEE) 1,457,096 145,709
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 7,915,662 791,566

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Presented as 255 675,869 555,535
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B 7% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] MNBIEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
AND RESERVES (continued)

Share premium

32. RAUR KRG RER @

WA %8

Share premium

B0 E

RMB'000

ARETIT

Balance at 1 January 2020 202051 A1 B /&R 4,945,381
Exercise of Management Options (Note 34(a)) 17185 12 2 R A (PfT 31 34(a)) 39,701
At 31 December 2020 7202012 831H 4,985,082
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BT E B (IR 2,053,786
Dividends distribution f& Bk (142,532)
At 31 December 2021 2021128318 6,896,336

Note:

On 27 January 2021, an aggregate of 650,000,000 new shares
with par value of HKDO0.10 each of the Company have been
placed to certain independent third parties at the placing
price of HKD2.40 per share, resulting in an increase of the
share capital of HKD65,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB54,223,000). An amount of HKD1,487,200,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB1,240,622,000), being the excess of
the net proceeds from the placing of HKD1,552,200,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,294,845,000) over the
par value of the new shares, was credited to share premium.
These new shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in
all respects. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds
from the placing on infrastructure development and herd
expansion, potential mergers and acquisitions and general
working capital.

On 29 November 2021, an aggregate of 807,096,101 new
shares with par value of HKDO0.10 each of the Company have
been issued to the holding vehicle designated by Mengniu
("Mengniu SPV") as part of the consideration for acquisition
of Fuyuan. An amount of HKD992,7288,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB813,164,000), being the excess of the
market price of the shares issued of HKD1,073,438,000
(calculated using the market price per share HKD1.33 of
the shares on the issue date, equivalent to approximately
RMB879,275,000) over the par value of the new shares, was
credited to share premium.

P eE -

R2021F1 8278 » AEK2. 40;%7%
MEEBERETEYLE - FREESHE
650,000,000/ A" A R B R EEO0.107%8
TCRIFTRR D - B AN A165,000,000
BT HEERH ARKS4,223,0000T) °
1,487,200,0008 T (HER O AR
1,240,622,0007T) + BNEBE & P8 sE F
%81,552,200,000/8 T (HHE RO ARE
1,294,845,0007T) BB EEMN IS -
Eat ARG EE - *z%%ﬁﬁ’iﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁi
EMBEBITROZEREA - AR

B I E AT ﬂiﬁ/ﬂéﬁﬁwgﬁ% ﬁm%’f‘f
BREAFERE  BEHBR-—REEER
% o

R2021F118298 * EAKRBER

REN—H » AR ﬂaﬁ%tﬁa
EMEB AR ([EESPV])HETA R
807,096,101 A X B F R EEO0.10/8
TCHIFT AL © 992,7288,000% 7T (8 E 7
4 ANER®813,164,0007T) - ENE 31T A%
A T{E1,073,438,000/% 7T (32317 A &
PHE1.338TtE - BE M@/\E?ﬁ%
879,275,0007T) 2 1& ¥ AR E B &) 2B 5
u‘l‘)\HX{JJ/ﬁn{E °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

232

AND RESERVES (continued)

Other reserve

HAt &%

32. BAUR R RERGHE®

Other reserve

Hit B

RMB’000

AREFT

Balance at 1 January 2020 202051 A1 B B4R 970,829
Equity transactions related to interest FHERERERNERRS

free loans (Note i) (B 5ED (1,561)

At 31 December 2020 20209124318 969,268
Equity transactions related to interest EHRREERNERRS

free loans (Note i) (BRF&ED (6,694)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests in Uit 8 BT /8 R R B SR AR R
subsidiaries (Note ii) (GEzaD) (42,465)
At 31 December 2021 20215 12H31H 920,109

Notes:

P e

The movement represented the portion of the difference
between nominal value and amortised cost of interest-
free loans granted by the Company to Modern Farming, a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
recognised as owners’ contribution to Modern Farming, and
proportionally attributable to non-controlling interests.

In December 2021, Mengao Fuyuan (Hongkong) Co., Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, which previously held 65%
equity interest in Haykingdom acquired the remaining 35%
non-controlling interests in Haykingdom. The difference
of RMB43,178,000 between the cash consideration of
USD10,000,000 (equivalent to RMB63,651,000) and the
carrying amount of non-controlling interests of USD3,216,000
(equivalent to RMB20,473,000) has been debited to other
reserve and non-controlling interests.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

BYREARARTARAFEZENBE AR
BARKBE GRS % S EREEE#HK
KZRZEREED  ERB/EAAHRRK
HEGEB)WER - hIFERERIZL P
DI -

202141278 + I RTFEA Haykingdom 65%%
RNERER(EB)BERAR KA RNE
A E)UWEE T Haykingdom Tl #435% 1) FE 2
B Az - 3£ {E10,000,000% 7T (18 & 7
AR#63,651,0007T) B IE 12 IR 4 5 AR T 1B
3,216,0003 7T (FH & 7 A R #520,473,0007T)
HZ=58 A R #43,178,0007C B 5t A H A % 1
RIS o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

AND RESERVES (continued)
Shares held under the Share Award Scheme

32. BRAURRMD RERHE®

RERORBEFHENRG

Shares held under

the Share
Award Scheme
RIE R4 R EEHE
BRENRS
RMB'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2020 1R2020F1 A1 8 Rk (57,012
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share AR 17 BB AT S8 B I im AR
award scheme (Note 34(b)) (B 5E34(b)) (19,892)
Reversal due to vesting of award shares B 22 B A 1) 57 88 i ¢ [l
(Note 34(b)) (it 5E34(b)) 29,560
Balance at 31 December 2020 FA20204F12 A 31 B By &5 64 (47,344)
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share B SR ET SIS B Lk
award scheme (Note 34(b)) (BT 5E34(b)) (53,052)
Reversal due to vesting of award shares SRR D B T 7 )
(Note 34(b)) (B 7E34(b)) 13,865
Balance at 31 December 2021 1202112 A 31 B B &4 (86,531)

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 33. BRIREFIGTE

The PRC employees of the Group are eligible members of
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the government of the PRC. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries of the company are required to contribute in
accordance with employee pension insurance and other
insurance benefits requirements on monthly basis to the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

AEENTEREE RTEBRFEHOERE
BERABHEINEERKE - ARFRF
BB ARNE TARETIRERE I
k&M BT A RBERE R RKEMNE
R AR S BRAEN - ARERBERE
FRKBHE Bl — R ESREE RS
TR AR E MR -

—E--FFR PERRKERRERAT 233
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

Sis)

34.

234

. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

Other subsidiaries in jurisdictions outside of the PRC
contribute to statutory retirement plans on behalf of their
employees which in many cases are managed by the
government in those jurisdictions. Those subsidiaries make
periodic contributions to the statutory retirement plans as
required and contributions are generally determined as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries or a fixed amount
per employee per calendar year depending on laws and
regulations of the jurisdiction.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had no forfeited
contributions under the above retirement benefit scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2021 and 2020 under such cheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

The retirement benefit cost incurred are disclosed in Note 7.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(@) Modern Farming Option Scheme

On 31 October 2010, the Company granted to two
directors and one senior management member of
Modern Farming a total of 87,412,507 share options
of the Company for nil consideration and with an
exercise price of HKDO0.86 per share (the “Management

Options”) which would expire on 29 October 2020.

On 27 August 2020, 50,930,832 ordinary shares with
par value of HKDO.10 each of the Company were
issued at a price of HKDO0.86 due to the exercise of
the Management Options, resulting in an increase
of the share capital of HKD5,093,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB4,528,000). An amount
of HKD38,708,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB34,415,000), being the excess of the cash
consideration of HKD43,801,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB38,943,000) over the par value of
the ordinary shares of RMB4,528,000, was credited to
share premium. The amount previously recognised in
share options reserve of RMB5,286,000 in relation to
the 50,930,832 share options were transferred to share
premium.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

33.

34.

BB B @

RN AR EMIBARIRKRER
BEVETRNFTBIEE - ZE5FEEHFZB
NRTEBBEREEROBFEIE - 2K B
NIRRT EBEE TR EIEE - 75
—RIEEEEAAFENESI LA EREES
BEFNETE SR T AR EERE
HMT)ET °

MR20214 K% 2020912 A31H @ AN&EB I &
FHURREFIFTEIE THOR AR - A&
B 7] gt 2 {5 AR 7% 5 1 FOR BB K 3R A FoK
oo ARIERZETE] 0 720214 K 2020612 A
MNANMEANEANEERNED RREZERN
HREI R UK -

BEAE R IRPRAR MR ANE B 527 P 3R o

PR3 X RS

(a) BRAWE(EE) BRESE
M20105E10A31H » AATIUAERE
HRAREEERBESER— %5
BEIRER B KA 2£87,412,50717
NABRE - TEEARERR0.86E T
((EEEBRE]D - KB12020F108
298 FH7 -

R2020%8A27H » ARNITIHEEIRE
BB ARAIIK0.86B T ER
27750,930,832f B %0.10/8 T Ay &
WA - AR AL AN5,093,0005% 7T (48
BN AR#4,528,0007T) © LK
f843,801,0008 7T (AHE RH AR
38,943,000T) BB EBREEBEAR
#&4,528,0007T &) & ¥E 38,708,000/ 7T
(HERH AREE34,415,0007T) 5F A
READ % 8 o 4o A1A B850,930,83217 B8
BEREREBRERBENSEARE
5,286,0007C 8 = K (0 )m(E o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

Share Award Scheme

(1)

Share Award Scheme |

On 9 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date 1”),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme |”) to motivate
and award the contribution of certain members
of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme | is valid and effective for a period of 5
years commencing on the Adoption Date |.

The shares to be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme | will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune Limited ("Dairy Fortune”)
which is 100% owned by Dairy Fortune (PTC)
Limited (the “Trustee”) from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held
in trust for the relevant selected participants
until such shares are vested. Based on the trust
arrangements among the Company, the sole
shareholder of the Trustee and the Trustee, the
Company is able to control the Trustee and its
subsidiary, Dairy Fortune, pursuant to IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements. Therefore, the
Group accounts for the Trustee and Dairy Fortune
as consolidated structured entities. The ordinary
shares of the Company held by Dairy Fortune are
accounted for as a debit to the Group's reserve
and are presented under the account of “Shares
held under the Share Award Schemes” in the
condensed consolidated financial statements.

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b)

12 82 b =t &

(1)

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

% 15 28 B 5t 2l
720169 B 98 ([£R 48 B H#AI)) -
AR AR — I8 IR () 12 B 51 2
(TR0 2B B =T 201)) LAEUED K 42 8
AREBETEREKE MEER
EEMEE - REZQAREET
RERIR AR SN - BRD S B At
SNEBHET  BEMBE IR
AR o

R AR 1 22 B 5t 81 1S 22 B i Ak
M EARAIFERDairy Fortune
(PTC) Limited([ZF A1)100%
BAHMDairy Fortune Limited
([Dairy Fortune]) 272 7
BETRIUAREETENR SRR
s FIEE - WA EFETRA
HAEE2HEERE  BEEHE
BRI - RIEARR - X7
AR —RRRZFEAZENE
R ARRRBEEREI SR
HERE0RAF S BHRK e 5
2 58 A R E KB A FDairy
Fortune ° it » REEBEXFE
A KDairy Fortune AR B4 &
ZEHEE BE  Dairy Fortunef#F AR
NAIEBRARSASAEE G
f&ae - WA RR RS B 5K
R [RZR D BB EI R A
Ptn IR »
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

236

(continued)

(b)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

N

Share Award Scheme | (continued)

On 21 April 2017 (the “"Grant Date 1”), a total
number of 35,969,000 shares (“Share Award 1”)
were granted to the selected participants. Out of
the total shares granted, 6,637,000 shares were
granted to certain members of management
(the “Award Shares 1”), which would vest in the
third anniversary of the Grant Date | provided
that certain performance and service conditions
are met. A total number of 5,325,000 shares of
Award Shares | were vested to certain members of
management during 2020, and the difference of
RMB3,731,000 between the RMB5,468,000 share
award reserve and RMB9,199,000 shares held
under the Share Award scheme | for the shares
vested was recognised to retained earnings.

The remaining 29,332,000 shares were granted
to the certain members of management and the
eligible employees, of which 21,011,000 shares
were vested during 2019.

The Group recognised a share award expense
of RMB559,000 in respect of the Share Award |
during 2020.
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34. LRI RRSZ @

(b)

% 17 88 B 5t &) ()

(1)

B% 15 28 B 5t 211 (e

R2017F4821B([E#HBH
1) + & £35,969,0008% i {7 ([ B
BEBIDETFEEL2HE - R
Fra® LR mE - 6,637,0008%
BORTFETEREKE ((EE
‘A1) REREBEHINE=E
RATERB HAFEETRAR
BR 7% 1615 - & #£5,325,0004% 42
B IR 2020 BN A T &
BEKE  BRHRE#EEARE
5,468,000 8 5t BT 27 88 A% 17 1R
BERDEBEEIFENARE
9,199,000 T % 1n 2 MR =S &
AR#53,731,0007T MR B B A

H #4:29,332,000% & 19 % T 2f o
EEEXNEBRAERKRET H
F121,011,000R% A% {7 72 20194F &
E °

R2020%F - A& E 5L 2R
IERRN BRI BARE
559,0007T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

(I

Share Award Scheme Il

On 26 March 2018 (the "Adoption Date I1”),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “ Share Award Scheme IlI”) to motivate
and award the contribution of certain members
of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme Il is valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the Adoption Date Il. The
shares to be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme I will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in
trust for the relevant selected participants until
such shares are vested. The maximum number of
shares which may be purchased by the Trustee is
set at no more than 1% of the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding
annual general meeting. As at 31 December
2019, based on the Company'’s instructions, the
Dairy Fortune had purchased a total of 39,962,000
ordinary shares of the Company on open
market at a total consideration of approximately
HKD51,759,000 (equivalent to RMB43,988,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Dairy Fortune purchased 20,000,000
ordinary shares from the open market at a total
consideration of approximately HKD17,255,000
(equivalent to RMB15,763,000). During the current
year, Dairy Fortune purchased another 36,526,000
ordinary shares from the open market at a total
consideration of approximately HKD54,689,000
(equivalent to RMB45,468,000) and the number of
ordinary shares purchased by Dairy Fortune under
Share Award Scheme |l increased to 96,448,000
shares (the “Award Shares I1").

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b) MBS @

W)

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

% 17 5 Bh 5T 211

MR2018F3 8268 ([#H4 B H
1) - AR RERH— B (D 12 E
STEI(TR ST 8N - UM
BREERAEERETERREKE
MEEREENER - RESZ
AJREEETE VT (4R B4R LS » B
MEBEETENEHRAB+F - B
9 H BRI A3 - IRIBAR (D 22 B
ET &1 B2 B MY AR 1D #8 F A A A
#iBDairy FortunelZ BAN A Al3E
TAREEZENRSHART
B EUREE - W AR B
BETLEERE  EENBH
DB o XFEARBARRN
HEHERBEASTSBBARF
RE—ERERBFAG LB
TEBIREE 1% ° 20194
12A318 ' BB AR AER
Dairy FortuneE ¢ AR ™% Uk
B84 5139,962,00008 A& A B i@
%+ BB A51,759,000/8 7T
(FREMN AREA3,988,0007T) °
REE2020512A31HILEE -
Dairy Fortune#t A% LUk
20,000,0008% Ei@AK - BRELD
£17,255,0008 L (FHER AR
#15,763,0007T) - RAFE -
Dairy FortuneB#t A% I
f#36,526,00008 L BA% - BARE
#49/554,689,00078 T (HERAR
#45,468,0007T) * Dairy Fortune
IRIR R 0 SR AT 2111 K ) X3
A% # B 12 296,448,000/ ([ 28 B
BRnl) -
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(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b) M3 EREE 8@
() Share Award Scheme Il (continued) (I KRR EII@
(ll-)  Share Award Il-i (1-i)  R17 ZZ@plI-i
On 8 January 2020, a total number of 20201 H8R - &
20,000,000 Award Shares Il (“Share Award 20,000,0000% 22 B A 17 11
I1-i”) were granted to the selected ([R@ERN-iHFETEE
participants. If certain performance and 2HE - WMEEETRR
service conditions are met, out of the total MR R - AR PR A X
shares granted, 10,000,000 Award Shares H %5 H + 10,000,000/ 2
Il would be vested on 21 April 2020 (the B 1175 78 20204 4 H 21
“Award Shares A”), and the remaining AEE(RBRGAD - M
10,000,000 Award Shares Il would be vested # T 10,000,0008% 42 ) I
on 21 April 2020 with one year lock-up BN 202064 A 218 &
period beginning from the vesting date (the B EFEBEEHE—FF
“Award Shares B"). EH (R HBL) -
The following table discloses movements TR EE RBIA D AR 22D
of the Award Shares A and Award Shares B %19 BRA ¥ 5 B A 1) &
during the reporting period:
Outstanding QOutstanding
as at Granted Forfeited asat
1 January during during Vested during 31 December
Category 2020 the year the year the year 2020
12020 120204
1818 12A318
5l HARITR FREH FRRI FREE MARTTE
Award Shares A REIRHA - 10,000,000 (40,599) (9,959,401) =
Award Shares B KRR 1B - 10,000,000 (40599  (9.959.401) -
- 20,000,000 (81,198)  (19,918,802) -

The fair values of Award Shares A and
Award Shares B determined at the date
of grant using Asian Option Model were
HKD10,993,000 (equivalent to RMB9,821,000)
and HKD10,089,000 (equivalent to
RMB9,013,000), respectively.
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BEBROAREER BB
I B HAfE A ge M =0 HR
EEAEETHAFED
B /10,993,000 7T (F8E
NAR®9,821,0007T) &
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 %@i2021¢12ﬂ MNBIEFE

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 34. U XK Z @

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) BB E @
(1) Share Award Scheme I (continued) () BRpEBEEI@E

(II-))  Share Award ll-i (continued) (I-)  BR 17 22 Rhl-i )

The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares
A and Award Shares B:

KAUTBRTERZBRKR
MAREBRMDBH A F
H :

Award Award

Shares A Shares B

RERDA RERHDB

Grant date share price i B ERARE HKD1.14 HKD1.14
11487T 1.14% 7T

Strike Price 1B HKD1.14 HKD1.14
11487T 1.14% 7T

Risk-free interest rate 4 3 e 1) 2= 2.03% 1.77%
Remaining restrict period I EABR H 0.28 1.28
Expected volatility T8 B R 08 30.26% 46.51%
Dividend yield i B Es 0.00% 0.00%
Option value BiREEE HKDO0.04 HKD1.13
0.04% 7T 0.13% 7T

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

TEHR IR A AR R K
BOELRIEERE °

The variables and assumptions used in ARAEBREQFTERN
computing the fair values of the share PERBREREEFNR
options are based on the best estimates ERFTREE - ZERRE

of the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares A and Award
Shares B.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB18,759,000 in respect of the
Share Award Il-i during 2020. A total number
of 19,918,802 shares of Award Shares A
and Award Shares B was vested to selected

202 90 B @18 )
AN AR SR 1 BA T A
BT -

R2020F « AEB KRG
RE-iIERAR D RE A
A ANR#18,759,0007T ° 7
2020%F - 4 #£19,918,802
% ZE B IR 19 AR SZ B A% (5 B

participants during 2020, and the difference BENETRHEE KN
amount of RMB1,602,000 between the B2 A A R 518,759,000

RMB18,759,000 share award reserve and
RMB20,361,000 shares held under the Share
Award scheme Il for the shares vested was
recognised in retained earnings.

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

T E 3t P 5R B AR 1) AR IR AR
HEREETEIIFEMARK
20,361,0007T i 7 2 Rl /) 2=
B AR %1,602,0007T
RIREBBATER
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

240

(continued)

(b)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

(In

Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
(II-i}) Share Award Il-ii

On 27 March 2020, a total number of
20,000,000 Award Shares Il (“Share Award
I1-ii”) were granted to the selected
participants. If certain performance and
service conditions are met, out of the total
shares granted, 10,000,000 Award Shares
Il would be vested on 21 April 2021 (the
“"Award Shares C"). The remaining Award
Shares Il of 10,000,000 would be vested
on 21 April 2021 with one year lock-up
period beginning from the vesting date (the
“Award Shares D").

The following table discloses movements
of the Award Shares C and Award Shares D
during the reporting period:

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b)

Outstanding

% 17 88 B 5t &) ()
(I B EEEEEIN @
(Il-ii) 17 ZZ@hll-ii

M2020%3H27H * & &
20,000,0000% 22 B AX 12 11
(TR EERN-ii]) % TiEE
2HE - WEABETERR
KR - BIRFTER
H A - 10,000,000 #2
BB 118 52202144 A 21
ARE(EBRHAC) - %
"~10,000,0000% 2B AL 111
BR2021E4A21HRE -
EEBRHE—F2EH
([#2@ R D)) -

T % 5 EE R CR 2%
B % 15 DI 20 25 A0 &
& :

Outstanding

as at Forfeited Vested as at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2021 the year the year 2021
20215 20214

1818 12A31H

£5 & RITE FRRK FAEE tef RATBE
Award Shares C BERIDC 9,320,000 (524,100) (8,795,900) -
Award Shares D ZERHD 9,320,000 (524,100) (8,795,900) -
18,640,000 (1,048,200)  (17,591,800) -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 34. U XK Z @

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) KRPEBEE @
(1) Share Award Scheme Il (continued) (I % 15 88 B 5t 211 (40
(I-ii) Share Award Il-ii (continued) (1l-if) R 17 22 @hlI-ii (%)
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited as at
1 January during during 31 December
Category 2020 the year the year 2020
#2020 12020
1A1H 12H31H
Ll WARITE FAKH FREM WARITHE
Award Shares C HRERRAC - 10,000,000 (680,000) 9,320,000
Award Shares D SRERRAD - 10,000,000 (680,000) 9,320,000
- 20,000,000 (1,360,000) 18,640,000
The fair values of Award Shares C and REKROHCRERRHBD
Award Shares D determined at the date R B HAfE A M = ER
of grant using Asian Option Model were BEAEENRAFTES
HKD6,010,000 (equivalent to RMB5,459,000) B 56,010,000/ L (1HE
and HKD5,813,000 (equivalent to M ARES,459,0007T) &
RMBS5,281,000), respectively. 5,813,000 7T (HEE R AR

5 281,0007T) °

The following assumptions were used to HRNUTREFTE R R
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares MERZEIRMHFH A F
E and Award Shares F: (EWE
Award Award
Shares C Shares D

#ERAC #ERHD

Grant date share price B B ERARE HKDO0.68 HKDO.68

0.688 7T 0.688 7T
Strike Price 1T1E(E HKDO0.68 HKDO0.68

0.687# 7T 0.6878 7T
Risk-free interest rate A a1 B M) =R 0.62% 0.63%
Remaining restrict period FIERIR HA 1.07 2.07
Expected volatility & B R 08 49.34% 44.66%
Expected dividend yield T8 AR AR B E 0.00% 0.00%
Option value BiEEE HKD0.08 HKDO.10

0.08% 7T 0.10% 7T
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(continued)

(b)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

(In

Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
(Il-ii) Share Award Il-ii (continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the share
options are based on the best estimates
of the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares C and Award
Shares D.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB1,959,000 in respect of the
Share Award ll-ii during the current year
(2020: RMB7,488,000). A total number of
17,591,800 shares of Award Shares C and
Award Shares D was vested to selected
participants during the current year, and the
difference amount of RMB4,418,000 between
the RMB9,447,000 share award reserve and
RMB13,865,000 shares held under the Share
Award scheme |l for the shares vested was
recognised in retained earnings.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b)

% 17 88 B 5t &) ()

(I

B% 15 28 B 51 211 (a0
(1l-ii) B 17 2E@)I1-ii ()

T8 HA R 08 T 5 AN R B AR
EBNESLRIEETE °

AR H R R T E
FERBREREFHE
B AEE - HEREB
SR DEES SR
B A C R {3 DA F 18
R -

RAFE - REBBKMD
RENI-iTER AR D BB R
A AR #1,959,0007T (2020
&£ . AR¥7,488,0007T) °
RAFE + 43£17,591,800
% 22 B 1D C I SE BN AR D D
FEBRETREE KK
LB AR 9,447,000
JT 58 3 BT 55 8 A% (0 AR I A%
DEBEIFAENARE
13,865,000 f 15 2 FEHY 2=
HEeEARK4,418,0007T
PMRBE B FIRER -



34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] MNBIEFE

Share Award Scheme (continued)

(I

Share Award Scheme Il (continued)

(Il-iii) Share Award ll-iii
On 25 March 2021, a total number of
23,200,000 Award Shares Il (“Share Award
I1-iii”) were granted to the selected
participants. If certain performance and
service conditions are met, out of the total
shares granted, 11,600,000 Award Shares Il
will be vested on 31 March 2022 (the “Award
Shares E”). The remaining Award Shares
Il of 11,600,000 will be vested on 31 March
2022 with one year lock-up period beginning
from the vesting date (the “Award Shares
F").

The following table discloses movements
of the Award Shares E and Award Shares F

during the reporting period:

Outstanding

(b)

% 12 88 B 5t &) ()
Iy Biose@EEtE@E

(1l-iii) A& 17 ZE@DII-iii
M20215%€3H258 -

34. LRI RRSZ @

l:l/\

23,200,0000% 22 B A 10 11
(TRBEBN-ii ) TET
Sk - fhﬁé%?i%fi

K ARTG 6 1F
B

AR A &

11,600,0000% #&

Ebﬁﬁfﬁnﬂ%ﬁézozzﬁsﬂ 31
AEE(RBREED - #
11,600,000 8% #EE)RZ D 11
202263 A31HEE -
EFEBHHE—FXEH
([EE@BRAF)) -

TREE ER D E X 2R
R FR S B e B 8

Outstanding

as at Granted Forfeited as at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2021 the year the year 2021
20215 20214

1R1H 12A31H

£5 e RITE FARH FARY fef RATHE
Award Shares E RERINE - 11,600,000 (1,252,000) 10,348,000
Award Shares F EERINF - 11,600,000 (1,252,000) 10,348,000
- 23,200,000 (2,504,000) 20,696,000

The fair values of Award Shares E and
Award Shares F determined at the date
of grant using Asian Option Model
were HKD18,394,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,456,000) and HKD17,529,000
(equivalent to RMB14,730,000), respectively.

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

BEBRNERERBRMDF
REE B 8ERZMNR
HERAETHNAFED
Bl /18,394,000 7T (F8E
R AR¥15,456,0007T) &
17,529,000/ 7T (M8 & R A
R #14,730,0007T) °
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Share Award Scheme (continued)
Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
(II-iii) Share Award ll-iii (continued)

The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares
E and Award Shares F:

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b)

% 17 88 B 5t &) ()

(I

B% 15 28 B 51 211 (a0
(11-iii) AR 17 ZZ@)I-iii (4

B R DA T B AR B R
RERZEBMBEAFH AT
g

Award Award

Shares E Shares F

RERHE RERDF

Grant date share price i B EMARE HKD1.86 HKD1.86
1.868 7T 1.8678 7T

Strike Price 1B HKD1.86 HKD1.86
1.8675 7T 1.8678 7T

Risk-free interest rate £ 8, fax A1) 2R 0.09% 0.15%
Remaining restrict period 2 PR BR 1.02 2.02
Expected volatility TEARR 18 61.88% 55.29%
Expected dividend yield TE HRRR B as 1.30% 1.30%
Option value BIEEE HKDO.27 HKDO0.35
0.27%7T 0.35%7T

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the share
options are based on the best estimates
of the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares E and Award
Shares F.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB18,356,000 in respect of the
Share Award Il-iii during the current year.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

EHIR IR YA A QA K
BHELIKIEEE

AR E WA T AR
FERBREREENS
EETAER - BERE
BB B A B
BRHER BB GHFATE
BB -

RAFE  REBZRBED
SEE-iiE R A (0 2B R
A AR #18,356,0007T °
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 34. U XK Z @

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) KRPEBEE @
(1) Share Award Scheme Il (continued) (I % 15 88 B 5t 211 (40

(ll-iv) Share Award ll-iv (Il-iv) 17 Z2@ll-iv

On 9 December 2021, a total number of
8,565,000 Award Shares Il (“Share Award
Il-iv”) were granted to the selected
participants. If certain performance and
service conditions are met, out of the total
shares granted, 4,282,500 Award Shares |l
will be vested on 31 March 2022 (the “Award
Shares G"). The remaining Award Shares ||
of 4,282,500will be vested on 31 March 2022
with one year lock-up period beginning from
the vesting date (the “Award Shares H").

The following table discloses movements
of the Award Shares G and Award Shares H
during the reporting period:

Outstanding

R2021F12898 » & #
8,565,0000% £2 BN A% 15 11 ([ A%
BEBI-ivV)RTETFEL
BHE - MEETREAR
RIS - AIRFTE R W
A& 4,282,500/% 28 B
% 1137202243 A 31 H
FE(BBRAG) - & T
4,282, 5000% B 15 1145 7
202243 A31B B - A%
BREBRE-—FREEH (4%
B AH]) -

TR HE EH ARG R
B BG4 H R 35 25 ER R o 2
& :

Outstanding

as at Granted Forfeited as at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2021 the year the year 2021
20215 20214

1R1H 12A31H

55 e RITEE FARH FARY fef RATHE
Award Shares G ZBRING - 4,282,500 - 4,282,500
Award Shares H EERINH - 4,282,500 - 4,282,500
- 8,565,000 - 8,565,000

The fair values of Award Shares G and
Award Shares H determined at the date
of grant using Asian Option Model were
HKD5,368,000 (equivalent to RMB4,389,000)
and HKD4,867,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,979,000), respectively.

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

HLERMDGREBEKRMDH
IR B E A g =
EEAEETHAFED
7l A5,368,0008 7T (B E
W AR #4,389,0007T) &
4,867,000 T (HHERAR
#3,979,0007T) °
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Share Award Scheme (continued)
Share Award Scheme |l (continued)
(//—iv) Share Award ll-iv (continued)

The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares
G and Award Shares H:

34. LRI RRSZ @

(b)

B 47 22 B a8 @)

(I

% 5 82 B Et 811 ()
(11-iv) AR 17 SZ@)II-iv (%)

8 DA T B R 3T 22 Y BR
BGREBBRAH A F
8

Award Award

Shares G Shares H

RERDG R @R HH

Grant date share price i B EMARE HKD1.34 HKD1.34
1.348 7T 1.34%87T

Strike Price 1TfEE HKD1.34 HKD1.34
1.348 7T 1.34%87T

Risk-free interest rate #22 [5 f A1) =R 0.35% 0.54%
Remaining restrict period T 2 PR B 0.31 1.31
Expected volatility TEADK I8 49.49% 56.12%
Expected dividend yield TEHRAR B e 1.81% 1.81%
Option value ExEEE HKDO0.09 HKDO0.20
0.09% 7T 0.20% 7T

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the share
options are based on the best estimates
of the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares G and Award
Shares H.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB1,909,000 in respect of the
Share Award Il-iv during the current year.

The Group retained a total number of
4,420,482 vesting shares (2020: 5,510,525)
as a consideration of approximately
HKD8,974,000 (equivalent to RMB7,584,000)
(2020: HKD4,519,000 (equivalent to
RMB4,129,000)) for paying the individual
income tax on behalf of those selected
participants under Share Award Scheme II.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

EHR IR YA A QR K
BHELKIEEE

AR ERBEREAFEN
HELMBRREESTNR
ERFREE - BERR
Betn G R EZBA D HA FE

RAREE - REBERRD
SRR I-iviE R A0 22BN P 2
B AR1,909,0007T °

RNE B RIER D S =T &l
IR ZERELEE LM
BAFTEHE  REBAH
4,420,4820% 5% & I 15 (2020
£ : 5,510,525/%) fE &K
B498,974,00078 7T (FHE R
AR #7,584,0007T) (2020
£ 1 4,519,0007% 7T (FHE 7
AR#4,129,0007T)) °
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the year, the Group has acquired certain subsidiaries

as set out below. These acquisitions have been accounted for

as acquisition of business using the acquisition method.

Consideration transferred and goodwill arising on acquisition:

35.

XBE o
R ARECKBTHETHELR - %
S FED (AU A AR R E T UE -

EERBRUBELNEE

Zhongyuan Fuyuan Aoyuan Fuminfeng Total
T ER BR ERE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETFT ARETT ARETTT AREFT

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note ¢)

(Fffzta) (FffzEb) (Fff5Ec) (FifzEc)
Purchase consideration BEAE 722,994 2,850,604 53,737 159,187 3,786,522
Plus: non-controlling interests 1 : 3EE MR = 36,780 41,488 17,487 95,755

Less: recognised amounts of il : FTKIBE EF(E

net assets acquired NHERSH (675,784) (2,192,055) (86,434) (174,870) (3,129,143)
Goodwill arising on acquisition ~ YHEEE A Ry 7 2 47,210 695,329 8,791 1,804 753,134

These acquired subsidiaries are principally engaged in

business of dairy farming and feeds processing. These
acquisitions were made as part of the Group's strategy to
strengthen its position in dairy farming industry, optimize
value chain and enhance operation efficiency.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is

expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Notes:

(a)

Acquisition of Zhongyuan

Pursuant to the Company's announcement dated 23 July
2021, Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, acquired the entire equity interests in Zhongyuan on
21 July 2021.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB1,493,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the current year.

ZERWBHOHNBAREZZRENFEER
RN TR » (FH MRS RBEITBERA
SEIREENFEBETERNMA - BB
BRRESELRENEREH —FD °

TR EWEEHEEERNREY T AR
o
B 5E -
(a) WiEH T
RIBEARRHEA2021F7 A23BHAE

ARTEEEMBARBERKEEER R
202147 A21 B W fE R oy 2= EPRRAE -

WEB AR RIR AN A R 1,493,0007T &t AR
ERE AECRAFEERBA/FAX -
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
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Notes: (continued)

(a)

Acquisition of Zhongyuan (continued)

35. ¥ 50w

faE : ()

(a) UWEEH T

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUBHBRBHNEERERNEE
acquisition
RMB'000
ARET T
Property, plant and equipment M - BE k& 560,330
Right-of-use assets EREEE 37,755
Biological assets EEE 491,209
Inventories T8 46,042
Trade and other receivables and prepayments FEUE 5 R 3K K H P8 WOk T8 A I TR SRR 208,335
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIA S 14,408
Trade and other payables BB SRR N E b A (159,707)
Bank borrowings SRITHER (45,000)
Other borrowings HER (443,809)
Lease liabilities HEAR (33,779)
675,784
The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB204,431,000 Fﬁ”ﬂlﬁﬁﬂ'\]%”ﬁl?ﬂlﬁﬁﬁ\q&ﬁﬁ E| HEAFER

at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB204,431,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Zhongyuan because the
acquisition was expected to result in benefits of synergies,
revenue growth and future market development. These
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because
they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable

intangible assets.

AR#204,431,0007C - HANBEABAR
#204,431,0007T ° fh 5 A WEE A 8RS0 T
BERENEHNIRERE °

WBELENEE

WEHRTELTHE  ERETWERS
KIHFRBE ~ WAR R R ARTIZERED
Bk o ZFEa TEPEORAER AR
PEA T HRETLEENERIRE -

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Zhongyuan WER THE SR R
RMB’000
ARBFT
Purchase consideration BERE 722,994
Receivables from Zhongyuan Seller (Note i) KGRI E & RE U O (55D (234,265)
Consideration payable (Note ii) FEAF AR (B aEiD (256,338)
Consideration paid BARE 232,391

Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B BISHER € RIS EBMER

acquired (14,408
217,983

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

Acquisition of Zhongyuan (continued)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Zhongyuan (continued)

Notes:

According to the purchase agreement, the Group's
consideration payables to the Zhongyuan Seller
amounted to RMB234,265,000 were offset by
Zhongyuan's receivables of RMB234,265,000 from the
Zhongyuan Seller after acquisition.

At the date of acquisition, Zhongyuan was a respondent
of an ongoing arbitration proceeding, which the
claimant applied that Zhongyuan failed to supply goods
to it in accordance with the terms of contract and the
claimed compensation was approximately RMB407
million. According to the purchase agreement, the
final amount of compensation payable by Zhongyuan
will be borne by the Zhongyuan Seller. Accordingly, as
mutually agreed with the Zhongyuan Seller, an amount
of RMB250 million has been temporarily withheld from
the purchase consideration and will be payable to the
Zhongyuan Seller after deducting the final amount of
settlement from the arbitration.

The Directors have considered that it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation from the above
arbitration but a reliable estimate cannot be made of
the amount of the obligation. Accordingly, no provision
has been made in relation to this arbitration and other
related expenses nor has any indemnification asset been
made.

35. ¥ 50w

faE : ()

(a)

W B8 P T ()
WEPTHRESRE FHE@E@

B EE

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR

BIEBERSE  A5EEMNTLE
HHIREB AR 234,265,000 # &
EERKBEEEARKT TEAN
FEU R TE A R #6234,265,0007T AT K
i o

RKERH  PTR—BEEETT
MIPERFRREAFA  ERHEER
AB PR IT AR R A QIR [ E
HESY  WEXNBER/OAR
Ba07BEET REBEWRZ - P
ENNRKEESESBTTES
AYE . AUt RERTESTETD

ERBEREPEHNARK250
BB BEHBRMFENREEE
SRR THRITES -

BEEZRA BT EEBATEE
FERBRLENGNERRLD - 8
BEAEEBRELAEMBE -
i - 3 AR A B R E A AR R
FA{E R AR BEAE - TR RS
BEE -
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Fuyuan

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 29 November
2021, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Fuyuan on
29 November 2021. The consideration consist of (i) allotment
and issue of 807,096,101 shares (valued at HKD1,073,438,000,
equivalent to RMB879,275,000), by the Company to Mengniu
SPV and (ii) the sum of RMB1,971,329,000 in cash to other
certain sellers in proportions to their respective interest in
Fuyuan. After the acquisition, Fuyuan is owned as to 43.35%
by the Company and as to 56.65% by Modern Farming.
Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB4,578,000 and
RMB3,403,000 have been recognised as an expense for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

35. ¥ 50w

faE : ()

(b)

KEER

BEAAT B A2021F11A298 8
NE - REBR2021F11 8298 i
BERMEZMKE - REBEOERAAMR
K4 SPVHECE & #17807,096,101 A% i% 1%
({81E1,073,438,000/ 7T ' HERARE
879,275,0007T) bA K (i) /A H Ath & T & 77 4%
HEARBROEZLA A AR
1,971,329,0007tR € - WEETKE @ BIR
HARBIEHL3.35% @ AIBARKE(ER)
FH56.65% WK AD R AARE
4,578,0007C } A R #3,403,0007T * B9 7
REE2021F 2020512 A 318 I FE/#E

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUERHREBNEERBRNEE
acquisition
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REREB 1,141,912
Right-of-use assets FREEE 330,451
Intangible assets B EE 3,380
Interests in associates B & N BRI ERS 18,769
Biological assets EMEE 1,601,502
Inventories FE 582,419

Trade and other receivables and prepayments JEUS & 5 PR 3R K L b R K R TE DA e FE A R IE 343,829
Deferred tax assets IRIEFIAE B 2,338
Pledged bank deposits B EHIRITFER 21,042
Bank balances and cash RITEHRIRS 470,897
Trade and other payables BN E SRR N E b IR (633,009)
Contract liabilities HEAE (970)
Tax payable FERTHIA (1,498)
Bank borrowings SRITIER (1,299,075)
Other borrowings E bR (81,460)
Lease liabilities HERE (287,215)
Deferred tax liability REFRIB A E (21,257)

2,192,055

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Fuyuan (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition (continued)

The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB321,016,000
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB321,016,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 35% in Haykingdom at
the acquisition date was measured by reference to the
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of
Haykingdom amounted to RMB36,780,000.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Fuyuan because of the
expected enhancement of the Group’s position in dairy
farming industry, optimization of value chain and enhancement
of operation efficiency. These benefits are not recognised

35. ¥ 5 0tw

faE : ()

(b)

Wi =R @)
RUBRHKBNEEREIANEE®@

R BN ZFBER KBRS AT ES
AR#321,016,0007T * EEHNBEAAR
#321,016,0007T ° fhaT R UEE B BRI | T
REWIMM AR RE -

IEERES

U B BARE B Haykingdom 35% ) JE12 %
s 2MBHaykingdom B EFEMR L
AR #36,780,0007CHI L BIETE o

WEBEENEE

WEERELARE REA/EHSRAN
KEEDFRAETENM - BEERE
REERRERE - ZFRETEEEDH
ER - AR/ TTEASKRELEENER

separately from goodwill because they do not meet the TRAE o
recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Fuyuan WEERNEESREIER
RMB’000
AREFT
Cash consideration BeRE 1,971,329
Consideration payable EARE (231,156)
Consideration paid BEfRE 1,740,173
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired & : BUSHIR & RIR & S E ML (470,897)
1,269,276
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)
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(c)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Aoyuan Agriculture and
Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (“Aoyuan”) and Ningxia
Fuminfeng Animal Husbandry Development Co., Ltd.
("Fuminfeng”)

In addition to the above notifiable and major transactions,
Modern Farming acquired 52% equity interests in Aoyuan
on 26 October 2021 and acquired 90% equity interests in
Fuminfeng on 25 November 2021 respectively.

Acquisition-related costs in relation to the acquisition of
Aoyuan and Fuminfeng amounting to RMB200,000 and
RMB250,000 have been excluded from the consideration
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the
current year.

35. ¥ 50w

faE : ()

(c)

WEBASERRBREEERAE (MR
RINREEERENFEBREREM
AF(ERE])

Br LA T R EAR 55 0 BAKE
(SR @)D RIR 2021108 26 B U iE 7 8IR
52%MI AR A - WH2021F 11 A25H B T
BRE0%H B HE -

HEYERREEREEHENKRERAD 5
A AR #200,0007T & A R #250,0007T
Pt AEERE  YECRAFERRBRH
¥ o

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUERHRENEERBINEE
acquisition
Aoyuan Fuminfeng
R ERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE RERHE 75,913 167,676
Right-of-use assets FREEE 24,900 1,210
Biological assets EYEE 78,640 144,886
Inventories F& 13,940 37,809
Trade and other receivables and FEUE 5 BR 3R K H A 8 MR e
prepayments VOSSELNE R 11,087 17,596
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNIRS 280 7,194
Trade and other payable FERTE 5 BR AR H A FE A< 5K 1B (24,494) (89,146)
Bank borrowings IRITEK (40,051) (99,786)
Other borrowings HEm (53,781) (12,569)
86,434 174,870

The receivables acquired from Aoyuan and Fuminfeng with
a fair value of RMB167,000 and RMB10,657,000 at the date
of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of RMB167,000
and RMB10,657,000 respectively. At acquisition date, it is
estimated that there are no contractual cash flows that will not
be collected.
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Aoyuan Agriculture and
Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (“Aoyuan”) and Ningxia
Fuminfeng Animal Husbandry Development Co., Ltd.
("Fuminfeng”) (continued)

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 48% in Aoyuan and 10% in
Fuminfeng recognised at the acquisition date was measured
by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts
of net assets of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng and amounted to
RMBA41,488,000 and RMB17,487,000 respectively.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng
because the acquisition was expected to result in benefits of
synergies, revenue growth and future market development.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng

35. ¥ 5 0tw

faE : ()

(c)

WENEEREEREERAT (R
BIREEERENERREEREMT
AEI(ERE ] @

FEIE RS

RULEE B HARE R AR IR48% K B R Z10%H)
R AERS  DRI2BRBRREERERYNE
EFEERES T AREL1,488,000T AR
#517,487,0007CH L BT = ©

WBELENHE

WEERRERCELTHE  BRAMEA
Uit B8 5 7 2R 15 R AP~ IR AR R R R R T
BERNERE - ZSERTEBEBEHRE
R ARTTAUHRELEENERSR

£ o

WERER ERENBEERHFE

Aoyuan Fuminfeng

R ERE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARBTFT

Purchase consideration BERE 53,737 159,187

Consideration payable (Note) FEARE ) (4,539) (151,164)

Consideration paid BARE 49,198 8,023
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B BRIENHRE KBRS

acquired BEEER (280) (7,194)

48,918 829

Note: At the date of acquisition, Fuminfeng was a respondent
of an ongoing arbitration proceeding, which the
claimant applied that Fuminfeng failed to supply goods
to it in accordance with the terms of contract and the
claimed compensation was approximately RMB130
million. According to the purchase agreement, the final
amount of compensation payable by Fuminfeng will be
borne by seller of Fuminfeng. Accordingly, as mutually
agreed with the seller of Fuminfeng, an amount of
RMB130 million has been temporarily withheld from
the purchase consideration, and will be payable to the
seller of Fuminfeng after deducting the final amount of
settlement from the arbitration.

MR ERS EREE—JAIERE
TTOHRREBFOBEBEFA  BEh =
RARFERERERRE KK
REREEY  REROEERY
ARE1308E8 T - RIFBERHZ -
EREBNNEKBEESHBHE
RE\EAE Bt KEHERY
BRETHOE BRBERESY
IARMEI10BE T - BEHKRME
MBEREESHERIXNTERYEE
Eo
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
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Notes: (continued)

(c)  Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Aoyuan Agriculture and
Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (“Aoyuan”) and Ningxia
Fuminfeng Animal Husbandry Development Co., Ltd.
("Fuminfeng”) (continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng

(continued)

Note: (continued)
The Directors have considered that it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation from the above
arbitration but a reliable estimate cannot be made of
the amount of the obligation. Accordingly, no provision
has been made in relation to this arbitration and other
related expenses nor has any indemnification asset been
made.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the profit for the year is profit (loss) of
RMB43,005,000, RMB18,839,000, RMB57,000 and
RMB(8,072,000) attributable to the additional business
generated by Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan and Fuminfeng,
respectively. Revenue for the year includes RMB250,927,000,
RMB252,084,000, nil and RMB10,169,000 generated from
Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan and Fuminfeng, respectively.

Had the acquisition of Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan and
Fuminfeng, been completed on 1 January 2021, revenue for
the year of the Group would have been RMB7,411,482,000,
RMB9,487,990,000, RMB7,078,470,000 and RMB7,191,330,000,
respectively and profit for the year would have been
RMB1,072,073,000, RMB1,270,003,000, RMB1,026,478,000
and RMB1,045,814, respectively. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the
Group had Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan and Fuminfeng been
acquired at the beginning of the current year, the directors of
the Company calculated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment based on the recognised amounts of property,
plant and equipment at the date of the acquisition.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group has disposed of its equity interests in two wholly-
owned subsidiaries of Modern Farming to Jiangyin Dairy
Energy in January 2020 at an aggregate cash consideration of
RMB148,124,000, which has been fully received during 2021.
The net assets of the two disposed companies at the date of
disposal were as follows:

36. HEMEBQE
AEBER2020F1 AURIREREARK
148,124,0007T 1 HF5 B 89 3R R (K E) R
MEEMBARMRELE TIRKE - K
BER2021F 2 FAWE - MEHHEQRR
HEAMNFEENT ¢

31 January 2020
2020 1A31H

RMB'000
ARBT T
Analysis of assets and liabilities over REBRHENEERBEDN

which control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment W - BERERE 69,798
Inventories 7E 93
Trade and other receivables and advanced FENE 5 BR 3R N L Ath e MR IE DA K2

payments AT FRIA 6,017
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNMES 6,734
Trade and other payables B E 5 BRI H A FE 5 R (6,699)
Tax payable FERRTHIA ©99)
Net assets disposed of HErEEFE 75,844

RMB’000
ARBT T
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: oS B A R R Uk
Consideration received BHRE 140,718
Receivables from Jiangyin Dairy Energy R B R HaE A FE R IE (i E21)

(Note 21) 7,406
Net assets disposed of HENEEFE (75,844)
Gain on disposal e W 72,280
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HESHEENRSRARHE
Cash consideration Be&RE 140,718
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHENRITERNE S (6,734)

133,984
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37

38.

256

. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in Note 35(a) and (c), there is no other
contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings, other borrowings and long term
bonds as disclosed in Notes 26, 27 and 28 respectively, net
of bank balances and cash and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share
premium and reserves.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of the review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issues of new shares and the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

39. &I A

Categories of financial instruments TRIAEEH
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at amortised cost AT 2N S R E B 3,324,211 1,957,531
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEFARMEE
WA ERT A 2,655 5,080
Other financial assets HivemEE - 50,000
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA
~ Foreign currency forward contracts - HNEGSRHRE 4D - 11,145
- CFCCS - CFCCS 67,537 -
Financial liabilities: SEEaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R AT EN S RAaE 11,395,408 6,805,030
Derivative financial instruments PTEERIA
— Interest rate swaps — I 245 HY 3,446 52,264
~ Foreign currency option contracts - SN ERRE S A0 112,642 31,074
Financial risk management objectives and policies cEEAREENBEEREE

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bank borrowings, other borrowings, long
term bonds, other financial assets and derivative financial
instruments. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

AEENETESMTABRRATFEFAR
2R ANERZ TR  BRESERRRE
il FEURIR - EEWIRITHER - RITHEHRK
B BNESERINREMENFR « RT
a3 - AR - REMES - AteEE
EOTEESRMTA - ZFEMTANFBERE
TAPMREA R FE

ZEoRm T AP RHNER &Tﬁﬂ?%ﬂﬁﬁ(m
R EMNERR) - EER /IIL@JQ%
[=\ Bz o TX%@ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁFﬁﬂ 2 SR
E@Jﬁ_ﬁlﬁggﬁﬁ%ﬂ ﬁ{%&ﬁvﬁ@(iﬂlﬁé
VAR FEFE BE
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

258

(continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency bank balances, borrowings and bonds which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

As at 31 December 2021, the major assets denominated
in foreign currency are bank balances disclosed in Note
24. The major liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are bank borrowings disclosed in Note 26.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign
currency forward contracts, foreign currency option
contracts or CFCCS, when necessary, to manage its
foreign exchange exposure.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

2021: 2% (2020: 2%) is the sensitivity rate changes
which represented management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency
risk from the movement of the exchange rates between
RMB against USD and HKD. The sensitivity analysis
below includes USD and HKD denominated monetary
items that are not associated with a foreign currency
forward contract, a foreign currency option contract
or CFCCS. At the end of each reporting period, if the
exchange rate had been strengthen in RMB against
USD and HKD by 2% and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax profit for each reporting
period would fluctuate as follow:
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

39. 2T AEmwm
cEEREENEERBE®

™ 35 BB (80
() SMNEEBR ®)
SN BURRE 99 1T ()
Increase Increase
(decrease) in
post-tax profit

(decrease) in
post-tax profit

R 205 T FR 5 12 A
B mOR2) EnCR )
2021 2020
20215 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
USD denominated assets and ENFBEEERBERLARE
liabilities against RMB
—bank balances - IRITREEAR (3.654) (2,681)
- bank borrowings - RITEX - 18,569
HKD denominated assets and BILAEEERABELARE
liabilities against RMB
—bank balances - R174E8 (939) (926)
Total st (4,593) 14,962

For a 2% weakening of the RMB against USD and HKD,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
post-tax profit.

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to fluctuations in the prevailing market interest rates
on bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank
borrowings which carry interest at variable interest rates.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, long term
bonds and lease liabilities.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net interest rate
exposures and may enter into interest rate swap
contracts, when necessary, to manage its interest rate
exposure.

MARBHETRBETRE2% - B
BB ENELERFHERNTE

(i) FIE=ZE
REBERRITHES  DERRITER
RIZ)ZEF E 5T BRITERIRITH
BHREFHMEARESREFER

AEENRFENERREZSIRTE
BRITEEMER  REEFLEE
BfE-
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

260

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable
interest rate bank borrowings that are not associated
to an interest rate swap contract. Bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are excluded from the sensitivity
analysis since they are not considered sensitive to
fluctuation in interest rate. The analysis is prepared
assuming the variable interest rate bank borrowings
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2020:
50) basis points increase or decrease represented
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

At the end of reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 (2020: 50) basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit would have decreased/increased by
RMB2,581,000 (2020: RMB4,085,000) for the current year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause

a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an

obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying

amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated

in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group

does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to

cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets except
for disclosed in Note 21.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring
system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or collectively assessment using
collective assessment with appropriate groupings. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
72.73% (31 December 2020: 85%) of total trade receivables
as at 31 December 2021 was due from Customer A (31
December 2020: Customer A and Customer B).

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

The credit risks on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies and/or authorised banks in the PRC.

Approximately 14%, 14% and 13% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in bank A,
bank B and bank C respectively as at 31 December 2021. (31
December 2020: 19%, 12% and 11% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in bank C, bank
D and bank A respectively).

Other than the concentration of credit risks of trade
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
mentioned above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

262

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit

39. 2T Em

cEEREENEERBE®

EER R RENE @

AEBEAFEER

G
N

ARBIEA TR -

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEEE R #EA BWE 5 R HttSmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts  not credit-impaired
KRR RPHFHNRORRRE - BYVEER 2HEHESEEE- 12@ARBEESE
BHEFIA BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through ~ not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
2= FRANBREUNERSIMNIRRBREE 2HEHEEBE- 2HRBEEEHE-
[E\F% B W) IR FERR DA SRR 1L N BEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
P BEREETAREECDEERE EHEMEEEE- 2HEHAEEESE-
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
ki BEBRNEBABRABRENT ISR WS MIEEER

AREEAR/BRATIE A BHRIE
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39. 2T AEmwm
cEEREENEERBE®

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the

= &= B B ORE FT1G (#0
TERHAVNAEEREBEBHEEBEFENS

Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: BEEEERR :
Internal 12m or Gross carrying Gross carrying
Notes creditrating lifetime ECL amount 2021 amount 2020
Wi ADEETER 12ERARYELHEERE BEA{E20215F REEB2020F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTTL
Financial assets at amortised costs
BRERATENERER
Pledged bank deposits 2 NA 12m ECL 168,674 157,209
BEARTER AER PEARBEEER
Bank balances 24 N/A 12m ECL 2,089,620 1,144,337
i TER PEARSEERE
Other receivables 21 Low risk 12m ECL 20,576 24,700
Hf N B DEARSEESE
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) - 4,671
Bx FERAEEER(EERE)
Trade receivables (Note)
B R ()
= raw milk 21 Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment, 885,438 631,285
not credit-impaired)
- R ERERE PHEBEEEBRRTE -
EEERE)
~feeds 21 Low risk Lifetime ECL (collective assessment, 158,722
not credit-impaired)
- ft (R PHRMEEEB(ERETE -
EEERE)
- liquid milk product 21 Loss Lifetime ECL (individual assessment - 8,483
credit-impaired)
- RENER Bx 2 HEHEEEE(ERIE -
EERE)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified Mz : BEKZEZIEREFME  AEBEER

approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables individually or collectively using
collective assessment with appropriate groupings, of which
these receivables are grouped collectively based on shared fly
credit risk characteristics by reference to ageing for the

customers.

BREF % I E R BRIk -
BEEHERERERFEEEEE - K
SEERREEERERTHRKE S
BRFCETT AR BB EE o AR AT
HhZERKHERRILBNEE
RiERe - 2REPHRRETEED
8 -
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39. 2T Em
SREREENEERBER@®

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

&R &R E S @
TRIRREG T EEEREWRE SRR
REHEREEBENES -

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach:

264

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HIFAE 2 HIFRH
EEEER EEEER
(REEREE) (FEERE) mat
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBTFT
As at 1 January 2020 A202061H18 - 8,635 8,635
Changes due to financial M2020F 1 A1HBA R

instruments recognised EEReRIA

as at 1 January 2020: 5| B Ey &

—Impairment losses reversed - B IR {EEE = (152) (152)
As at 31 December 2020 2020%F12H31H = 8,483 8,483
Changes due to financial M2021E1 A1 ABER

instruments recognised EHERAeHIA

as at 1 January 2021: ElES ok

— Write-offs - 58 - (8,483) (8,483)

As at 31 December 2021

720215128318
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and policies CREKREENEERBE@®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EER B RRE NS @
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly BWE SEFEREREESHFER
due to:
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
2021%F12A31H 2020 12H31H
Decrease in lifetime ECL Decrease in lifetime ECL
EHEHEEFERD 2 HRBEEBHERSD
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
EBEERE EERE BEERE EERIE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®BTR ARBTT AR%¥TE

Settlement in full of 2020 E SEBA

trade debtors with PHAERERAE

a gross carrying AR #152,00070

amount of

RMB152,000 in 2020 - - - (152)
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is WA ERBERERABYRENBEE A K
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial BRI B R AR (I EF A& BRI P
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. WERT LAREER®E) - NEE M
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has FEWE SRR °

entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
earlier.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies TRIEAREENEERBEE®

266

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

39. 2T Em

EER R RENE @

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRIIRE HERE AL W IR B R ey
that has been recognised for other receivables: B -
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
HITEH
FEEE
(EERE)
RMB’000
AREFT
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F181H 4,514
New financial assets originated RENFEREE
— Impairment losses recognised - ERRAREEE 157
As at 31 December 2020 A2020F12H31H 4,671
Changes due to financial instruments recognised 202151 A1 HBEREEREH
as at 1 January 2021: TESIZmEE :
— Impairment losses recognised - ERRAREEE 338
- Write-offs — HsH (5,009)
New financial assets originated RENFEREE
— Impairment losses recognised - EERRREER 138
— Write-offs — i34 (138)

As at 31 December 2021

A2021F12A31H -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are mainly
due to:

39.

£MIAEw
cEEREENEERBE®

EER &R EF @
Hib WK IEEERENEHEEHRN

31/12/2021
Increase in
lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired
20214128318

31/12/2020
Increase in
lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired
2020 12A31H

2 HATEHR 2 HA7E Hf
EEFEEM EEBEEM
EERE EERE
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
One debtor of other receivables —IBE MR ERS AFIEED
defaulted 476 157
Liquidity risk REES R

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB723,466,000 as at
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: RMB1,881,191,000).
The Directors closely monitor the cash flows of the Group
and, upon maturity, would arrange the renewal and
refinancing of the borrowing facilities, when necessary, to
ensure the Group has sufficient funds to enable the Group
to meet its financial obligations. In addition, taking into
account, (i) the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB5,618,008,000 which remain unutilised as at 31 December
2021, of which an amount of RMB1,000,000,000 is from
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu, and the
remaining are from licensed banks; (i) the expected net cash
inflows generated from the Group's operations for the next
twelve months, the Directors are satisfied that the Group
will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

REBR2021F12A3M B RBAGBIFE
B AR¥ET23,466,0007T (20205128318 -
ANER#1,881,191,0007T) ° EERY)EEIE AR
SEEMBESREMRN  TRIHEEeZ
HHEIRTREETERRBRE WFE) -
NERASBHREREINERESELRSE
B EEMEEE - o - BEEHR
2021 F 12 A3 1B AIESAEERENA
R¥5,618,008,0007T 0 4 &) A (KR AR
1,000,000,0007C2R E IR & S (R0 8
nal) - FERAIR B FFEERIT <) ¢ (i) EE?K‘f’
Mﬂ$glkiéimﬁ%ﬁim

B EEEWN ZIK%IH%%%@ET%XE@J%@
BREOBITEFBET - At - &R HHR
RIBBHECEEERR -

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

268

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group finances their operations by using a combination
of borrowings and equity. Adequate lines of credit, including
a facility of RMB1,000,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu
are maintained to ensure necessary funds are available when
required. The Directors monitor the liquidity position of
the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the availability of
sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. With reference
to the existing unutilised facilities, the Directors consider
the liquidity and source of funds for the daily operation and
capital expenditure are sufficient.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash inflows and outflows on derivative financial liabilities that
settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted gross inflows and
outflows on those derivatives that require gross settlement.
When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed
has been determined by reference to the projected interest
rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group's
derivative financial liabilities are prepared based on the
contractual maturities as the management consider that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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REES R @
TEBEEEEREREAESEREES -
AERNEFERITNBUENES  BEf
ERMHNEEE(BERERTERSNM
& AR #1,000,000,0007T) ° = %5 F HRELER
AEBHREBESKTE - UERATEEGEHN
WREBESRITMEERMR - KB2EBRERE
A& BE=RE HELERERFEIM
FHORBESRELRIRTRE °

TRHAIAEERTHTESREENAL
FIHIBER - ZRBRBEA KB AR ER AT
MRFEHNERBERERASRENR
8o

RELEOEALRASRSRE - WS
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FIEBH -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. @R T Awm
Financial risk management objectives and policies TRIEBEENBEERBE®
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TENE & E R
Total
Interest Within 181 days to 1-2 Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates  180days 365 days years 2years  cashflows  amount
181X E AERRE

FlE  180KA  365KMA 1226 BB REAE EHE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETE ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR¥TxR

As at 31 December 2021 R2021F128318

Non-derivative financial FiTELMERE

liabilities
Non-interest bearing Ait& - 249,194 2,651,475 - - 2,900,669 2,900,669
Fixed interest rate bank ERRITER

borrowings 2.85-7.26 702,025 1,365,326 109,746 954,136 3,131,233 2,971,548
Variable interest rate bank FERTER

borrowings 1.21-6.85 259,850 173,196 1,184,032 154,833 1,771,911 1,694,468
Fixed interest rate other EEHMER

borrowings 3.85-12.00 446,308 6,930 29,273 203,496 686,007 637,004
Fixed interest rate long term £ E R (B>

bonds 213 34,624 34,059 68,683 3,394,086 3,531,452 3,191,719
Lease liabilities HEEE 465570 39191 34,620 62377 711,285 847,473 567,512

1,731,192 4,265,606 1,454,111 5,417,836 12,868,745 11,962,920

Derivatives-net settlement #7418 - {/FEHE
Interest rate swap contracts ~ FIEBHALNR

outflow 3,999 854 (1,415) - 3,438 3,446

Derivatives-gross settlement ~ #74 I8 - AHEE

Foreign currency option HEHEAD
contracts
= inflow - A - 671 15,103 25,11 40,965 40,965
- outflow - i - 14,983 86,325 52,299 153,607 153,607
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39.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

39. 2T Em
tREREENEEZERBE®

Liquidity risk (continued) WENE & Ek
Total
Interest Within 181 days to Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates  180days  365days  1-2years 2years  cashflows amount
181XE RURES
ik 180K/ 365KA 1226 BB TELE RaA
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2020 R2020%12A31R
Non-derivative financial FitsBER
liabilities
Non-interest bearing TitB - 1,081,416 81,288 - - 1,162,704 1,162,704
Fixed interest rate bank ERRTER
borrowings 0.66-5.00 1,170,550 132,217 225,073 173,157 2300997 2,230,939
Variable interest rate bank ERRTER
borrowings 1.22-5.17 276,749 1,450,987 268,640 1,578,299 3,574,675 341,387
Lease liabilities HEAR 4.6575.20 14,765 16,306 0248 292512 343831 219893
2543480 2,280,798 513961 2,043,968 7,382,207 7,024923
Derivatives-net settlement 74 TA - L FH#EE
Interest rate swap contracts QES=E R oh
outflow 19,045 18,002 10,948 4,400 52,395 52,264
Derivatives-gross settlement ~ 74T 8 - WAHLE
Foreign currency option MNEBESH
contracts
= inflow -RA - 16,118 7,242 19,191 42,551 42 551
= outflow )i - 40,373 11,249 22,003 73,625 73,625
Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate MIsE :  W)ZE BRI R A ML B SR & B R & TE A A

borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ from these estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 40. gt & 28 fiEL B ENYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRAMAEERMEZHMEEEBRNE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B AREEERIReEE - BEZHME
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EREEARERECKLARKRERER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be REAREGERERERTHOHEAREED
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows FEENRERENZEFRE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Foreign

currency

forward and

option

Bank Other Lease contracts

borrowings Long term borrowings liabilities and CFCCS
(Note 26) bonds (Note 27) (Note 29) (Note 22) Total

MEERR

HESHR

RTE EftfER BERE CFCCS
(Htz£26) REEH (FraE27) (Rt&£29) (Krz£22) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  AREBTR  ARETT  ARETRT  ARETRT  ARETR

At 1 January 2020 202051718 5,538,474 - 1,051,413 229,347 (85,078) 6,734,156
Financing cash flows AERENE 18,729 = (1,058,634) (21,111) 77,975 (983,041)
New leases entered MAvRE/

/lease modified SEyHE - - - 592 - 592
Foreign exchange HNE (173,760) = = = = (173,760)
Interest expenses HEREY 258,883 - 7.21 11,065 - 277,169
Fair value adjustments AVEAR = = = = 27,032 27,032
At 31 December 2020 R2020612A318 5,642,326 - - 219,893 19929 5,882,148
Financing cash flows HERENE (2,605,995) 3,200,760 (25,852) (25,340) (170) 543,403
Acquired on business FHAMEKE

combination 1,483,912 - 591,619 320,994 - 2,396,525
Acquired on asset AEKERE

acquisitions - - 60,095 18,736 - 78,831
New leases entered MEME - - - 20,339 - 20,339
Foreign exchange HNE (42,151) (44,035) - - - (86,186)
Interest expenses MERX 187,924 34,994 11,142 12,890 - 246,950
Fair value adjustments AHERE - - - - 25,346 25,346
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12A318 4,666,016 3,191,719 637,004 567,512 45,105 9,107,356

Note: The cash flows from bank borrowings, long term bonds, WEE: RITEXR - REES  Htfex  HE
other borrowings, lease liabilities, foreign currency forward BfE  HNERBEH  INEEESOR
contracts, foreign currency option contracts and CFCCS CFCCSHER @ mEMmKmaRenER
make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings, FEERAEHRIE  ERERKENF
repayments of borrowings and interest paid in the SRR o

consolidated statement of cash flows.
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41

42.

272

. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's major non-cash transactions are
detailed as below:

An amount of RMB879,275,000 out of the total consideration
for the acquisition of Fuyuan during the year was satisfied by
the issue of ordinary shares of the Company. Further details
of the acquisition are set out in Note 35.

During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreements for the use of leased properties for 4 to 20
years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB20,339,000
and RMB20,339,000 (2020: RMB6415,000 and RMB615,000)
respectively.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring basis
The Group’s biological assets are measured at fair value
less costs to sell, other financial assets, equity investment at
FVTOCI and derivative financial instruments are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period. The Directors
have set up a valuation team, which is headed up by the
chief financial officer of the Company, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation team works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The chief financial officer reports the
valuation team’s findings to the Directors semi-annually to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.
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RiA M RE A HH BRI -
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FAKRBEREONRBREFHNARE
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HBIFE35 ©
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THEWZE - ABRAIT20F - HERBE - &K
SESREREAREERAEGEAR
#20,339,0007T & A R #520,339,0007T (2020
& AR¥615,0007T & A R#615,0007T) °
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42. XFEFEw
BREEMBEEUAFERAFERHEE
BRATENATEEEYEE  eRMEE
kRemBEN AT E®

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring basis
(continued)

TRIEHEBEAREATEFTEMEASURD
AEREENNEEZEEERBENAT
BEWERIRAEANMETEREASE)
AT EFEME DA FERANKFE(E
ZR=ZFOKER -

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these assets and liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 2 and 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

D FERB

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value as at  Fair value as at

31 December 31 December Fair value
Assets/(liabilities) 2021 2020 hierarchy
R20214 720204
12A318# 12A318 8
BE (8f8) ATE ~FE NEEHA
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARET T
Biological assets EMEE 9,404,924 7,101,243 Level 3
F=M
Derivative financial instruments ~ $7T4£ €/ T A
— Foreign currency forward - INESRERE A - 11,145 Level 2
contracts EFER
- CFCCS - CFCCS 67,537 - Level 2
E_&
Other financial assets HtemEE
— Structured bank deposits - B EIRITIER - 50,000 Level 2
FE_MR
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFERT AR
ZHBARERZTH
- Unquoted equity investments ~ — RIR{E#E=IZE 2,655 5,080 Level 3
F=M
Derivative financial instruments T4 &R T A
— Interest rate swaps — I & 45 Hf (3,446) (52,264) Level 2
E&
— Foreign currency option — SNESERRES 49 (112,642) (31,074) Level 2
contracts FE

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. A FEETTE@w
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements AFEFEFERANKELE
The following table shows the valuation techniques used TRINFFAEE B RE=R RN FERA
in measuring level 2 and level 3 fair values, as well as the R ERE - ARG EEER FT A ) E R A]
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models: B g A BUR ¢

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXTIBRGARER
bl RER % EXFUBRGARE RTEHEZENEERE
Foreign currency Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
forward contracts Future cash flows are estimated basedon N TEm
INEREEAH forward exchange rates (from observable

forward exchange rates at the end of
reporting period) and contracted forward
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects
the credit risk of various counterparties.
ERReRE
ARRSRERBEEAEX (REREH
ANIBRREER) RANRPER
kit BRBSEUF HNEERRN

AL -
Foreign currency Garman-Kohlhagen model N/A N/A
option contracts Garman-KohlhagentZ#! TEm TEM
HNEHERD
Interest rate swaps Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
pilkser Future cash flows are estimated based on N NEA

forward interest rates (from observable
interest rate at the end of reporting
period) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.
HRAeNE
RRBEMEDREERBNERERES
ROTBERE) RO EHE -
BRBS 2T HNEERRMTIE
BiE e
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Type

Valuation technique

fhiER % EXTUBRGARE

Significant unobservable inputs

42. P EFE®
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EXTABRRAREA
AYEFECENEERE

CFCCS
CFCCS

Structured
bank deposits

BBUERTRER

Garman-Kohlhagen model and N/A
Discounted cash flow ayek
Since it is fixed-to-fixed cross currency

swap, future cash flows are estimated

based on the contract.
Different cash flows in different currencies

are discounted via the corresponding

curves, and netted into the same

currency as at the valuation date.
Garman-Kohlhagen 2% REER B &1 &
AREETEEEMBEEEES  AK

RengNHREANGS -
TREENTRER SN ERBREREN DS

BR - TEREAVARNERFE

P
Al e

Discounted cash flow N/A

Future cash flows are estimated basedon &/
forward exchange rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.

HRELRE

KRB RENRERBERMGR
BRBZEHT HNEERRMNTIE
BB -

N/A
NER

N/A
TER

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

42. P EFE®
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXFABERAREA
fid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE NYEGEZENAERE
Unquoted equity Market approach Fair value is estimated based on value An increasee/decrease in the discount for
discount 5 of comparable listed companies and lack of liquidity would result in a smaller
REEERRE discounted for lack of liquidity. percentage decrease/increase in the fair

Heifers and calves

DR

276

The fair value of 14 months old heifers
is determined by reference to the local
market selling price.
THEANFATENZEE TS
EEERE -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

AFETEALR LA RMEREH
fEEt RARBUEN RS -

Average local market selling prices of the
heifers of 14 months old were estimated
at RMB22,000 per head at 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB20,500).

R2021 £12A318 + TIEAH NS4
TR ERRTATEARY
22,0070 (2020 : AR20,5007T) °

value measurement of the unquoted
equity investments.

BT RERIEM,H O TEHARE
EERAQTEFENOLIED,/
-

An increase/decrease in the estimated local
market selling price used would result in
a smaller percentage increase/decrease
in the fair value measurement of the
heifers and calves, and vice versa.

FRmEE B mSEEEN/ B S
B4R ATETENR LY
/R 2R



42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Type

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B 7% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

Valuation technique

fhiER %

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTUBRGARE

42. AP EFFEmw
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EXTABRRAREA
AYEFECENEERE

The fair values of heifers and calves at age-
group less than 14 months are
determined by subtracting the estimated
feeding costs required to raise the cows
from their respective age at the end
of each reporting period to 14 months
plus the margins that would normally be
required by a raiser. Conversely, the fair
values of heifers at age group older than
14 months are determined by adding the
estimated feeding costs required to raise
the heifers from 14 months old to their
respective age at the end of each
reporting period plus the margins that
would normally be required by a raiser

FENR T B B B SR pR AR B A B A T
SNRTEDERERTEREZ AR
EREARNFEREETERANE
MR RERA - EEEH—RAAT
HAMET - AR - EARTIEA
ERARIN MR TEDEM LR
N4HTOEREEEARBRER
SRR AAN T ARRE - 0
BEE-RAANENES -

Estimated average feeding costs per
head plus margin that would normally be
required by a raiser for heifers and calves
younger than 14 months old are
range from RMB19,041 to 19,413 at
31 December 2021 (2020: RMB17,463);
average estimated feeding costs per
head plus margin that would normally
be required by a raiser for heifers older
than 14 months old are RMB 19,132 to
19,728.00 at 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB17,694).

R%F12A318 SR EEAR)
BERMETE - SR TIRE
RAMER B -RAANERARY
19,0417 19,4130 (2020 : AR¥%
1746370) - RO21F12A318 » BLAR
TEEAN MRS - SR T
ARRRAMEE B —RAANEAA
R%19,13270 219,728,007 (20205 -
ARH17,6947T) »

An increase/decrease in the estimated
feeding costs plus the margin that would
normally be required by a raiser used
would result in a much smaller
percentage increase/decrease in the fair
value measurement of the heifers and
calves older/younger than 14 months old,
and vice versa.

FR B AR AME B H—RAET
M/ WD BEHAR /TR
REVNHE RN R THER BRI,
B/ B - k2R
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

42. P EFE®
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXFABERAREA

fid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE NYEGEZENAERE

Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk - An increase/decrease in the estimated feed

4 determined by using the multi-period used in the valuation process are costs per kg of raw milk used would

excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be
generated by such milkable cows.

NEATEERFAZBRBREAER
BhEBNTEENERARRETE)
Er-

278
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ranged from RMB2.12 to 2.36 for
the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020 range from RMB1.91 to 2.05),
based on the historical average feed

result in a smaller percentage decrease/
increase in the fair value measurement
of the milkable cows, and vice versa.

FRMS AT RN AERAEN/
WO BRI AT B EMEN LA
TR/ EH - 24

costs per kg of raw milk after taking

into consideration of inflation.
HENNF2ANALEE - fHEBRT

ERAOGATRADEAERASA

RB212E2 367 (2020F - \NREK1.91

TE2057)  NERELTRHHNE

LTBRERALHRBEWRET -
A milkable cow could have as many assix  An increase/decrease in the estimated daily
lactation cycles. Estimated average daily  milk yield per head used would result in
milk yield at each lactation cycle ranges ~ a smaller percentage increase/decrease
from 29.7 kg to 34.5 kg for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
29.1kg to 31.3kg), depending on the

number of the lactation cycles and the

in the fair value measurement of the

milkable cows, and vice versa.
FENEIEEESREREEN/FHD

MERN AT B EME IR
individual physical condition. 5/ T RZN% -
A ERLE - #Z20215128318

IH5E - SIS TH8RED

EBNF0.TATEMSRT (20205 :

AVNIEXIRINIDRRLEE R DN

RIERIH BAARME o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. A FEEFTE@w
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements AFEFEFEANKEL EZ@

(continued)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXTABRRAREA
ofid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE AYEFECENEERE
Estimated local future market price for An increase/decrease in the estimated
raw milk is range from RMB4.15 to average selling price of raw milk used
4.64 per kg at 31 December 2021 would result in a much higher percentage
(2020: RMB 4.21 to 4.52 per kg). increase in the fair value measurement of

RONE128318 « BT EHRRERT the milkable cows, and vice versa.
MEASAT ARELI15TEA 64T ARSI EEEN /A
(20205 - §RTARBINTELS BN ATEENEALLHIEM -
o) ° RZIH

Discount rate for estimated future cash flow An increase/decrease in the estimated

used is 12.6% at 31 December 2021 discount rate used would result in a
(2020: 12.50%). slightly smaller percentage decrease/
WONE12838 « At ARES increase  in the fair value measurement
TMENUREA126% of the milkable cows, and vice versa.
(20209 : 12.50%) ° FTRMEREREE N/ F O ERNE

DTE EREMLBI T/ 7 -
RZTA
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

280

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

42. P EFE®
E=RAFEFENGER

Equity

instruments

at FVTOCI

BEAFEFA

Hia2mEUBAE

BETH

RMB'000

ARETIT

Balance at 1 January 2020 202051 A1 B B4R 3,959
Total gains in OCI RE M 2 E WA B e B 5 1,121
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 5,080
Total losses in OCI REMEZER AR EIEERE (2,425)
At 31 December 2021 72021412 A 318 2,655

The reconciliations from the beginning balances to the
ending balances for fair value measurements of the biological
assets are disclosed in Note 19.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance
with general accepted pricing model based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 43. EREE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT ARETTT
Capital expenditure contracted but not HEBEYE - BE MRE
provided for in respect of acquisition of ERTAERGHREBER
property, plant and equipment BEARMX 244,469 20,238
44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44. B IR 5

(a) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial

statements, during the current year, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties:

BREF TSR E M D FTREES - R
REE - NEBEFAB S B T4
7%

(a)

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETTT
Mengniu Group B L
Sales of raw milk $HE R 5,977,915 4,939,178
Sales of feeds SHE B 3,125 =
Purchase of feeds R R 35,673 =
Purchase of liquid milk for REREINIEREAg
donation purpose - 10,000
Associates ik /NG
Purchase of power and utilities HRERER R A AR 19,998 15,117
Purchase of raw materials FEERM A 4,808 -
Purchase of equipment R RE 1,718 -

The sales and purchase prices were based on mutually
agreed terms.

BEEBRTIREE T T RRE

o

===
B
=
E
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44.

282

(b)

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2021

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial

statements, at the end of the reporting period, the

LRSS @

(b) BHBHRREMIBOABEESN - R

WERR - AEEEBRTTA T

Group had the following balances with related parties: =3
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR ARETIT
Mengniu Group S45E
Trade receivables JEUE Z R
- raw milk - B 759,391 533,750
—feeds - gt 15,941 -
Trade payables FERTE SRR
—feeds - gkt 21,615 -
Associates /N
Trade payables BB R
— power and utilities B UNER i 2,722 1,354
— raw materials - @ 1,777 =
— equipment - 2,627 =




44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 202112 A31H IEFE

Other borrowings

Addition

As at due to

1 January  acquisition of

Category 2021 subsidiaries
B2021%  EWREKE

Y] 1818 ARTIEM
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR  ARETR

(c)

44. BB AR S @

H 5 K
Drawdown Repayment As at
during during 31 December
the year the year 2021
20215
FRER FREE 12A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT  ARETR

Mengniu loans S4HER - 501,616 6,731 (12,881) 495,466
As at Drawdown Repayment As at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2020 the year the year 2020
72020%F 20204

5 1A1R FNEE FRER 12R31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETFT ARETT ARETTT ARBTT

Mengniu loans SHER 1,001,330 6,818 (1,008,148) =

Mengniu loans carry interests at fixed rates from 3.85%
to 5.70% per annum. The Group recognised interest
expense of RMB6,731,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: RMB6,818,000).

S B RIRE EF ) E3.85%£=5.70%
B o AEBEEREZE2021F12A31
AIEFE/MF B R ARKS6,731,000

JC (20204 : AfR#6,818,0007T) °

“EC-55% PEARKURERFRAR
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2 =

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel (d)
The emoluments of key management during the

284

44. BEEF R @

AN

FEEEASNEMH
AT REREEABR RS HRE A B

reporting period are as follows: & -

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARETIT
Salaries and other benefits e kEMmET 11,552 10,444
Performance related bonuses RIFHERTEAT 22,550 76,842

Recognition of equity-settled share RIR R AEE M BB A &
option and share award payments A& 17 $EEET BT =K 6,157 10,722

Retirement benefits scheme RIRTBFET B 51

contributions 665 656
40,924 98,664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # £ 2021512310 L F &

45. SUBSIDIARIES 45. B 7
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 20214 % 2020%F12A318 + X RRWE
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: EWBRAIFFELOT

Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/

Name of subsidiaries establishment registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
WEAEAR AMAL/AILE  BHERA/AREX ARaARERE IERK
2021 2020
2215 20

Directly Indirectly ~ Directly ~ Indirectly
BR 5 BR i

% % % %
Modern Farming (Note i) The PRC RMB3 547,660,256 - 98.35 - 9818 Production of milk
RRHE (&) () t AR 547 660,256 EEH])
Modern Farming (Shanghe) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMBS850,000,000 - 98.35 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRUE ) AR AR (W) i AR 850,000,007 production of mik
HENEREEF]
Moder Farming (Zhangjiakou) Co,, Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB430,000,000 - 98.35 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BREERRO)BRAA (K le ARE430,0000007 production of milk
AR REEF
Modern Farming (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMBA60,000,000 - 98.35 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRKE (BR)ARAR () i AR 60,000,007 production of milk
HENF REEH]
Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co,, Ltd. (Note ii The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.35 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RHE () ER AR (k) H ARE10,000,0007 production of mik
HENEREEF]
Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 98.35 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRHE (SRR AR (i) ‘? AR 40,000,000 production of mik
HEMG REEF
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AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

45, SUBS'DIARIES (continued) 45, WE’L\\E(%)
Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiaries establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
WELAAR AMEL/RIEE  BHRREA/RER ARARERE IZRK
2021 2020
0215 005

Directly Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
3 H# BE &

% % % %
Zhongyuan (Note i} The PRC RMB380,000,000 - 98.35 = - Breeding dairy cows and
b (ki H AR 380,000,007 production of milk
RN REEH])
Fuyuan (Note i The PRC RMB1,522,400,000 - 99.06 - - Production of milk
R (k) e ARE1,522,4000007C RN
Fuyuan Farming Hengshui Co., Ltd. (Note ii) The PRC RMB199,837,000 - 99.06 o - Breeding dairy cows and
ERMEEKEREERA Mkl i AR199,837,0007% production of milk
WEM REEH]
Fuyuan Farming (Sugian) Co., Ltd.. (Note iii The PRC RMB110,000,000 - 99.06 = - Breeding dairy cows and
ERNEBRARD A i) H ARH110,000,0007 production of mik
HEEREEF)
Notes: BIsE -
The entity was established in the PRC and became a sino- ZERBERBKY - WKBFINEEDR
foreign investment enterprise. E
ii. These entities were established in the PRC as domestic ii. ZEERETEKY  EARARRR - A
companies and owned by Modern Farming. RRBEEBHEE -
ii. These entities were established in the PRC as domestic ii. ZEEBRATYBNKY - EABART - H
companies and owned by Fuyuan. BEREER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #2021 12 A31H I F[Z

46. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 46. FREXNFERERHNIZE
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL BB 2 RV R 1R
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TRETIEBERFERESTHAEEIER
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling BB A RIAFES ¢
interests:

Place of Proportion of
incorporation and ownership interests and
principal place of voting rights held by Profit for the year allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AR LR FERERFAEREEER
HWELREH IRERHY REFELA AREFERERNFRERN Aot ERER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
2021% 2020% 20215 20205 20215 20205
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR  ARETR  AREBTRT  ARETR

Moder Farming The PRC

ARBE (&) T 1.65% 182% 14,933 13,351 175,877 141,448
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group'’s ERRBEREERERNASBENE AR
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set WFEERI 2T - TXHBEERTEE
out below. The summarised financial information below SEARIEEIEANNSHE o

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Current assets MENVE 5,264,882 3,341,565
Non-current assets EMEBNEE 18,028,495 12,173,126
Current liabilities mEE & (6,330,375) (4,663,511)
Non-current liabilities FEREBAE (5,955,439) (3,078,643)
Equity attributable to owners of PN/NCIEZ F DN

the Company 9,841,423 7,758,316
Non-controlling interests FEEAR = 1,166,140 14,221
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

46. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

46. BEERFEREZNIEEE
MEBATNFEE®

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HZE2021% E E20204F
12831H 12A31H
IEEE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Revenue A 7,078,470 6,020,247
Expenses 53 6,162,944 5,287,979
Profit attributable to owners of KRRHEE AEGRT
the Company 903,494 732,266
Profit attributable to the non-controlling FEFE R M o5 PR A& A
interests 12,032 2
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEHHRERAFER 1,903,303 1,944,037
Net cash outflow from investing activites ~ & /EBIREHHIFHE (2,910,720) (815,466)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing MEFFESRACRL) F5E
activities 1,466,680 (948,599)
Net cash (outflow) inflow BRe (R mAFRE 341,663 179,972
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @i2021¢12)5] NHILEFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period includes:

7. DB R AR R R R
?ﬁ¢%$ﬁ@$@a%%%ﬁmﬁﬂ@

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RM B'OO_O
AR TR ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries SR NN NE] 8,787,099 6,682,567
Amounts due from subsidiaries G NGIE ] 4,154,113 2,323,991
Derivative financial instruments TSR T A 67,537 -
13,008,749 9,006,558
CURRENT ASSETS MENVE E
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE To E K IE 532 777
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 310,509 156,267
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMIA - 11,145
311,041 168,189
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Other payables H\{ﬁﬂgﬁmlﬁ 998 7,960
Amounts due to subsidiaries T M R B kIR 222,275 22,873
Bank borrowings — within one year RITER - —FR 31,989 1,031,784
Derivative financial instruments TESMTA 17,235 58,191
272,497 1,120,808
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES B A EFE 38,544 (952,619)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ERZEEE 13,047,293 8,053,939
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B K i#
Share capital RN 675,869 555,535
Reserves f‘%fﬁ 8,231,126 6,191,785
TOTAL EQUITY RS 8,906,995 6,747,320
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY #mébﬁﬁ
Bank borrowings RITIEN 882,238 1,285,028
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMT A 98,330 21,591
Long term bonds REMES 3,159,730 =
4,140,298 1,306,619
13,047,293 8,053,939
LU Minfang SUN Yugang
E Bk BER
Director Director
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # 2202112 A31H IEF/E

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

48.

49.

290

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

47

ARRBBBARRAR R #EE@®

Movements in equity EREE
Share Share
Share Share Other options award  Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EhE  RO%ER

k& REVEE  HARS ffE fith Zith# Eh

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARSTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2020 RONE1A1RMER 551,007 4,945,381 1,382,199 5286 490 (230,208)  6,658575

Profit and total comprehensive ERENRPERAEE

income for the year = = = = = 52,556 52,556
Reversal duetovesting of award ~~ EREIR(HEEMAE

shares - - - - (24.221) (5.333) (29,50)
Recognition of equity-settled share- ~ BEBEIRELE IR

based payment transactions FGEREEY] - - = = 26,806 = 26,806

Exercise of Management Options ~ {1F EEERRE 4528 39,701 = (5286) = = 38943

Balance at 31 December 2020 RANNF12A3 B SR 555535 4,985,082 1,382,199 - 7489 (182,985) 6,747,320

Profit and total comprehensive ERETIRZERALE

income for the year - - - - - 119,728 119,728
Reversal duetovesting ofaward ~ FEEIRN FEMEE

shares - - - - (9,447) (4,418) (13,865)
Recognition of equity-settled share- ~ ERRRELELI RN

based payment transactions SGERESY) - - - - 22,224 - 22,24

Issue of shares #1kin 120,334 2,053,786 2,174,120

Dividends recognised as distrbution  EZAA KA S - (142532 - - - - (142532)

Balance at 31 December 2021 RO21F12A31RRIER 675,869 6,896,336 1,382,199 - 20,266 (67,675 8,906,995

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 48. L& H

Certain comparative figures have been combined and
presented to conform with current year's presentation.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 15 March 2022, Modern Farming entered into an equity
transfer agreement with certain sellers (the “Sellers”)
and Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd.
(the "Aiyangniu”), pursuant to which the Sellers agreed
to sell, and Modern Farming agreed to purchase, 75%
equity interests in Aiyangniu at a total consideration of
RMB287,774,900. The above transaction which constituted
a connected transaction of the Company and should be
disclosed under Listing Rules has been published in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 March 2022.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHE

The following is a summary of the published audited consolidated
financial statement of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited and its

AT RFERABEZERERARREME AR
REAFENE N REEXREMBHRRAOM

subsidiaries for the respective years. 2o
RESULTS ¥E
For the year ended 31 December AZ12H31HILFE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20204 20194 20184 20174
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Revenue WA 7,078,470 6,020,247 5,514,210 4,956,811 4,783,801
Profit/(loss) before finance costs BRRVE RN R BB A
and tax w kil (B8) 1,233,354 1,103,028 727,208 (167,038) (666,479)
Finance costs BEARA (198,132) (318,624) (376,795) (338,622) (328,395)
Profit/{loss) before tax FBATE R (B5R) 1,035,222 784,404 350413 (505,660) (994,874)
Income tax expense FIEHREY (2,023) (639) (556) (513) 27
Profit/(loss) for the year Rt/ (58) 1,033,199 783,765 349,857 (506,173) (994,847)
Profit/(loss) for the year NTEHEAER
attributable to: A/ (EE) -
Owners of the Company ARAHERA 1,018,832 770,010 341,270 (496,088) (975,116)
Non-controlling interests FERER 14,367 13,755 8,587 (10,085) (19,731)
1,033,199 349,857 783,765 349,857 (506,173)
Eamings/(loss) per share (RMB) SREN /(BB ARE)
Basic (cents) R (%) 14.43 12.07 5.54 (8.15) (16.19)
Diluted (cents) BE(5) 14.39 12.04 552 (8.15) (16.19)
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As at 31 December R12H31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 2020 20194 20185 201746
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Assets and liabilities BERER
Property, plant and equipment W - BENRE 5,312,970 3,317,719 3,455,068 3,920,685 4,698,736
Right-of-use assets ERESE 725,164 303,849 320,161 = =
Land use rights THFRE - = = 117,220 125,802
Goodwill HE 2,075,591 1,322,457 1,371,266 1,398,589 1,424,539
Other intangible assets HitEIERE 3,777 = = = =
Interest in associates N NGl 353,278 289,860 215,392 180913 =
Equity instruments at FVTOC| BOVESALMZE
WARERTA 2,655 5,080 3959 2,508 =
Prepayments ANHE 54,238 = = = =
Derivative financial instruments TESRIE 67,537 - - - -
Pledged bank deposits BERRITER 127,043 122,706 = = =
Bank balances RITEH 201,881 20,637 = = =
Available-for-sale equity investment A ERERE - - = = 12,934
Biological assets EMAE 9,404,924 7,101,243 7,459,359 7,717,113 7,751,070
Deferred tax assets BEEWBEE 2,337 - - - -
Net current liabilities nYAETE (723,466) (1,881,191) (3,537,886) (3,883,813) (3,181.917)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 17,607,929 10,602,360 9,287,319 9,453,215 10,831,164
Non-current liabilities ERBARE 6,493,195 (2563916)  (2079618) (289,082  (3.742,735)
NET ASSETS BERE 11,114,734 8,038,444 7,207,701 6,554,133 7,088,429
Capital and reserves BARGE
Share capital B 675,869 555,535 551,007 526,058 526,058
Share premium and reserves RIDEEREE 10,189,062 7,341,388 6,530,510 5,919,237 6,443,064
Equity attributable to owners of PAYNSIL 2N
the Company B 10,864,931 7,896,923 7,081,517 6,445,295 6,969,122
Non-controlling interests RS 249,803 141,521 126,184 108,838 119,307
TOTAL EQUITY aER 11,114,734 8,038,444 7,207,701 6,554,133 7,088,429
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